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IMPORTANT NOTICES

About this document

This document (the “Prospectus”) has been 

prepared in accordance with the Prospectus Rules 

of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct 

Authority (the “FCA”) and relates to the offer by 

Ladbrokes Group Finance plc (the “Issuer”) of its 

sterling denominated 5.125 per cent. bonds due 

2022 (the “Bonds”) at a price of 100 per cent. of 

their nominal amount. The Issuer’s payment 

obligations under the Bonds will be guaranteed 

(the “Bonds Guarantee”) by Ladbrokes plc (the 

“Guarantor”).

The Bonds are freely transferable unsecured debt 

instruments and are due to be issued by the Issuer

on 16 June 2014. The nominal amount of each 

Bond (being the amount which is used to calculate 

payments made on each Bond) is £100; however 

the minimum subscription amount per investor is 

for a nominal amount of £2,000 of the Bonds in 

the initial distribution. The aggregate nominal 

amount of the Bonds to be issued will be specified 

in the Sizing Announcement published by the 

Issuer via the Regulatory News Service of 

London Stock Exchange plc (“RNS”) on or 

around 11 June 2014.

This Prospectus contains important information 

about the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Bonds and the 

Bonds Guarantee, and details of how to apply for 

the Bonds. This Prospectus also describes certain 

risks relevant to the Issuer and the Guarantor and 

also risks relating to an investment in the Bonds 

generally. You should read and understand fully 

the contents of this Prospectus before making any 

investment decisions relating to the Bonds.

Responsibility for the information contained in 

this Prospectus

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts

responsibility for the information contained in this 

Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all 

reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the 

information contained in this Prospectus is in 

accordance with the facts and does not omit 

anything likely to affect the import of such 

information. 

Where information has been sourced from a third 

party, this information has been accurately 

reproduced and, as far as the Issuer and the 

Guarantor are aware and are able to ascertain 

from information published by that third party, no 

facts have been omitted which would render the 

reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

The source of third party information is identified 

where used.

Use of defined terms in this Prospectus

Certain terms or phrases in this Prospectus are 

defined in bold and in “double quotation” marks 

and subsequent references to that term are 

designated with initial capital letters.

In this Prospectus, references to the “Issuer” are 

to Ladbrokes Group Finance plc, which is the 

issuer of the Bonds. References to the 

“Guarantor” are to Ladbrokes plc which is the 

Guarantor of the Bonds. All references to the 

“Group” are to Ladbrokes plc and its subsidiaries 

taken as a whole. The Issuer is a subsidiary of the 

Guarantor and, therefore the Group includes the 

Issuer. All references to “Group members” or 

“member of the Group” are to Ladbrokes plc 

and/or any of its subsidiaries. See Section 6 

(Information on the Group) for further details.

Please also see Section 18 (Glossary of Terms) if 

any terms in this Prospectus are unclear.

The Bonds are not protected by the Financial 

Services Compensation Scheme

Unlike a bank deposit, the Bonds are not 

protected by the Financial Services Compensation 

Scheme (the “FSCS”). As a result, neither the 

FSCS nor anyone else will pay compensation to 

you upon the failure of the Issuer, the Guarantor

or any other party. Therefore (unlike in the case of 

a bank deposit), if the Issuer or the Guarantor 

were to become insolvent or go out of business, 

the Bondholders could lose all or part of their 

investment in the Bonds and no governmental 
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body would be required to compensate them for 

such loss. 

How to apply

Applications to purchase Bonds cannot be made 

directly to the Issuer or the Guarantor. Bonds will 

be issued to you in accordance with the 

arrangements in place between you and your 

stockbroker or other financial intermediary, 

including as to application process, allocations, 

payment and delivery arrangements. You should 

approach your stockbroker or other financial 

intermediary to discuss any application 

arrangements that may be available to you.

After the closing time and date of the Offer 

Period, which is expected to be 12 noon (London 

time) on 10 June 2014, or such earlier time as 

may be communicated by the Issuer via a RNS 

announcement, no Bonds will be offered for sale 

by or on behalf of the Issuer or by or on behalf of 

any of the authorised financial intermediaries.

See Section 4 (Timetable of the Offer and Key 

Dates) and Section 5 (How to Apply for the 

Bonds) for more information.

Credit ratings

The Guarantor has been (and the Bonds following 

their issue are expected to be) assigned a credit 

rating of BB by Standard & Poor’s Ratings 

Services (“S&P”) and BB by Fitch Ratings Ltd. 

(“Fitch”). A credit rating is a forward-looking 

opinion about creditworthiness. Such an opinion 

focuses on a company’s capacity to meet its 

financial commitments as they fall due. As 

defined by S&P, a “BB” rating means that: “the 

investment is less vulnerable to non-payment than 

other speculative issues. However, the issuer faces 

major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to 

adverse business, financial or economic 

conditions which could lead to the issuer’s 

inadequate capacity to meet its financial 

commitments on the obligation;” and a “BB” 

rating as defined by Fitch indicates: “an elevated 

vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the 

event of adverse changes in business or economic 

conditions over time; however, business or 

financial flexibility exists which supports the 

servicing of financial commitments.” 

S&P and Fitch are each established in the 

European Union and registered under Regulation 

(EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the 

“CRA Regulation”). In general, European 

regulated investors are restricted from using a 

rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not 

assigned by an agency registered under the CRA 

Regulation. A credit rating is not a 

recommendation to buy or sell securities, and it 

may be withdrawn at any time.

Questions relating to this Prospectus and the 

Bonds

If you have any questions regarding the content of 

this Prospectus and/or the Bonds or the actions 

you should take, you should seek advice from 

your independent financial adviser or other 

professional adviser before making any 

investment decisions. See also the section starting 

on the following page, entitled “How do I use this 

Prospectus?”
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HOW DO I USE THIS PROSPECTUS?

You should read and understand fully the contents of this Prospectus before making any investment decisions 

relating to any Bonds. An overview of the various sections comprising this Prospectus is set out below:

The “SUMMARY” section sets out in tabular format standard information which is arranged under standard 

headings and which the Issuer is required, for regulatory reasons, to include in a prospectus summary for a 

prospectus of this type. 

The “RISK FACTORS” section describes the principal risks and uncertainties that may affect the Issuer’s 

and/or Guarantor’s ability to fulfil their respective obligations in relation to the Bonds.

The “INFORMATION ABOUT THE BONDS” section provides an overview of certain key features of the 

Bonds in order to assist the reader.

The “TIMETABLE OF THE OFFER AND KEY DATES” section illustrates the key dates relating to the 

offer for the Bonds, the issue of the Bonds and payments to be made under the Bonds.

The “HOW TO APPLY FOR THE BONDS” section sets out important information relating to the application 

process for the Bonds.

The “INFORMATION ON THE GROUP” section describes the Group’s business.

The “DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS” section sets out information about other debt that the 

Group has outstanding at the date of this Prospectus.

The “MANAGEMENT” section describes the board of directors of both the Issuer and the Guarantor, as well 

as the board committees which assist the board with governance of the Group.

The “MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS” section sets out the shareholders with an interest greater than three per 

cent. of the share capital of the Issuer or the Guarantor and lists the interests of the directors of the Guarantor 

in its share capital.

The “INDUSTRY OVERVIEW” section gives a description of the sector in which the Group operates.

The “DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE” section describes which parts of the relevant 

financial statements of the Issuer and Guarantor are deemed to be incorporated into and form part of this 

Prospectus. Investors should read the documents incorporated by reference before making any investment 

decisions. 

The “SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE” section contains a description of the material provisions of the 

subscription agreement, which includes the selling restrictions applicable to the Bonds.

The “TAXATION” section provides a brief outline of certain United Kingdom taxation matters that may be 

applicable in relation to the Bonds.

The “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION” section sets out further information on the Issuer and the Guarantor 

which the Issuer is required to include under applicable rules. These include the availability of certain relevant 

documents for inspection, confirmations from the Issuer and the Guarantor and details relating to application 

for listing and application for admission to trading on London Stock Exchange plc.

The “IMPORTANT LEGAL INFORMATION” section contains some important legal information regarding 

the basis on which this Prospectus may be used for the purposes of making offers of the Bonds, forward-

looking-statements and other important matters.
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The “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS” section sets out the terms and conditions which apply 

to the Bonds and the Bonds Guarantee.

The “SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL FORM” section is a 

summary of certain parts of those provisions of the Global Bond which apply to the Bonds while they are held 

in global form by the clearing systems, some of which include minor and/or technical modifications to the 

terms and conditions of the Bonds as set out in the preceding section in this Prospectus.

The “GLOSSARY OF TERMS” section provides an explanation of technical terms used in this Prospectus.

A “TABLE OF CONTENTS” section, with corresponding page references, appears on the following page.
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SECTION 1 – SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as “Elements”. These Elements are numbered in 

Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7). This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary 

for this type of securities and issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be 

gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements. Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in 

the summary because of the type of securities and issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be 

given regarding the Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary 

with the mention of ‘Not applicable’.

Section A - Introduction and warnings

A.1 This summary must be read as an introduction to this Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the 

Bonds should be based on consideration of this Prospectus as a whole by the investor, including 

the documents incorporated by reference. Where a claim relating to the information contained in 

this Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national 

legislation of the EU Member States, have to bear the costs of translating this Prospectus before 

the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled 

the summary including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate 

or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Prospectus or it does not provide, 

when read together with the other parts of this Prospectus, key information in order to aid 

investors when considering whether to invest in such Bonds.

A.2 Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor consents to the use of this Prospectus in connection with 

any Public Offer (as defined below) of the Issuer’s sterling denominated 5.125 per cent. bonds 

due 2022 (the “Bonds”), including any subsequent resale or final placement of Bonds by 

financial intermediaries, in the United Kingdom during the period commencing from 27 May 

2014 until 12 noon on 10 June 2014 (the “Offer Period”), or such earlier time and date as may 

be agreed between the Issuer and Barclays Bank PLC, Canaccord Genuity Limited and Lloyds 

Bank plc (the “Joint Lead Managers”), by:

(i) the Joint Lead Managers;

(ii) Barclays Stockbrokers Limited, Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management, Killik and Co., 

NCL Investments Ltd. and Redmayne-Bentley LLP;

(iii) any other financial intermediary appointed after the date of this Prospectus whose name is 

published on the website of the Guarantor at www.ladbrokesplc.com/investor-centre/debt-

information/bonds.aspx and identified as an Authorised Offeror (as defined below) in respect of 

the Public Offer; and 

(iv) any other financial intermediary which satisfies the conditions attaching to the consent, 

including that it (a) is authorised to make such offers under Directive 2004/39/EC of the 

European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments, including under any 

applicable implementing measure in each relevant jurisdiction (“MiFID”) and (b) accepts such 

offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the information in square 

brackets duly completed with the relevant information) (the “Acceptance Statement”):

“We, [specify name of financial intermediary], refer to the offer of sterling denominated 5.125

per cent. bonds due 2022 (the “Bonds”) described in the Prospectus dated 27 May 2014 (the 

“Prospectus”) published by Ladbrokes Group Finance plc (the “Issuer”) and Ladbrokes plc (the 

“Guarantor”). In consideration of the Issuer and Guarantor offering to grant their consent to 

our use of the Prospectus in connection with the offer of the Bonds in the United Kingdom during 

the Offer Period in accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms (as specified in the 

Prospectus), we hereby accept the offer by the Issuer and the Guarantor. We confirm that we are 

authorised under MiFID to make, and are using the Prospectus in connection with, the Public 
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Offer accordingly. Terms used herein and otherwise not defined shall have the same meaning as 

given to such terms in the Prospectus.”

The financial intermediaries referred to in items (ii), (iii) and (iv) above are together referred to 

herein as, the “Authorised Offerors”.

Any Authorised Offeror falling within item (iv) above who wishes to use this Prospectus in 

connection with any Public Offer as set out above is required, for the duration of the Offer 

Period, to publish on its website the Acceptance Statement set out above, confirming that it 

uses the Prospectus in accordance with the consent and the conditions attached thereto.

A Public Offer may only be made, subject to the conditions set out above, during the Offer Period 

by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers or the Authorised Offerors. A “Public 

Offer” in this context means any offer of Bonds that does not fall within an exemption from the 

requirement to publish a Prospectus under Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the “Prospectus 

Directive”).

Other than as set out above, neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor has authorised the making of any 

Public Offer by any person in any circumstances and such person is not permitted to use this 

Prospectus in connection with any offer of Bonds. Any such offers are not made on behalf of the 

Issuer, the Guarantor or by the Joint Lead Managers or any Authorised Offerors and none of the 

Issuer, the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers or any Authorised Offeror has any 

responsibility or liability for the actions of any person making such offers.

The information relating to the procedure for making applications and the terms and 

conditions of the offer will be provided by the relevant Authorised Offeror to you at the 

relevant time. 

Section B – The Issuer and the Guarantor

B.1

(B.19)

Legal and 

commercial 

names

The Issuer’s legal and commercial name is Ladbrokes Group Finance plc.

The Guarantor’s legal and commercial name is Ladbrokes plc.

B.2

(B.19)

Domicile and 

legal form

The Issuer is a public limited company incorporated and registered in England 

and Wales under the Companies Acts 1948 to 1976 on 14 June 1979 with 

registered number 1429533.

The Guarantor is a public limited company incorporated and registered in 

England and Wales under the Companies Act 1948 on 16 May 1956 with 

registered number 566221.

B.4b

(B.19)

A description of 

any known 

trends affecting 

the Issuer and 

the Guarantor 

and the 

industry in 

which they 

operate

The Issuer and the Guarantor operate in the betting and gaming industry.

Demand for the Group’s products and services is influenced by general 

economic conditions and consumer trends which it is difficult for the Group to 

predict, particularly in the online gaming market (which is relatively new and 

subject to ever increasing competition from other industry participants). The 

betting and gaming industry is subject to extensive and increasing regulatory 

and licensing requirements, taxation and levies both inside and outside the 

United Kingdom which may change over time for a variety of reasons, 

including as a result of political pressure, public opinion and media coverage. 

However, there are no specific and known trends currently affecting the 
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Issuer, the Guarantor and the industry in which they operate.

B.5

(B.19)

Description of 

the Group

The Guarantor was floated on the London Stock Exchange in 1967 and it 

continues to be admitted to listing on the Official List of the Financial 

Conduct Authority and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock 

Exchange. 

The Issuer is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, hence all of its 

shares are owned by the Guarantor, apart from one share which is jointly held 

by the Guarantor and Town and County Factors Limited, which is itself a 

direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

B.9

(B.19)

Profit forecasts

or estimates

Not applicable; neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor has made any profit 

forecasts or estimates.

B.10

(B.19)

Qualifications 

in the audit 

report 

Not applicable; none of the audit reports on either the Issuer’s or the 

Guarantor’s consolidated financial statements for either of the financial years 

ended 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2013 included any qualifications.

B.12

(B.19)

Selected 

historical key 

financial 

information of 

the Issuer and 

the Guarantor

The following summary financial data as of, and for each of the financial 

years ended, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 has been extracted, 

without any material adjustment, from the Issuer’s audited consolidated 

financial statements in respect of those dates and/or relevant periods, as 

applicable. There has been no significant change in the Issuer’s financial 

condition and operating results during or subsequent to the period covered by 

the historical key financial information (i.e. during the period referred to in the 

preceding sentence).

Ladbrokes Group Finance plc for the year ended 31 December

2013

(audited)

2012

(audited)

£m

Net finance income................................................................ 51.0 60.5

Administrative expenses................................................................(4.3) (4.8)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) ................................ - -

Exceptional item: impairment loss................................ (9.8) -

Profit before tax ................................................................ 36.9 55.7

Income tax ................................................................ - -

Profit for the year................................................................ 36.9 55.7

Profit attributable to equity holders of the 

parent................................................................................................36.9 55.7

Historical Balance Sheet Data (at end of 

period):

Total assets ................................................................ 3,472.2 3,331.0

Total liabilities................................................................ (3,151.9) (2,996.0)

Net assets ................................................................ 320.3 335.0



A17987190
4

Historic Cash Flow Data:

Net cash flows from operating activities................................(14.6) 78.6

Net cash flows from investing activities ................................ - 44.2

Net cash flows from financing activities................................ 15.2 (124.5)

The following summary financial data as of, and for each of the financial 

years ended, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 has been extracted, 

without any material adjustment, from the Guarantor’s audited consolidated 

financial statements in respect of those dates and/or relevant periods, as 

applicable. There has been no significant change in the Guarantor’s financial 

condition and operating results during or subsequent to the period covered by 

the historical key financial information (i.e. during the period referred to in the 

preceding sentence).

Ladbrokes plc for the year ended 31 December and Other Data

2013 2012

(£ in millions, except ratios)

Historical Consolidated Income Statement 

Data:

Continuing Operations

Revenue

   UK Retail................................................................ 800.9 739.5

   European Retail ................................................................ 128.8 126.2

   Digital ................................................................ 175.0 178.1

   Core Telephone Betting ................................ 6.5 9.5

   High Rollers ................................................................ 6.5 31.1

Total Revenue 1,117.7 1,084.4

Continuing Operations

Profit before tax and finance costs(1)

   UK Retail ................................................................ 133.9 180.7

   European Retail ................................................................ 15.6 20.2

   Digital ................................................................ 8.2 31.8

   Core Telephone Betting ................................ (1.7) (1.5)

   High Rollers ................................................................ 5.9 30.0

Corporate costs ................................................................ (17.7) (25.1)

Total profit before tax and finance costs(1) ................................144.2 236.1

Net finance costs(1) ................................................................(25.0) (29.7)

Profit before taxation(1)................................................................119.2 206.4

Income tax expense(1) ................................................................(6.1) (10.7)
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Profit for the year (before exceptional items) ................................113.1 195.7

Exceptional items ................................................................ (51.6) (5.7)

Exceptional tax credit ................................................................5.5 0.3

Profit attributable to equity holders of the 

parent................................................................ 67.0 190.3

Historical Consolidated Balance Sheet 

Data (at end of period):

Cash and short-term deposits ................................ 24.0 19.4

Total Assets ................................................................ 1,171.8 1,062.8

Net Debt ................................................................ 398.6 386.9

Equity shareholders' funds ................................ 427.0 421.0

Other Historical Financial and Operating 

Data:

Total Group EBITDA(1)................................................................209.0 291.1

Purchase of property plant and equipment................................44.3 50.5

Net debt to EBITDA(1)................................................................1.9x 1.3x

EBITDA to net finance costs(1)................................ 8.4x 9.8x

Historical Consolidated Cash Flow Data:

Net cash flows from operating activities ................................186.3 245.1

Net cash flows from investing activities ................................(114.3) (102.5)

Net cash flows from financing activities ................................(68.1) (149.4)

Notes: (1) Before exceptional items

B.13

(B.19)

A description of 

any recent 

events relevant 

to the 

evaluation of 

the Issuer’s 

and/or the 

Guarantor’s 

solvency

Not applicable; there have been no recent events particular to the Issuer or the 

Guarantor which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the 

Issuer’s and/or the Guarantor’s solvency.

B.14 

(B.19)
If the Issuer or 

the Guarantor 

is part of a 

group, a 

description of 

the group and 

the Issuer’s and 

the Guarantor’s 

position within 

the group. If the 

The Guarantor was floated on the London Stock Exchange in 1967 and it 

continues to be admitted to listing on the Official List of the Financial 

Conduct Authority and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock 

Exchange. The Issuer is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, hence all 

of its shares are owned by the Guarantor, apart from one share which is jointly 

held by the Guarantor and Town and Country Factors Limited, which is itself 

a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

The Guarantor is a holding company and all of its operations are conducted 

through its subsidiaries. The Guarantor’s only material assets will be the 

obligations of the various subsidiaries of the Guarantor (including the Issuer) 
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Issuer or the 

Guarantor is 

dependent upon 

other entities 

within the 

group, this must 

be clearly stated

to repay funds that it on-lends to them. The Guarantor may also be funded by 

the advance of loans to it by other members of the Group or the payment of 

dividends or other distributions. The ability of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries to 

distribute funds to it by way of dividends, distributions, interest, return on 

investments or other payments (including loans) is subject to restrictions, 

including payment out of profits available for distribution. Therefore, the 

Guarantor is dependent on those subsidiary companies to satisfy its 

obligations in full and on a timely basis.

The Issuer’s only material assets will be the obligations of other members of 

the Group to repay funds that it on-lends to them or the advance of funds from 

other members of the Group to it. Therefore, the Issuer is dependent on those 

other members of the Group to satisfy its obligations in full on a timely basis.

B.15

(B.19)

A description of 

the Issuer’s and 

the Guarantor’s

principal 

activities

The principal activity of the Guarantor is to act as the ultimate holding 

company of a the Group. The Group is engaged in the betting and gaming 

sector.

The principal activity of the Issuer is to act as a financing company of the 

Group.

B.16

(B.19)

Whether the 

Issuer is 

directly or 

indirectly 

owned or 

controlled

The Guarantor was floated on the London Stock Exchange in 1967 and it 

continues to be admitted to listing on the Official List of the Financial 

Conduct Authority and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock 

Exchange. The Issuer is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, hence all 

of its shares are owned by the Guarantor apart from one share which is jointly 

held by the Guarantor and Town and Country Factors Limited, which is itself 

a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

The Issuer is directly owned and controlled by the Guarantor. The Guarantor 

holds the entire issued share capital of the Issuer, except for one ordinary 

share, which is held jointly by the Guarantor and Town and Country Factors 

Limited, which is itself a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

B.17

(B.19)

Credit ratings The Guarantor has been (and the Bonds following their issue are expected to

be) assigned a credit rating of BB by S&P and BB by Fitch. S&P and Fitch are 

each established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) 

No. 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the “CRA Regulation”).

B.18 A description of 

the guarantee

The Guarantor will guarantee the payment of all sums payable by the Issuer in 

respect of the Bonds. Therefore, if the Issuer fails to make payment due to the 

Bondholders in respect of the Bonds, the Guarantor will be legally bound to 

make such payment.

Section C – Securities

C.1 Type and the 

class of the 

Bonds

The sterling denominated 5.125 per cent. bonds due 2022 will be issued in 

bearer form. The nominal amount of each Bond (being the amount which is 

used to calculate payments made on each Bond) is £100.

The International Securities Identification Number for the Bonds is 

XS1066478014 and the Common Code is 106647801.

C.2 Currency of the 

Bonds

Pounds sterling.

C.5 Restrictions on The Bonds will be freely transferable. However, the primary offering of the 
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the free 

transferability 

of the Bonds

Bonds will be subject to offer restrictions in the United States, the European 

Economic Area (including the United Kingdom) Jersey, Guernsey and the Isle 

of Man; and to any applicable offer restrictions in any other jurisdiction in 

which the Bonds are offered or sold. The Issuer is Category 2 for the purposes 

of Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

C.8 Rights attached 

to the Bonds

Status of the Bonds and the Guarantee

The Bonds constitute (subject to the negative pledge described below)

unsecured debt obligations of the Issuer. The Bonds will rank pari passu (i.e. 

equally) and without any preference between themselves. The guarantee of the 

Guarantor (the “Bonds Guarantee”) constitutes (subject to the negative 

pledge) an unsecured debt obligation of the Guarantor. The payment 

obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds and of the Guarantor shall, save for 

such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law, and subject to as 

described below, at all times rank at least equally with all of their respective 

other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Conditions”), the 

Guarantor may be required to procure that other members of the Group 

provide guarantees in respect of the Bonds after the issue date of the Bonds

(on substantially the same terms as the Bonds Guarantee) and thereby become 

“Additional Guarantors” if those other Group members intend to directly incur 

significant amounts of debt of their own (see “Financial Covenants” below).

Before becoming an “Additional Guarantor”, any such Group member will be 

required, pursuant to the Conditions, to first comply with certain requirements 

– notably, the entry into of legally valid and binding documentation, to the 

satisfaction of the Trustee, granting any such guarantee in respect of the 

Bonds.

Negative Pledge

The Bonds contain a negative pledge provision. In general terms, a negative 

pledge provision prohibits an issuer and/or other members of its group from 

granting security in respect of certain of its or their indebtedness which 

diminishes the priority of bondholder claims against any of the issuer’s and/or 

group’s other assets. Therefore, under the negative pledge provision set out in 

the Conditions, the Issuer and the Guarantor shall not (and they shall procure 

that none of the other subsidiaries of the Guarantor shall) create or at any time 

have outstanding any security interest over any of its or their present or future 

revenues or assets to secure debt without securing the Bonds equally, subject 

to certain exceptions. Investors should note that there are certain exceptions to 

the negative pledge, notably that the Issuer, Guarantor and other members of 

the Group are permitted to provide security in respect of debt obligations so 

long as the relevant obligation does not exceed £75 million (excluding certain

security interests in respect of assets and/or companies acquired after the issue 

date of the Bonds).

Financial Covenants

Under the Conditions, the Issuer, the Guarantor, any Financing Subsidiary (as 

described below) and any “Additional Guarantor” (as described under “Status 

of the Bonds and the Guarantee” above) are restricted (subject to a number of 

important exceptions, mentioned further below) from incurring additional debt 

unless, at the time of incurring such debt, the Group’s consolidated EBITDA is

at least 2.75 times its consolidated interest expense. A “Financing Subsidiary” 
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means for these purposes any wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor 

established for and engaged exclusively in raising finance for the Group (i.e. 

by issuing bonds, entering into loan agreements and related financing 

activities; with no other material assets of its own).

In summary, the Group’s ‘consolidated EBITDA’ is a measure of the Group’s 

profitability for the relevant period before taking into account tax, interest 

expenses, depreciation, amortisation and certain other customary accounting 

items, and, for the purpose of the financial covenant described above, 

consolidated EBITDA is calculated by reference to the previous 12 months for 

which financial information on the Group is available; and the Group’s 

‘consolidated interest expense’ is a measure of the Group’s cost of financing –

i.e. how much members of the Group have to pay to borrow money from the 

Group’s various lenders.

Investors should be aware that there are a significant number of important 

exceptions to the above restriction. These exceptions include (but are not 

limited to) up to £1.2 billion under revolving credit or similar debt facilities or 

notes (“Debt”) and £50 million of finance leases entered into in the ordinary 

course of the Group’s business. Other members of the Group are not permitted 

to incur additional debt unless they first provide a guarantee in respect of the 

Bonds, and thereby become an “Additional Guarantor” in respect of the 

Bonds, subject to a certain number of exceptions. These further exceptions 

include (but are not limited to) the above mentioned finance leases, £100 

million of the above mentioned Debt and also the debt of companies acquired 

after the issue date of the Bonds (which means, for instance, that any member 

of the Group at any time can incur additional debt up to £100 million without 

needing to provide any guarantee in respect of the Bonds). Furthermore, if at 

any time during the life of the Bonds the Bonds are assigned an ‘investment 

grade’ credit rating by at least two rating agencies (i.e. a credit rating of more 

than BBB- by S&P and Fitch) and no event of default (as described below) or 

potential event of default has occurred and is continuing, then this covenant 

will not apply to the Issuer or to any other member of the Group.

Under the Conditions, the Guarantor has also covenanted not to merge or 

consolidate its business and/or to sell its assets unless certain customary 

criteria are met, including that no event of default or potential event of default

under the Bonds will result from any such merger, consolidation or asset sale.

Events of Default

An event of default generally refers to a breach by the Issuer or the Guarantor

of certain provisions in the Conditions. Events of default under the Bonds 

include non-payment of principal or interest when due, breach of other 

covenants or obligations under the Bonds or the other transaction documents,

early repayment of other debt obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantor 

following a default in respect of indebtedness equal to or greater than £15 

million, and certain other events relating to security enforcement, insolvency

and winding-up proceedings applicable to the Issuer and/or other members of 

the Group. Certain grace periods and thresholds apply before certain events 

will be deemed to have become an ‘event of default’ under the Conditions. In 

addition, Trustee certification that certain events would be materially 

prejudicial to the interests of Bondholders is required before certain events 

will be deemed to constitute ‘events of default’ under the Conditions.
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Meetings of Bondholders

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to 

consider matters affecting the interests of the Bondholders. These provisions 

permit certain majorities to bind all Bondholders, including Bondholders who 

did not vote on the relevant resolution and Bondholders who did not vote in 

the same way as the majority did on that resolution.

Governing Law

English law.

C.9 Rights attached 

to the Bonds

Interest rate

The Bonds will accrue interest from and including 16 June 2014 (the “Issue 

Date”) at the fixed rate of 5.125 per cent. per annum. Interest is to be paid on 

16 September and 16 March in each year, with the first payment being made 

on 16 September 2014. Therefore, for each £2,000 nominal amount of the 

Bonds, for instance, Bondholders will receive £25.63 on 16 September 2014

(because this first interest period is less than six months from the Issue Date)

and then £51.25 on 16 March 2015, and so on every six months until and 

including 16 September 2022 (the “Maturity Date”).

Maturity Date

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled in accordance with 

the Conditions, the Bonds will mature and be repaid by the Issuer (failing 

which the Guarantor) on the Maturity Date.

Optional early repayment by Issuer for taxation reasons

In the event of certain tax changes caused by any change in, amendment to, or 

application or official interpretation of the laws or regulations of, the United 

Kingdom on or after the Bonds have been issued, the Bonds may be repaid 

early at the option of the Issuer. The redemption price in these circumstances 

will be 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Bonds plus interest accrued 

to but excluding the date fixed for early repayment of the Bonds.

Optional early repayment by Issuer

The Bonds may be redeemed (i.e. repaid) early, at any time, if the Issuer 

chooses to do so, at 100 per cent. of their nominal amount or, if higher, an 

amount calculated by reference to the then current yield of the 4.00 per cent. 

United Kingdom Treasury Stock due 2022 plus a margin of 0.50 per cent., 

together with any accrued interest.

Optional early repayment for the Bondholders

If a Change of Control Put Event occurs, a Bondholder may elect for its Bonds 

to be repaid at 101 per cent. of their nominal amount plus accrued interest. 

A “Change of Control Put Event” might be expected to occur if a takeover 

or merger of the Guarantor leads to the acquisition of over 50 per cent. of the 

voting share capital by any one entity (or by any group of entities acting 

together) and such action results in a credit rating agency downgrade or 

similar rating agency action.

Indication of yield

On the basis of the issue price of the Bonds being 100 per cent. of their 

nominal amount, the initial yield of the Bonds on the Issue Date is 5.125 per 

cent. on an annual basis. This initial yield is not an indication of future yield.

Trustee



A17987190
10

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. 

C.10 Derivative 

component in 

the interest 

payment

Not applicable; the interest rate on the Bonds is fixed and there is not a 

derivative component in the interest payments made in respect of the Bonds. 

This means that the interest payments are not linked to specific market 

references, such as inflation, an index, a formula or otherwise.

C.11 Admission to 

trading

Application will be made to the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority 

for the Bonds to be admitted to its Official List and to London Stock Exchange 

plc for such Bonds to be admitted to trading on its regulated market and 

through its order book for retail bonds (ORB) market. It is expected that 

admission will occur on or about 17 June 2014.

Section D – Risks

D.2 Key 

information on 

the key risks 

that are 

specific to the 

Issuer

 The gambling industry is subject to extensive and increasing 

regulatory and licensing requirements, taxation and levies in 

different jurisdictions. The Group seeks to comply with all of the 

requirements to which it is subject but the impact of some of these is 

unclear and open to interpretation by courts and governmental 

organisations. Given the current focus on regulation in the betting 

and gaming industry, laws, regulations, licensing requirements, 

taxation and levies may change (including in response to public 

perception, media coverage and consultations by governmental 

departments) and this may result in additional restrictions on or costs 

to the Group and its operations. Regulation of the gambling industry 

in the United Kingdom is currently under ongoing review, which 

may result in the implementation of new laws, regulations, taxation 

and levies. In addition, the Group engages with its regulators with 

regard to the betting and gaming framework and changes in the 

Group’s relationship with those regulators could have an adverse 

effect on the Group.

 The Group faces intense and substantial competition from other 

land-based bookmakers, online betting exchanges and online 

gambling operators both inside and outside the United Kingdom and 

the Group’s competitors may be better positioned to take advantage 

of new opportunities. As a result, failure by the Group to maintain 

and enhance its brand could have a material adverse effect on the 

Group given that the success of the Group in an increasingly 

competitive sector may be dependent on maintaining and enhancing 

its brand strength.

 The market for online gambling products and services is 

characterised by technological developments, new product and 

service introductions and evolving industry standards which means 

that the Group’s business is highly dependent upon technology. If the 

Group does not update and develop this technology (which may 

require the Group to expend significant capital) or if the technology 

fails or is subject to hacker intrusion, malicious viruses and other 

cyber crime attacks there may be a material adverse effect on the 

Group. In particular, the Group may suffer if it does not keep up to 

date with consumer trends in technology (including, for example, the 
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use of social media websites for gaming activities) or does not keep 

pace with technological developments. The Group is also subject to 

data management requirements and adherence to data protection 

regulation which could change over time.

 The Group is reliant for its success upon, amongst other things, 

highly experienced management, external consultants (particularly in 

relation to its IT systems), certain key locations (including its head 

office and main operations centre) and certain third party suppliers of 

services (in particular, in relation to services for infrastructure, 

networks and telecommunications). If any of these cease to be 

available for any reason, this may have a material adverse effect on 

the Group. In addition, there could be increases to the cost of 

products as a result of increases in costs under contracts which the 

Group enters into in respect of, for example, the distribution of 

television pictures, audio and other data that are broadcast in betting 

shops.

 The ability to accurately determine product price and the odds at 

which the Group accepts bets and the ability to reduce the Group’s 

risk of daily losses on fixed-odds betting products through systems 

and control is important to the Group’s success. The Group employs 

a team of odds compilers and trading liability managers and has 

controls in place to reduce losses, but it is possible that errors of 

judgement or mistakes are made which may have a material adverse 

effect on the Group. It is possible that the Group may experience 

significant losses with respect to individual events or betting 

outcomes on a gross win basis, although the Group has systems and 

controls in place which seek to reduce this risk.

 The Group has a relatively high fixed costs base as a proportion of 

its total costs (consisting primarily of staff and rental costs associated 

with its betting shop estate) which means that falls in revenue could 

have a significant effect on the Group’s profitability.

 Part of the Group’s strategy is to actively explore opportunities for 

international expansion, but the success of any expansion will 

depend on a number of factors which are potentially outside the 

Group’s control. Businesses which are acquired by the Group may 

not perform as expected and partnerships which the Group enters 

into may not be successful in the short or long term.

 The Group’s business is affected by the schedule of sports events on 

which the Group accepts bets, which is often seasonal, and the 

schedules of other significant sporting events which may occur at 

regular but infrequent intervals. 

 The Group has certain contingent liabilities under guarantees 

provided by it in connection with a hotel business which it sold in 

2006, although the Group has continued to seek release of these 

guarantees and has indemnities from the purchaser of the hotel

business in relation to any amounts payable under them.

 The Issuer is a finance subsidiary of the Guarantor which is 

dependent upon members of the Group repaying or advancing loans 
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in order to make payments of amounts due under the Bonds.

Furthermore, on the issue date of the Bonds, other than the Issuer 

and the Guarantor, no other member of the Group is legally 

committed to making any contributions to the Issuer in respect of 

amounts payable under the Bonds. Should any Group member fail to 

repay or advance loans in a timely fashion, this could have a material 

adverse effect on the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations 

under the Bonds.

D.3 Key 

information on 

the key risks 

that are 

specific to the 

Bonds

 Unlike a bank deposit, the Bonds are not protected by the Financial 

Services Compensation Scheme (“FSCS”). Therefore (unlike in the 

case of a bank deposit), if the Issuer or the Guarantor were to 

become insolvent or go out of business, the Bondholders may lose 

all or part of their investment in the Bonds and no governmental 

body would be required to compensate them for such loss.

 The Bonds may be repaid early at the Issuer’s option in certain 

circumstances. The Issuer may be expected to repay the Bonds, 

given the option, if its costs of borrowing is ever significantly lower 

than the interest rate on the Bonds. In such an event, Bondholders 

may not be able to reinvest the repayment proceeds at an interest rate

as high as the interest rate on the Bonds.

 Defined majorities may be permitted to bind all the Bondholders 

with respect to modification and waivers of the Conditions of the 

Bonds, even if they did not attend or vote. Therefore, for instance, if 

a significant majority of Bondholders were to vote to amend a 

Condition of the Bonds (for example, if they voted to change the 

final maturity date of the Bonds) then that amendment would be 

binding on all Bondholders (even if they voted against the change in 

the maturity date).

 A market for the Bonds may not develop, or may not be very liquid 

and such illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market 

value of the Bonds.

 Investment in the Bonds involves the risk that subsequent changes in 

market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds. If 

interest rates rise, then the rate of income payable on the Bonds may 

become relatively less attractive to investors.

 The Bonds are unsecured obligations, therefore Bondholders do not 

have a specific claim over any particular assets or revenue streams. 

Bondholders will instead, at the time of issue of the Bonds, rank 

equally in priority of payment with all other unsecured creditors of 

the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, following any 

insolvency and winding-up of the Group.

Section E – Offer

E.2b Reasons for the 

offer and use of 

proceeds

The offer of the Bonds is being made in order to increase the number of 

sources from which the Issuer obtains its funding and to extend its debt 

maturity profile. The proceeds of the issue (after deduction of expenses 

incurred in connection with the issue) will be used by the Group to reduce the 
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Group’s senior bank borrowings and as long term funding for its general 

corporate purposes.

E.3 Terms and 

conditions of 

the offer

The offer is expected to open on 27 May 2014 and close at 12 noon (London 

time) on 10 June 2014, or such earlier time and date as may be announced by 

the Issuer by RNS during the Offer Period. 

Investors will be notified by the relevant distributor of their allocation of 

Bonds and instructions for delivery of and payment for the Bonds. You may 

not be allocated all (or any) of the Bonds for which you apply.

The Bonds will be issued at the issue price (which is 100 per cent. of the 

nominal amount of the Bonds), and the aggregate nominal amount of the 

Bonds to be issued will be specified in a Sizing Announcement to be published

by the Issuer by RNS at the end of the Offer Period. Authorised Offerors may 

offer the Bonds at the issue price (i.e. 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of 

the Bonds) or, if such Authorised Offeror charges you any expenses, then it 

may offer you the Bonds at a corresponding amount more than the issue price 

in order to reflect its expenses charged to you. For example, if your stock 

broker or financial adviser charges you total dealing expenses of, for instance, 

1 per cent., then he or she would offer the Bonds to you at 101 per cent. of the 

nominal amount of the Bonds (i.e. a price to you of £101 per £100 Bond). You 

must check with your stock broker or financial adviser what expenses he or 

she will charge to you, and therefore what the offer price to you will be. Any 

such expenses charged by an Authorised Offeror are beyond the control of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor, are not knowable by the Issuer or the Guarantor, and 

must be disclosed to any potential investor by the relevant Authorised Offeror 

at the relevant time.

The issue of the Bonds is conditional upon a subscription agreement being 

signed between the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers prior to 

the Issue Date (the “Subscription Agreement”). The Subscription Agreement 

will include certain conditions customary for transactions of this type 

(including the delivery of legal opinions and comfort letters from the 

independent auditors of the Group satisfactory to the Joint Lead Managers). 

The minimum subscription amount per investor is for a nominal amount of 

£2,000 of the Bonds in the initial distribution. Following their issue, the Bonds 

are tradable in nominal amounts of £100.

E.4 Interests 

material to the 

issue/offer

Not applicable; so far as the Issuer and the Guarantor are aware, no person 

involved in the issue/offer of the Bonds has an interest material to the offer, 

including any conflicting interests. 

E.7 Expenses 

charged to the 

investor

Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Joint Lead Managers will charge you 

any expenses or taxes relating to an application for or purchase of any Bonds.

However, expenses may be charged to you by an Authorised Offeror. These 

expenses are beyond the control of the Issuer, are not knowable by the Issuer,

and must be disclosed to any potential investor by the relevant Authorised 

Offeror at the relevant time. The Issuer estimates that, in connection with the 

sale of Bonds to you, the expenses charged to you by one of the Authorised 

Offerors known to the Issuer as at the date of this Prospectus may be between 

0 per cent. and 7 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the Bonds sold 

to you. Expenses to be charged to you will depend on your individual 

circumstances and your relationship with your stock broker or other financial 
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adviser; they will vary from investor to investor. 
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SECTION 2 – RISK FACTORS

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks 

inherent in investing in the Bonds, but the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Group may face other risks that 

may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer and the Guarantor based upon information available to 

them at the date of this Prospectus or that they may not be able to anticipate. Factors which the Issuer and the 

Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Bonds 

are described below. If any of the following risks, as well as other risks and uncertainties that are not yet 

identified or that the Issuer and the Guarantor think are immaterial at the date of this Prospectus, actually 

occur, then these could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s and/or Guarantor’s respective abilities

to fulfil their obligations to pay interest, principal or other amounts owing in connection with the Bonds or the 

Bonds Guarantee, as the case may be. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out 

elsewhere in this Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Prospective investors should note that, unlike a bank deposit, the Bonds are not protected by the Financial 

Services Compensation Scheme (“FSCS”). As a result, neither the FSCS nor anyone else will pay 

compensation to you upon the failure of the Issuer or the Guarantor. Therefore (unlike in the case of a bank 

deposit) if the Issuer or the Guarantor were to become insolvent or go out of business, the Bondholders may 

lose all or part of their investment in the Bonds and no governmental body would be required to compensate 

them for that loss.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GAMBLING INDUSTRY 

Demand for the Group’s products and services may be adversely affected by general economic 

conditions and consumer trends beyond its control

As with other industries, demand for the Group’s products and services is influenced by general economic 

conditions and consumer trends beyond the Group’s control. There can be no assurance that the Group’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations will not be adversely affected by general economic 

conditions or consumer trends. In particular, the difficult global economic conditions over the last six years 

are unprecedented in the Group’s operating history, and if such conditions continue or worsen, there can be no 

assurance that they will not have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and 

results of operations.

The Group will not always be able to predict accurately the impact of changes in economic conditions or 

consumer preferences on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular (i) 

the online gambling market is relatively new as compared with the gambling industry as a whole and there is 

insufficient history for the Group to predict the impact that changes in economic conditions or consumer 

preferences will have on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations and (ii) although a 

downturn in the economy of the United Kingdom or any other jurisdiction in which the Group operates is 

likely to adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations, the extent of such 

impact is uncertain.

The Group’s business may be adversely affected by competition from other gambling operators 

The Group faces competition primarily from other land-based bookmakers, online betting exchanges and 

other online gambling operators. The Group’s competitors are based both inside and outside the United 

Kingdom. 

In particular, the online gambling market is characterised by intense and substantial competition and by 

relatively low barriers to entry for new participants. Competition is expected to continue to intensify as new 

operators enter the market and existing operators improve and expand their product offerings. Furthermore, 

the Group’s competitors may be better positioned to take advantage of rationalisation or consolidation in the 
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betting and gaming industry and may thereby gain a competitive advantage or increase an existing 

competitive advantage over the Group. In addition, the Group faces competition from market participants 

operating in, and benefiting from, low tax jurisdictions and those who benefit from greater liquidity as a result 

of accepting bets and wagers from jurisdictions from which the Group does not accept bets and wagers 

(whether because of legal concerns or otherwise). There can be no assurance that increased competition from 

other bookmakers, online betting exchanges and other online operators, as well as from suppliers of other 

betting and gaming products, in any segment of the betting and gaming industry, including the online betting 

and gaming market, will not have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 

There can be no assurance that existing or potential laws and regulations and/or the enforcement of 

laws and regulations in certain jurisdictions, including those from which the Group accepts bets or 

wagers, will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of 

operations 

Most countries regulate or, in some cases, prohibit gambling activities. Historically, the regulation of the 

gambling industry has been arranged at a national level and, currently, there is no international gambling 

regulatory regime. The Group monitors and seeks to comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the 

jurisdictions in which its operations are established, including the relevant licensing requirements. However, 

there can be no assurance that the Group or the directors of the Guarantor or of a Group subsidiary will not 

face criminal or civil claims in jurisdictions from which it accepts bets and wagers or from which its 

advertisements can be accessed via the internet for breach of law or regulation in relation to the Group’s 

operations. The Group’s exposure to this risk has increased as the scale of the Group’s online operations has 

increased.

European Union

The Group accepts transactions from customers for certain of its products from certain jurisdictions in the EU.

As a result, the Group is exposed to the risk of conflicting laws and regulations (or conflicting interpretations 

of such laws and regulations) with regard to the legality or appropriate regulatory compliance of the Group’s 

activities. The domestic laws and regulations of certain Member States of the EU prohibit, or impose 

restrictions on, certain betting and gaming transactions entered into with persons other than the relevant state 

monopoly provider in such Member State. The Group has taken advice and believes that such restrictions are 

inconsistent with the principles of freedom of establishment and free movement of services under EU law.

However, the extent to which national courts in jurisdictions in the EU will implement principles of EU law is 

uncertain as Member States are afforded a degree of discretion in their implementation. Accordingly, there can 

be no assurance that:

(i) the national courts in any particular EU Member State will implement the principles of freedom of 

establishment and free movement of services under EU law;

(ii) the European Court of Justice (the “ECJ”) will accept jurisdiction upon a reference being made to it 

in respect of any restrictions imposed by the domestic law of any relevant EU Member State;

(iii) the ECJ will find that any such restriction is inconsistent with EU law, particularly as the ECJ may 

scrutinise domestic laws and may consider the restrictive actions of the relevant Member State to be non-

discriminatory, proportionate and objectively protective of public policy within the competence of such 

Member State; or

(iv) any favourable ruling by the ECJ will be fully implemented by the relevant EU Member State.

As a result, the Group and the directors of the Guarantor or of a Group subsidiary may face criminal or civil 

claims in such Member States as a consequence of their actions, whether or not such actions are consistent 

with EU law.
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In addition, a regulatory authority of an EU Member State or the monopoly right holder or other significant 

market participant could take action against the Group’s service providers in such countries. If any actions 

were brought against the Group or the Group’s service providers, the Group may incur considerable legal and 

other costs, management’s time and resources may be diverted, the provision of services may be disrupted and 

there may be damage to the Group’s reputation and brand image (in each case, whether or not the relevant 

actions are successful) or a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.

Australia

In Australia, interactive and internet gambling is regulated by each individual state, in each case as applicable 

to gaming and sports betting activities conducted within such state, and the Interactive Gambling Act 2001 

which purports to regulate certain types of interactive and internet gambling occurring within Australia and 

extraterritorially. The Interactive Gambling Act 2001 prohibits certain interactive gambling services on racing 

and sporting events and online gaming type services by providing that a person is guilty of an offence if that 

person intentionally provides such services to people located within Australia or other countries designated by 

the relevant minister. Following completion of the Group’s acquisition of Gaming Investments Pty Ltd in 

Australia, Ladbrokes believes that it has put in place systems and controls to ensure that no interactive 

gambling services which are prohibited under the Australian legislation are offered to Australian customers. If 

these systems and controls were to fail and the Group were to be in breach of any relevant legislation, this 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

General

The Group’s systems and controls to ensure regulatory compliance may be found to be inadequate. The Group 

has systems and controls in place which seek to ensure that it does not accept bets or wagers on either its 

betting or its gaming products via the internet from any jurisdiction in which it has determined that it does not 

wish to accept bets or wagers (whether because of legal concerns or otherwise). These systems and controls 

include monitoring and analysing information provided by potential customers’ registered addresses and of 

customers’ payment methods. However, a court or other governmental authority in any jurisdiction could take 

the position that the Group’s systems and controls are inadequate, either currently or as the result of 

technological developments affecting the internet, or that the Group’s current or past business practices in 

relation to such jurisdiction violated applicable law. As a result, the Group and the directors of the Guarantor 

or of a Group subsidiary may face criminal or civil claims. 

The Group has not considered the gambling laws and regulations in every jurisdiction from which it accepts 

bets or wagers or from which its advertisements can be accessed via the internet and may be subject to the 

application of existing laws and regulations of which it is not aware, under which the Group and the directors 

of the Guarantor or of a Group subsidiary may face criminal or civil claims. Such claims may result in 

considerable legal and other costs being incurred, management time and resources being diverted and damage 

to the Group’s reputation and brand image even if successfully resisted and, if such claims are successful, civil 

or criminal sanctions against the Group or the directors of the Guarantor or a Group subsidiary. Any or a 

combination of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition 

and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that licensing or regulatory requirements in jurisdictions in which the 

Group has established operations will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 

condition and results of operations

Gambling licences and approvals are held by or on behalf of the Group in the jurisdictions in which the Group 

has established operations. The licences and approvals held by or on behalf of members of the Group are 

subject to a number of terms and conditions and breach of such terms and conditions could result in fines, 

termination or non-renewal of the licence or approval in question or other regulatory sanctions. The 

termination or non-renewal of all or any of the licences or approvals granted to or held on behalf of any 
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member of the Group, whether for breach of their terms and conditions or otherwise, or the imposition of any 

regulatory sanctions, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and 

results of operations.

The Group is subject to regulatory requirements in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Although the Group 

has processes in place to review the operating effectiveness of its compliance procedures, failure to comply 

with applicable laws and regulations, or to identify changes to regulation in a timely manner could result in 

regulatory sanctions, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition 

and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that laws, regulations or licensing requirements applicable to the Group 

will not change

There can be no assurance that any jurisdiction from which the Group accepts bets and wagers or from which 

its advertisements can be accessed via the internet will not introduce laws or regulations seeking to prohibit or 

regulate gambling activities or amend existing laws or regulations, which could impair the Group’s ability to 

undertake betting and gaming operations in that jurisdiction and have an adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations.

In respect of the Group’s retail operations in Great Britain, the Group is regulated by the Gambling 

Commission under the provisions of the Gambling Act. Although the Group operates under licences from the 

Gambling Commission, there can be no assurance that the Gambling Commission will not terminate licences 

which have been granted or otherwise change its licensing requirements. If the Gambling Commission were to 

terminate any of the licences already granted, or otherwise to change the licensing requirements, the Group 

may be required to expend significant capital or other resources to comply with the new requirements and/or 

may be unable to meet the new requirements. In either case, this could result in a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the United Kingdom government will not introduce new laws or 

regulations applicable to gambling companies or change existing laws or regulations. For example, the 

Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act (the “Gambling Act”) received Royal Assent on 14 May 2014.

The Gambling Act will (i) introduce a requirement that anyone providing facilities for gambling which they 

know, or should know, are being used in Great Britain will need to hold an appropriate licence from the 

Gambling Commission and (ii) create an offence of advertising offshore gambling which is not licensed by 

the Gambling Commission if that gambling can take place in Great Britain. Ensuring compliance with the 

terms of the Gambling Act may necessitate the Group expending significant resources which could otherwise 

have been expended elsewhere in the Group. If the Group fails to adequately comply with the Gambling Act

or to ensure compliance with the Gambling Act or is forced to modify its product offering, this could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and result of operations. If the regulatory 

scheme of any jurisdiction in which the Group operates were to change its licensing requirements, the Group 

may be required to expend significant capital or other resources in order to comply with the new requirements 

and/or may be required to modify its product offering or its operations in order to comply with the new 

requirements and/or may not be able to meet the new requirements, any or a combination of which could have

a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

On 30 April 2014, the Department of Culture, Media and Sport published a statement following its review of 

the regulation of the betting industry (and, in particular, the use of fixed-odds betting terminals). As a result, 

the Department of Culture, Media and Sport has proposed changes to the regulation of the industry which are 

expected to take effect from October 2014. The United Kingdom government intends to impose additional 

restrictions on the use of fixed-odds betting terminals, including (i) requiring customers who want to bet over 

£50 in one play to use account-based play or to pay over the counter before they can play so that they have to 

interact with staff, (ii) changing the rules so that at the start of play machine users must be presented with a 

choice to set limits on how much they want to spend and how long they want to play for, (iii) requiring larger 
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operators to offer customer accounts and encourage take up so that players can track and monitor their 

spending, (iv) providing regular warning messages and pauses in play to encourage players to be more aware 

of their gambling and (v) strengthening the voluntary self-exclusion system so that players can make a single 

request to be banned from betting shops on a wider basis. Although the Group has been expecting this 

outcome and has been considering associated risk management, this could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, following widespread media coverage about the clustering of betting shops in residential areas, 

the Department of Culture, Media and Sport has concluded that local authorities should be afforded power to 

place restrictions on the opening of new betting shops. As a result, bookmakers which want to open new shops 

will have to submit a planning application for change of use and local councils will be able to refuse 

applications and stop new betting shops opening in their area. These additional restrictions on opening new 

betting shops may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of 

operations.

The statement published by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport also indicates that the United 

Kingdom government may take steps to implement measures to protect players by introducing additional 

controls on advertising in order to protect customers, including requiring betting firms to show how they are 

complying with social responsibility codes, ensuring that there are controls to protect the vulnerable in society 

and working with the industry to prevent underage gambling. Depending upon how these measures are 

implemented, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results 

of operations.

The provision of the Group’s online products (other than its Danish, Spanish and Australian online offerings) 

is regulated by the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority. Any change in the terms or termination of all or any of the 

licences granted to the Group by the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The success of the Group’s business is dependent upon its relationships with government authorities 

and the principal bodies of sport and event industries 

The Group’s relationships with governmental authorities and regulatory bodies for the betting and gaming 

industry, in particular the Gambling Commission in Great Britain, the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority in 

Gibraltar and the principal regulatory and administrative bodies of certain sport and event industries are 

significant factors contributing to the success of the Group’s business. 

The Group engages with its regulators with regard to the betting and gaming regulatory framework and other 

issues of shared concern, such as problem gambling, and with the principal bodies of sport and event 

industries with regard to sports rights payments, including levies such as the statutory Horserace Betting Levy, 

animal welfare and other issues. However, if the Group fails to maintain such relationships, or if such 

relationships were adversely affected for any reason, including any action or omission on the part of the 

Group or negative publicity concerning the Group or the gambling industry, this could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group may be adversely affected by negative publicity and broader political pressure surrounding 

the gambling industry 

The gambling industry is at times exposed to negative publicity including in relation to problem gambling, 

gambling by minors, the use of gaming machines in betting shops and gambling online. Publicity regarding 

problem gambling and other concerns with the gambling industry, even if not directly connected to the Group 

and its products, could adversely impact the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that, if the perception develops that the gambling industry is failing to address such 

concerns adequately, the industry may be subject to increased regulation or taxation. Any increase in 
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regulation or taxation of the Group could adversely impact the Group’s business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 

In particular, the Group has been aware of the increasingly negative publicity surrounding fixed-odds betting 

terminals, which has received extensive media coverage recently. On 30 April 2014, the Department of 

Culture, Media and Sport published a statement following a review into the use of fixed-odds betting 

terminals which indicates that the United Kingdom government intends to impose additional restrictions on 

the use of fixed-odds betting terminals, including (i) requiring customers who want to bet over £50 in one play

to use account-based play or to pay over the counter before they can play so that they have to interact with 

staff, (ii) changing the rules so that at the start of play machine users must be presented with a choice to set 

limits on how much they want to spend and how long they want to play for, (iii) requiring larger operators to 

offer customer accounts and encourage take up so that players can track and monitor their spending, (iv) 

providing regular warning messages and pauses in play to encourage players to be more aware of their 

gambling and (v) strengthening the voluntary self-exclusion system so that players can make a single request 

to be banned from betting shops on a wider basis. Although the Group has been expecting this outcome and 

has been considering associated risk management, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition or results of operations.

The Group may be subject to increases in payments related to sports and increases in costs under 

contracts with third parties which could result in increases in product costs

The Group is subject to certain financing arrangements intended to support industries from which it profits, 

including the statutorily imposed Horserace Betting Levy in Great Britain, which is intended to support the 

British horse racing industry and the voluntary levy in respect of greyhound racing in Great Britain, which is 

collected by the British Greyhound Racing Fund and is intended to support the greyhound industry in Great 

Britain. The Group is likely to continue to be subject to similar financing arrangements in the future. Any 

material increase in the current levies paid by the Group as part of such financing arrangements, or any 

requirement to pay additional levies or fees, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to being subject to such levies, subsidies and taxes, the Group enters into contracts with regard to, 

for example, the distribution of television pictures, audio and other data that are broadcast into the Group’s 

betting shops. The Group is also likely to continue to enter into similar contracts in the future. Increased costs 

under these contracts could result in increases in product costs which could negatively impact the business, 

financial condition or results of operations of the Group.

The Group cannot predict with any certainty what future levies, subsidies, taxes, fees, payments or contracts 

may be required for the success of its business in the future, and no assurance can be given that such 

payments, or a failure to reach agreement on the level of such payments or, if such payments are not paid or 

agreed, a reduction in the television pictures, audio and other data available to the Group and possible 

consequent reduction in bets or wagers placed with the Group, will not have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The market for online gambling products and services is in a state of technological change

The market for online gambling products and services is characterised by technological developments, new 

product and service introductions and evolving industry standards. The emergence of new products and 

services and the evolution of existing ones requires the Group to use leading technologies effectively, continue 

to develop the Group’s technological expertise, enhance its current products and services and continue to 

improve the performance, features and reliability of its technology and advanced information systems.

Furthermore, the widespread adoption of new internet technologies or standards could require substantial 

expenditure to replace, upgrade, modify or adapt the Group’s technology and systems, which could have an 

adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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There can be no assurance that the technology and systems currently used by the Group will be successful, or 

that they will not be rendered obsolete by new technologies and more advanced systems introduced in the 

industry or adopted by the Group’s competitors. In addition, new internet or other technology-based products, 

services or enhancements offered by the Group may contain design flaws or other defects and/or require 

costly modifications or may result in a loss of confidence in the Group’s products and services by its 

customers or loss of revenue, any or a combination of which could have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to successfully implement its business strategy

There can be no certainty that the Group will be able to successfully implement the business strategy set out in 

this Prospectus. No representation is or can be made as to the future performance of the Group, and there can 

be no assurance that the Group will achieve its objectives. The Group’s ability to implement its business 

strategy may be adversely affected by factors that the Issuer and the Guarantor cannot currently foresee, such 

as unanticipated costs and expenses, technological change, severe economic downturn, the level of interest 

rates, foreign exchange risks, governmental policy, inflation rates, sector conditions or other changes in 

economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation, or regulatory factors (some of which are discussed in 

more detail in other risk factors). All of these factors may necessitate changes to the business strategy 

described in this Prospectus, or materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition or results 

of operations, both in the short and long term.

Failure by the Group to maintain and enhance its brand could have a material adverse effect on its 

business, financial condition and results of operations

The success of the Group is dependent in part on the strength of its Ladbrokes brand. The Guarantor believes 

that Ladbrokes has a long-established, trusted and widely recognised brand and reputation and that this 

represents a competitive advantage in the development of its betting and gaming activities. The Guarantor 

further believes that, as the gambling industry becomes increasingly competitive, the success of the Group 

will be dependent on maintaining and enhancing its brand strength. If the Group is unable to maintain and 

enhance the strength of the Ladbrokes brand, then its ability to retain and expand its customer base and its 

attractiveness to existing and potential partners may be impaired, and its business, financial condition and 

results of operations will be adversely affected. In addition, maintaining and enhancing the Ladbrokes brand 

may require the Group to make substantial investments, including the continued development of its betting 

shop estate and online channel, which may not be successful. If the Group fails to maintain and enhance the 

Ladbrokes brand successfully, or if the Group incurs excessive expenses or makes unsuccessful investments in 

this effort, its business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

The activity of High Rollers is unpredictable 

The Group has a number of high net worth individuals who place bets over the telephone. The staking sizes 

and activity levels of some of these individuals are more substantial than most and are therefore separately 

reported as “High Rollers”. The level of activity of this business is unpredictable and can be volatile. For 

example, in the financial year ended 31 December 2012 it generated £30.0 million of profit while in the 

financial year ended 31 December 2013 it generated £5.9 million of profit.

The unpredictability of the activity of these high net worth individuals means that the Group does not include 

High Rollers when planning and regularly encourages the market to adopt a similar approach in not 

forecasting this business. A number of the Group’s competitors also target High Rollers and the market is 

becoming increasingly competitive.
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The Group is exposed to the risks of expansion into new geographic regions

The Group actively explores opportunities for international expansion of its business as part of its strategy.

The success of any expansion of the business into new geographic regions will depend on a number of factors 

including the ability of the Group to achieve sufficient scale of operations, the ability of the Group to comply 

with local regulations and the ability of the Group to establish and maintain relationships with key partners, 

suppliers and regulators, the presence of established and entrenched competitors, difficulties in developing 

products and services that are tailored to the needs of local customers, lack of local acceptance or knowledge 

of the Group’s products and services and lack of recognition of the Ladbrokes brand. There can be no 

assurance that any attempted expansion of the business into any new geographic region will not fail and 

consequently have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of 

the Group.

As a result of social, political and legal differences between jurisdictions, successful marketing in a new 

jurisdiction often involves the Group adapting its overall marketing strategy. In particular, the general 

marketing strategy may not be well received by target customers or may not be politically or socially 

acceptable in the relevant jurisdiction. As a result, the Group may be unable to deal successfully with a new 

and different operating environment and there can be no assurance that any attempted expansion and 

diversification will be successful. Any failure in this regard may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Businesses acquired by the Group may not perform as expected and partnerships entered into by the 

Group may not be successful

The Group’s strategy encompasses organic growth and growth through acquisitions and partnerships.

However, there can be no assurance that new businesses which are acquired and/or new partnerships which 

are entered into will be successful or will perform in line with expectations and forecasts. In addition, new 

businesses and expansion into new territories brings with it the risk of failure to comply with additional 

regulatory requirements. In March 2013, the Group announced a new five year partnership with the Israeli 

software and digital marketing group Playtech. As part of the partnership, Playtech is helping the Group to 

develop Ladbrokes Israel, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group responsible for developing the Group’s 

digital operations, gaming and casino products as well as a new back office system. There can be no guarantee 

that the final stages of the implementation process between the Group and Playtech will prove successful. 

Integration of new businesses may take up significant quantities of the Group’s management time to the 

detriment of other aspects of the Group’s business. Difficulties may arise, in particular, in integrating key 

operational functions and internal controls including accounting, regulatory, and reporting functions all of 

which may lead to additional costs for the Group and have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 

condition and results.

In addition there can be no guarantee that any partnerships which the Group enters into will necessarily 

endure in the event of any major dispute between the parties and there is also no guarantee that any of the 

newly integrated businesses will perform in line with any forecasts made by the Group. Unforeseen or 

undisclosed difficulties or issues could arise with the newly integrated businesses and these could negatively 

impact upon the Group as a whole.

The Group relies on the experience and talent of key personnel and on its ability to recruit and retain 

qualified employees for the success of its business 

The successful management and operations of the Group are reliant upon the contributions of its senior 

management team and other key personnel, including the staff of its central betting control department, who 

review referred bets for approval, its odds compilers and online international trading liability managers, who 

control the odds compilation liabilities of the Group, and senior management of its online operations. In 

addition, the Group’s future success depends in part on its ability to continue to recruit, motivate and retain 

highly experienced and qualified employees as well as an appropriate organisational structure to meet its 
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objectives. There is competition in the betting and gaming industry for skilled personnel, in particular for 

qualified bet pricing and risk management personnel. Although the Group takes steps to protect itself in 

relation to the loss of key personnel (such as the inclusion of restrictive covenants and/or “gardening leave” 

provisions in the employment contracts of such personnel), the loss of service of any of the Group’s senior 

management team or other key personnel, or an inability of the Group to attract new personnel, could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group is exposed to the risk of failures in its operating structure, employee disengagement and 

over-reliance on external consultants for the operation of the business

Failures in the Group’s operating structure as a result of employees failing to understand reporting lines and 

accountability procedures could lead to management effectiveness being undermined and employees 

becoming disengaged with an associated risk of employee underperformance. Such failures in the operating 

structure could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations 

and could result in reputational damage to the Group. 

Given the reliance upon external consultants, failure to develop, deliver or maintain effective IT solutions 

could have a material adverse impact and there is a risk that the Group’s reliance on external consultants in 

connection with its IT systems could result in operational challenges as a result of a lack of embedded 

knowledge within the Group as to the procedures and systems involved. This dependence on external

consultants may increase the risk of breaches of confidence, loss of core competence in connection with IT 

systems and business and reputational damage if such risks materialise. This, in turn, could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may experience significant losses with respect to individual events or betting outcomes

The Group’s fixed-odds betting products involve betting where winnings are paid on the basis of the stake 

placed and the odds quoted, rather than derived from a pool of stake money received from all customers. A 

bookmaker’s odds are determined so as to provide an average return to the bookmaker over a large number of 

events and therefore, over the long term, the gross win percentage for the Group has remained fairly constant.

However, there is an inherently high level of variation in gross win percentage event-by-event and day-by-

day. The Group has systems and controls in place which seek to reduce the risk of daily losses occurring on a 

gross win basis but there can be no assurance that these will be effective in reducing the Group’s exposure to 

this risk. As a result, in the short term, there is less certainty of generating a positive gross win and the Group 

may experience (and has from time to time experienced) significant losses with respect to individual events or 

betting outcomes. In particular, if large individual bets are placed on an individual event or betting outcome 

by high net worth individuals or other bettors. Any significant losses on a gross win basis could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s cash flows and therefore a material adverse effect on its business, 

financial condition and results of operations.

Any failure to determine accurately the odds at which the Group will accept bets in relation to any 

particular event and/or any failure of the Group’s pricing, trading and liability management processes 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations

The Group employs a team of odds compilers (who determine the odds at which the Group will accept bets in 

relation to any particular event) and trading liability managers who seek to control liabilities in relation to the 

Group’s Retail, Telephone, Digital and High Rollers businesses. There can be no assurance that errors of 

judgement or other mistakes will not be made in relation to the compilation of odds or that the systems the 

Group has in place to limit risk will be consistently successful. Any significant misjudgements or mistakes 

made by the Group in relation to odds compilation and/or the failure of the Group’s pricing, trading and 

liability management systems could result in the Group incurring significant losses on a gross win basis which 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The business of the Group is subject to sports schedules

The Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations are affected by the schedule of sports 

events on which the Group accepts bets. The horse racing schedule in the United Kingdom, from which a high 

proportion of the Group’s revenue and gross win are derived, is weighted towards the spring and summer 

months when certain high profile races which attract significant betting activity, such as the Grand National 

and the Derby, occur. As a result, the Group has historically recorded higher revenue in the spring and 

summer months although this has, in recent years, been partially balanced by the growth of betting activity on 

football. The Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations are also affected by the schedules 

of other significant sporting events which may occur at regular but infrequent intervals, such as the FIFA 

Football World Cup and UEFA European Football Championship. 

Cancellation or curtailment of significant sporting events, for example due to adverse weather conditions, 

terrorist acts, other acts of war or hostility, outbreak of infectious diseases such as the swine influenza virus or 

foot and mouth disease, or the failure of certain sporting teams to qualify for sporting events, would adversely 

impact the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations for the relevant period. 

For example, the FIFA Football World Cup is due to be held in June and July 2014 in Brazil. The Group’s 

performance during the FIFA Football World Cup will have a significant impact on its full year financial 

results. Any failures or disruptions to the Group’s systems during the FIFA Football World Cup which prevent 

the Group from operating are likely not only to negatively impact public perception of the Group but could 

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and result of operations.

The operations of the Group are reliant on a number of key locations

The Group has a number of key sites, in particular its head office and main operations centre at Imperial 

House in Rayners Lane in Middlesex, its premises in Europort in Gibraltar where the majority of the Group’s 

online gaming operations are based, its premises in Tel Aviv in Israel where the Group’s Digital marketing 

operations are based and its customer services centre in Manila. The destruction or closure of these sites, 

whether partial or complete, and for whatever reason, including terrorist acts, political instability, other acts of 

war or hostility or outbreak of infectious diseases such as the swine influenza virus might have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may fail to detect money-laundering or fraudulent activities 

Certain of the Group’s customers may seek to launder money through the Group’s business or to increase their 

winnings through fraudulent activities. In particular, the Group is exposed principally through its Digital 

business, to online gaming fraud. The Group has put in place a number of processes and audit controls to 

detect, prevent and report suspicious activity in order to minimise opportunities for money-laundering and 

fraud (all of which is overseen by the Group’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer). However, the Group 

must continually monitor and develop the effectiveness of such controls in response to the changing nature of 

money laundering and fraudulent activities. If the Group is unsuccessful in detecting money laundering and 

fraudulent activities, it could directly suffer loss and/or lose the confidence of its customer base, which could 

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group is highly dependent on technology and advanced information systems which may fail or be 

subject to disruption 

The Group’s operations are highly dependent on technology and advanced information systems and there is a 

risk that such technology or systems could fail. In addition to such failure, there can be no assurance that such 

technology or systems will not be subject to damage or interruption caused by human error, unauthorised 

access, computer viruses, distributed denial of service attacks, increase in volume in usage of online services, 

sabotage, natural hazards or disasters or other similarly disruptive events, including other security breaches, or 

will be able to support a significant increase in online traffic or increased customer numbers. Any failure or 

disruption of, or damage to, the Group’s technology or systems, could have a material adverse effect on the 



A17987190
25

Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations. In particular any damage to, or failure of the 

Group’s online systems and servers, electronic point of sale systems and electronic display systems could 

result in interruptions to the Group’s financial controls and customer service systems.

The Group has in place data recovery and systems recovery procedures and security measures in the event of 

failure or disruption of, or damage to, the Group’s technology or systems, but such procedures and measures 

may not anticipate, prevent or mitigate any material adverse effect of such failure, disruption or damage on the 

Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group may at any time be required to expend significant capital or other resources to protect against 

network failure and disruption. If replacements, expansions, upgrades and other maintenance are not 

completed efficiently or there are operational failures, the quality of the product and service experienced by 

the customer will decline. If, as a result, customers were to reduce or stop their use of the Group’s products 

and services, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results 

of operations.

Notwithstanding anything in this risk factor, this risk factor should not be taken as implying that either the 

Issuer or the Guarantor will be unable to comply with its respective obligations as a company with securities 

admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority.

The Group’s online systems may be vulnerable to hacker intrusion, malicious viruses and other cyber 

crime attacks

As with all online gambling companies, the Group’s business may be vulnerable to cyber crime attacks which 

could adversely affect its business. These attacks may include distributed denial of services attacks and other 

forms of cyber crime, such as attempts by computer hackers to gain access to the Group’s systems and 

databases for the purposes of manipulating results. Any such attacks may cause systems to fail and/or business 

disruption and could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations. Such attacks are by their nature technologically sophisticated and may be difficult or impossible to 

detect and defend against. If the Group fails to implement adequate prevention measures or should any such 

prevention measures fail, the Group’s reputation may be harmed and this could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may not keep up to date with the consumer trends and product development in its online 

business

Trends in internet-based activities are rapidly changing, particularly the increasing use of social websites, such 

as Facebook, for gaming activities. The operators of these websites and related activities are exploring the 

potential of real-money betting and gaming. This could encourage new competitors into the gambling market 

and/or encourage existing online gambling operators to expand into social gaming activities as a means of 

reaching a wider population of potential gambling customers. Certain online gambling operators are already 

making significant investments in this area. The Group’s ability to compete may be adversely affected if it 

fails to exploit emerging trends and product developments of which competitors take advantage, which may 

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group cannot guarantee the success or growth of its online business and its mobile phone 

applications

The market for online gaming and gambling products and services is characterised by rapid technological 

developments, frequent new product and service introductions and evolving industry standards. The emerging 

character of these products and services and their evolution requires the Group to use leading technologies 

effectively, employ personnel with specialist experience, enhance the Group’s current products and services 

and continue to improve the performance, features and reliability of the Group’s technology and advanced 

information systems. In addition, the widespread adoption of new internet technologies or standards could 

require substantial expenditure to replace, upgrade, modify or adapt the Group’s technology and systems. If 
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the Group fails to keep pace with technological developments and industry standards or to introduce new 

products and services that satisfy customer demands, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that the Group’s current systems will continue to provide adequate support for the 

Group’s online business, or that they will not be rendered obsolete by new technologies or more advanced 

systems introduced in the industry or adopted by its competitors. In addition, new internet or other 

technology-based products, services or enhancements that the Group offers may contain design flaws or other 

defects, may require modifications or may cause the Group’s customers to lose confidence in its products and 

services or may otherwise not be acceptable to the Group’s customers. The occurrence of one or more of these 

events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations. Moreover, the Group depends on third party technology providers for the development and 

maintenance of its systems, and any failure to maintain relationships with such providers would negatively 

impact the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the market for mobile websites and downloadable applications permitting sports betting, bingo, 

games and other activities from a mobile device is a new market. Mobile gambling is the fastest growing area 

of digital gambling in the United Kingdom and the Group launched a new mobile offer on the Mobenga 

platform in December 2013 which is available on iPhone, Android and m.Site. No assurances can be given 

that there will be continued commercial acceptance of the Group’s apps, that other competing mobile apps 

will not be developed that adversely affect the commercial acceptance of the Group’s mobile app, or that the 

Group’s ability to capitalise on any available growth opportunities will not be adversely affected by other risk 

factors previously discussed, any or all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition or results of operations.

The Group is subject to regulation regarding the use of personal customer data 

The Group processes personal customer data (including name, address, age, bank details and betting and 

gaming history) as part of its business and therefore must comply with strict data protection and privacy laws 

in all jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Such laws restrict the Group’s ability to collect and use 

personal information relating to players and potential players including the marketing use of that information.

Notwithstanding the Group’s security systems, the Group is exposed to the risk that these data could be 

wrongfully appropriated, lost or disclosed, or processed in breach of data protection regulation, by or on 

behalf of the Group. If the Group or any of the third party service providers on which it relies fails to transmit 

customer information and payment details online in a secure manner, or if any such loss of personal customer 

data were otherwise to occur, the Group could face liability under data protection laws. This could also result 

in the loss of the goodwill of its customers and deter new customers which would have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group is dependent on a number of third parties for the operation of its business 

The Group has relationships with a number of key third party suppliers who provide products and services to 

the Group (including for the supply of products (with any associated intellectual property rights) and services 

for infrastructure, networks and telecommunications as well as products and services relating to the delivery 

of customer-facing products and services in both the online and retail environments). Infrastructure suppliers, 

network and telecommunication suppliers and application service providers are long-term partners in 

providing an infrastructure which seeks to ensure the delivery of sophisticated, high performance transaction 

processing systems. However, the Group exercises little control over many of these third party suppliers and is 

reliant on them to perform their services in accordance with the terms of their contracts, which increases its 

vulnerability to problems with the products and services they provide. The Group may not be successful in 

recovering any losses which result from the failure of third party suppliers to comply with their contractual 

obligations to it and third party suppliers may seek to recover losses from the Group under indemnities or in 

respect of breaches of obligations or warranties under their agreements with members of the Group. Such 



A17987190
27

events and any significant disruption in the supply of products and services to the Group or failure to handle 

current or higher volumes of use by these third party suppliers or any other adverse event affecting the 

Group’s relationship with them could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s intellectual property could be subject to infringement by third parties or claims of 

infringement of third parties’ rights 

The Group regards its copyright, trademarks, domain names, trade secrets, customer databases and similar 

intellectual property as critical to its success. The Group relies on a combination of copyright and trademark 

laws, trade secret protection, confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements and other contractual provisions 

in order to protect its intellectual property. 

There can be no assurance that these efforts will be adequate, or that third parties will not infringe upon or 

misappropriate the Group’s proprietary rights. In addition, although the Group has trademark and copyright 

protection, enforcement is limited in certain jurisdictions, and the global nature of the internet makes it 

impossible to control the ultimate destination of websites. 

The Group may be the subject of claims of infringement of the rights of others or party to claims to determine 

the scope and validity of the intellectual property rights of others. Such claims, whether or not valid, could 

require the Group to spend significant sums in litigation, pay damages, re-brand or re-engineer services, 

acquire licences to third party intellectual property and distract management attention from the business, 

which may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Potential litigation may adversely affect the Group’s activities

The Group faces the general risk of potential litigation in connection with its business, its customers, its 

employees and its external service providers, suppliers and partners (including the effects of changes in the 

laws, regulations, policies or their respective interpretations). Such actions may result in the Group incurring 

considerable legal and other costs (including fines and penalties), management’s time and resources may be 

diverted, the provision of services may be disrupted, and there may be damage to the Group’s reputation and 

brand image or a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, its results of operations and financial 

condition (in each case, whether or not the relevant actions are successful).

The Group is subject to risks resulting from currency fluctuations 

The Group prepares its financial statements in Sterling and generates a proportion of its revenues in other 

currencies. To the extent that its revenues are received in currencies other than Sterling, and currency 

exchange rates become unfavourable, the Group may lose some of the economic value of its revenues in 

Sterling terms. As the Group expands its international operations, it may receive more of its revenue in 

currencies other than Sterling.

The Group (and, in particular, the Issuer) is subject to risks resulting from interest rate fluctuations

The Group and, in particular, the Issuer has a substantial level of financial indebtedness and interest on this 

indebtedness is a significant cost for the Group and to the Issuer. To the extent that the Group’s existing or 

future indebtedness bears interest at a variable rate and is unhedged, changes in interest rates may increase its 

cost of borrowing, increasing interest expense and reducing operating cash flows. This could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The cost of finance could increase or financing could cease to be available 

The ability of the Group to operate its business depends in part on being able to raise funds. While the Group 

seeks to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of borrowings with a 

range of maturities, there can be no assurance, particularly in the current economic environment, that, over the 

longer term, the Group will be able to find lenders who are willing to lend on no worse terms than the Group’s 

existing financing arrangements, or at all, or that existing financing arrangements of the Group will be able to 
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be refinanced on no worse terms, or at all, upon maturity. An increase in the cost, or lack of availability, of 

finance could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.

The Group is dependent on card payments for the success of its business 

The Group currently accepts credit and debit card payments from online and telephone customers and in its 

betting shops in the Republic of Ireland and debit card payments in its other betting shops. Certain US-based 

card schemes and card-issuing institutions currently restrict the use of their credit cards for online gambling 

transactions. Should all or an additional number of the major card schemes or card issuing companies stop 

accepting payment transactions for gambling operations, the Group’s business, financial condition and results 

of operations could be materially adversely affected. 

The Group’s business is dependent on banks, credit card companies, payment processors and other financial 

institutions, networks and suppliers to enable funds to be paid in and withdrawn by its customers. Any 

disruption in those systems or relationships could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, the Group is exposed to the risk of chargebacks. Chargebacks occur when customers, card issuers 

or payment processors seek to void credit card or other card payment transactions. Customers occasionally 

seek to reverse their real money losses through chargebacks. While the Group emphasises control procedures 

to protect against chargebacks, there can be no assurance that the Group’s exposure to chargebacks will not 

adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s relatively high fixed costs base as a proportion of its total costs means that falls in 

revenue could have a significant adverse effect on the Group’s profitability

The Group has a relatively high fixed cost base as a proportion of its total costs, consisting primarily of staff 

and rental costs associated with its betting shop estate. The profitability of the Group is therefore exposed to 

any decrease in the Group’s revenue if the Group is unable, in the short to medium term, to reduce its costs 

substantially to mitigate the effect of any significant falls in revenue or profit. The Group’s profitability is 

therefore likely to be more significantly and negatively affected by decreases in revenue than would be the 

case for a company with a more flexible cost base. Any decrease in profitability could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. If the Group’s business is 

adversely affected in this way, the Issuer and/or Guarantor may find it more difficult to raise further finance 

and/or to service and repay their debt obligations in respect of the Bonds.

The Group is vulnerable to increases in taxation and levies 

The Group is subject to taxation and/or levies in all of the countries in which it operates. As a result, it is 

vulnerable to increases in United Kingdom and other taxation and levies as governments may seek to tax the 

gambling industry more to increase their revenues. In addition, many governments are changing the way they 

regulate gambling, in particular online gambling, and are introducing new taxation regimes as they do so.

United Kingdom taxation

The Group is subject to significant taxation and levies in the United Kingdom, including the following: 

 corporation tax, with a headline tax rate of 21 per cent. from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 and 20 per cent. 

from 1 April 2015; 

 gross profit tax of 15 per cent. applicable to gross win in the United Kingdom;

 machine games duty payable at 20 per cent. of the revenue from gaming machines (including fixed-odds 

betting terminals) where the maximum cost to play can exceed £5, increasing to 25 per cent. with effect 

from 1 March 2015; and
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 the Horserace Betting Levy in Great Britain, a statutory levy on bets taken on British horse racing and set at

10.75 per cent. of the gross win on such horse racing activities for the year of 1 April 2014 to 31 March 

2015. 

The taxation and levies imposed upon the Group have changed considerably over time and there can be no 

assurance that the levels of taxation and levies to which the Group is subject in the United Kingdom will not 

be increased, particularly in the current economic environment. In addition, there can be no assurance that 

new taxes or levies will not be introduced to which the Group will be subject. For example, changes to some 

gambling duties, which will extend the gross profits tax to offshore bookmakers, are due to come into effect 

on 1 December 2014 at a rate of 15 per cent. The tax will be levied on the place of consumption (meaning the 

place where the customer resides) and will mean that all bets placed by United Kingdom customers will be 

caught irrespective of where that customer places the bet. The introduction of the duty could have a negative 

impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations (including its online operations)

particularly given that there may be increased competition from other operators prior to implementation of the 

tax and given the possibility of uneven enforcement meaning that United Kingdom operators are subject to the 

tax with enforcement being less likely against overseas entities. In addition, it was announced in the 2014 

Budget that there will be a consultation on how to implement the extension of the Horserace Betting Levy to 

offshore bookmakers. This would mean that any bets placed through the Group’s offshore operations 

(including through its online operations) will become subject to the Horserace Betting Levy and the extension 

could negatively impact the business, financial conditions and results of the Group’s offshore horseracing 

bookmaking business.

Any increases in the levels of taxation or levies to which the Group is subject in the United Kingdom, or the 

implementation of any new taxes or levies to which the Group will be subject, could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Non-United Kingdom taxation 

The majority of the Group's online gaming operations are located offshore of the United Kingdom in 

Gibraltar. Land-based operations also exist in other jurisdictions, the most significant being the Republic of 

Ireland. The Group's operations in Gibraltar and the Republic of Ireland are currently subject to lower rates of 

taxation than its United Kingdom operations. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the levels of taxation 

to which the Group is subject in any other jurisdiction, including Gibraltar and the Republic of Ireland, will 

not be increased or changed, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 

condition and results of operations.

The Group’s customers are located in a number of different jurisdictions. Revenues earned from customers 

located in a particular jurisdiction may give rise to the imposition of taxes in that jurisdiction. If such taxes are 

levied, either on the basis of existing law or the current practice of any tax authority or by reason of any 

change in law or practice, then this may have a material adverse effect on the amount of tax payable by the 

Group. In addition, if any Group company is found to be, or to have been, tax resident in any jurisdiction other 

than those in which the Group is currently considered to be tax resident, or to have a permanent establishment 

in any such other jurisdiction (whether on the basis of existing law or the current practice of any tax authority 

or by reason of a change in law or practice) this may have a material adverse effect on the amount of tax 

payable by the Group which could in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 

condition and results of operations.

The Group has a defined benefit pension scheme to which it may be required to increase its 

contributions to fund an increase in the cost of future benefits and/or funding shortfalls

The Group provides retirement benefits for its former and current employees through a number of pension 

schemes, including a defined benefit pension scheme which has been closed to new entrants since 1 August 

2007. The defined benefit pension scheme’s assets are held separately from those of the Group. As at 31 

December 2013 the estimated present value of the Group’s funded obligations (on an IAS19 accounting basis) 
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was £268.8 million and the fair value of the Group’s plan assets was £321.9 million, giving a net asset value 

of £53.1 million.

In the event that the value of the Group’s plan assets has declined since 31 December 2013 or declines 

subsequently, or in the event that the value of the Group’s obligations has increased since 31 December 2013 

or increases subsequently, the Group may be required to increase its contributions to cover any funding 

shortfalls. These could have an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.

There is a risk that assumptions underlying the calculation of the Group’s obligations will change. A particular 

risk relating to defined benefit pension schemes is the extent to which allowance will need to be made in the 

assessed value of the liabilities for evidence of increased life expectancy. The cost of funding these benefits 

depends on a number of factors including the real returns that can be obtained on the assets and also the 

longevity of the members. If real returns fall or allowance needs to be made for increased longevity, then the 

Group may be required to increase its contributions. In addition, the next review of funding strategy for the 

pension scheme will take place during 2014. As a result, there is a risk to the Group that adverse experience 

could lead to a requirement for the Group to make additional contributions to recover any deficit that arises.

Any of the above could have an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.

The Group has certain liabilities under guarantees in connection with hotel leases relating to its 

former hotels division 

The Group formerly operated an international chain of full service hotels and resorts through its hotels 

division. For the purposes of this business, the Guarantor provided guarantees to third parties in respect of 

liabilities of subsidiaries under hotel leases. The Group sold its hotels division to Hilton Hotels Corporation 

on 23 February 2006 but since the release of each of these guarantees requires the consent of the beneficiary 

of that guarantee, not all liabilities under the guarantees could be discharged at that time. The Guarantor is, 

therefore, exposed to a contingent liability should any of the disposed subsidiaries default on their obligations 

under the relevant leases. The Guarantor is committed to seeking, and has received an undertaking from 

Hilton Hotels Corporation that efforts will be made to obtain, releases of these guarantees, which expire 

between 2017 and 2042.

The Guarantor has an indemnity from Hilton Hotels Corporation in relation to any loss it may incur under 

these guarantees. The net financial liability recognised in the Group’s balance sheet at 31 December 2013 in 

respect of these guarantees was £5.0 million.

However, there can be no assurance that Hilton Hotels Corporation will not default on its obligations under 

the indemnity. The maximum liability exposure of the Guarantor under the guarantees depends on the nature 

of the leases. Some have rentals linked to the turnover of the relevant hotel property (and therefore no rent 

would be payable if operations at the relevant hotel property cease). Overall this maximum exposure was 

assessed at £707.6 million as at 31 December 2013. Included in the maximum liability exposure was £449.5 

million in relation to the turnover-based element of the hotel rentals. While the Guarantor believes it 

extremely unlikely that claims of such magnitude will be made (since the figures assessed as at 31 December 

2013 assume that none of the hotels could be re-let for the remainder of the lease term), if any significant 

claims are made under any of the guarantees and Hilton Hotels Corporation fails to meet its obligations under 

the indemnity, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and 

results of operations.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

The holding company structure means that the Issuer and the Guarantor are dependent upon other 

companies in the Group in order to be able to make payments in respect of amounts due under the 

Bonds

The Issuer is a wholly-owned finance subsidiary of the Guarantor and will use the proceeds from the sale of 

the Bonds to reduce the Group’s senior bank borrowings. The Issuer intends to service and repay the Bonds 

out of the payments it receives under intercompany loan agreements with other Group companies or out of 

loans advanced to it by other Group companies. The Issuer has no other material assets or sources of revenue 

except for its claims under outstanding intercompany loans, loans advanced to it by other Group companies 

and assets or liabilities under certain hedging arrangements. Accordingly, the Issuer’s ability to service and 

repay the Bonds depends on the ability of the Guarantor and the other debtors under intercompany loans to 

service such indebtedness and on the ability of other Group companies to advance loans to it. Therefore, in 

meeting its payment obligations under the Bonds, the Issuer is wholly dependent on the profitability and cash 

flow of the Guarantor and other Group companies.

The Guarantor is a holding company and all of its operations are conducted through its subsidiaries. The 

ability of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries to distribute funds to it by way of dividends, distributions, interest, 

return on investments or other payments (including loans) is subject to the profitability and cash flow of the 

subsidiaries. These distributions are subject to important restrictions, including restrictions under English 

company law on subsidiaries that are incorporated in England and Wales which prohibit English companies 

from paying dividends unless they are paid out of profits available for distribution - in general, the 

accumulated earnings of the relevant subsidiary.

Generally, the claims of subsidiaries of the Guarantor will have priority over claims of the Guarantor with 

respect to the assets and earnings of such subsidiaries. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, winding-up, 

dissolution, receivership, insolvency, reorganisation, administration or similar proceeding relating to such 

subsidiaries, holders of such subsidiaries' indebtedness and their trade creditors will generally be entitled to 

payment of their claim from the assets of such subsidiaries before assets are made available for distribution to 

the Guarantor. The Bonds and the Bonds Guarantee will therefore be structurally subordinated to the creditors 

of the Guarantor's subsidiaries (other than the Issuer and any subsidiaries which guarantee the Bonds).

RISKS RELATING TO THE BONDS

The Bonds are not protected by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme

Unlike a bank deposit, the Bonds are not protected by the FSCS. As a result, neither the FSCS nor anyone else 

will pay compensation to you upon the failure of the Issuer or the Guarantor. Therefore (unlike in the case of a 

bank deposit), if the Issuer or the Guarantor were to become insolvent or go out of business, the Bondholders 

may lose all or part of their investment in the Bonds and no governmental body would be required to 

compensate them for that loss.

Risk of early repayment

In the event that a change in law relating to taxation results in the Issuer (or, if applicable, the Guarantor) 

becoming obliged to increase the amounts payable under the Bonds pursuant to Condition 7 (i.e. on account of 

tax), the Issuer may, if it chooses to, repay outstanding amounts under the Bonds early pursuant to Condition 

5(b). See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for 

taxation reasons).

In addition, the Bonds may be repaid early, at any time, if the Issuer chooses to do so pursuant to Condition 

5(c), at 100 per cent. of their nominal amount or, if higher, an amount calculated by reference to the then 

current yield of the 4.00 per cent. United Kingdom Treasury Stock due 2022 plus a margin of 0.50 per cent., 

together with any accrued interest.
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The Issuer may be expected to repay the Bonds, if it has the option to, when its cost of borrowing is lower 

than the interest rate on the Bonds. Upon repayment of the Bonds, you may not be able to reinvest the 

repayment proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Bonds being repaid and may 

only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. You should consider investment risk in light of other 

investments available at that time.

Modification, waivers and substitution

The Conditions of the Bonds contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to consider matters 

affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit majorities of certain sizes to bind all Bondholders, 

including Bondholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a 

different manner than the majority did.

The Conditions of the Bonds also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Bondholders, agree to 

any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that in the opinion of the Trustee is of a formal, 

minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and certain other modifications of, and any 

waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Trust Deed if, in the 

opinion of the Trustee, it is not materially prejudicial to the interests of Bondholders or the substitution of 

another company as principal debtor under the Bonds in place of the Issuer, if, in the opinion of the Trustee, 

such substitution is not materially prejudicial to the interests of Bondholders.

Credit Ratings

The Guarantor has been (and the Bonds following their issue are expected to be) assigned a credit rating of 

BB by S&P and BB by Fitch. A credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about a company’s overall 

creditworthiness. Such an opinion focuses on a company’s capacity to meet its financial commitments as they 

fall due. S&P and Fitch are each established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 

1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the “CRA Regulation”). In general, European regulated investors are 

restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not assigned by an agency registered 

under the CRA Regulation. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy or sell securities, and it may be 

withdrawn at any time. Furthermore, a credit rating may not reflect the potential impact of all risks relating to 

the market and other factors that may affect the value of the Bonds.

Claims of any secured creditors will have priority, with respect to their security, over the claims of 

unsecured creditors, such as holders of the Bonds

Although the Issuer and the Guarantor currently do not have any secured creditors, any claims of secured 

creditors of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor in the future will have priority, with respect to the assets securing 

their debt, over the claims of Bondholders. In the event that any of the Issuer's secured debt or the Guarantor's 

secured debt becomes due or any secured creditor institutes enforcement proceedings over the assets that 

secure the relevant debt, the Issuer's assets or, as the case may be, the Guarantor's assets remaining after 

repayment of that secured debt might not be sufficient to repay all amounts owing to you in respect of the 

Bonds.

The covenants contained in the Conditions of the Bonds are limited

In addition to the Negative Pledge described herein, the Conditions contain a financial covenant that, in 

certain circumstances, limits the ability of the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any other subsidiary of the 

Guarantor to incur debt unless the Bonds have an Investment Grade rating from at least two of the Rating 

Agencies. Additionally the Conditions of the Bonds contain a restriction on the Guarantor’s ability to 

consolidate, merge or amalgamate with, or transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its 

assets to, another person. However, prospective investors should note that the Conditions do not restrict 

(among other things) the making of investments or the payment of dividends.

Investors should be aware that there are a significant number of important exceptions to the financial covenant 

described above. These exceptions include (but are not limited to) up to £1.2 billion under revolving credit or 



A17987190
33

similar debt facilities or notes (“Debt”) and £50 million of finance leases entered into in the ordinary course 

of the Group’s business. Certain members of the Group are not permitted to incur additional debt unless they 

first provide a guarantee in respect of the Bonds, and thereby become an “Additional Guarantor” in respect of 

the Bonds, subject to a certain number of exceptions. These further exceptions include (but are not limited to) 

the above mentioned finance leases, £100 million of the above mentioned Debt and also the debt of companies 

acquired after the issue date of the Bonds (which means, for instance, that any member of the Group at any 

time can incur additional debt of up to £100 million without needing to provide any guarantee in respect of the 

Bonds). See Section 3 (Information about the Bonds – What, if any, covenants apply to the Group) for further 

information. These and other exceptions to the financial covenant may in certain circumstances allow 

members of the Group to incur significant indebtedness. There can be no assurance that members of the 

Group will at all times be able to meet all debt obligations as they fall due.

The EU Directive on the taxation of savings income may result in the imposition of withholding taxes 

in certain jurisdictions

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income (as amended from time to time)

(the “Savings Directive”), each EU Member State is required to provide to the tax authorities of another EU 

Member State details of payments of interest or similar income paid by a person established within its 

jurisdiction to or for the benefit of an individual resident in that other EU Member State or to certain limited 

types of entities established in that other EU Member State.

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a Council Directive amending and broadening 

the scope of the requirements described above. EU Member States are required to apply these new 

requirements from 1 January 2017. The changes will expand the range of payments covered by the Savings 

Directive, in particular to include additional types of income payable on securities. The amending Directive 

will also expand the circumstances in which payments that indirectly benefit an individual resident in an EU 

Member State must be reported. This approach will apply to payments made to, or secured for, persons, 

entities or legal arrangements (including trusts) where certain conditions are satisfied, and may in some cases 

apply where the person, entity or legal arrangement is established or effectively managed outside the EU.

For a transitional period, the end of which is dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements 

relating to information exchange with certain non-EU countries, Luxembourg and Austria are required (unless 

during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments. The 

changes referred to above will broaden the types of payments subject to withholding in those EU Member 

States which still operate a withholding system when they are implemented. In April 2013, the Luxembourg 

Government announced its intention to abolish the withholding system with effect from 1 January 2015, in 

favour of automatic information exchange under the Savings Directive.

A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures to the 

Savings Directive (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).

If a payment to an individual were to be made or collected through an EU Member State which has opted for a 

withholding system under the Savings Directive and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld 

from that payment pursuant to the Savings Directive or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of 

the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law 

implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to such Directive, neither the Issuer, the 

Guarantor, nor any Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with 

respect to any Bond as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to maintain a 

Paying Agent with a specified office in an EU Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax 

pursuant to any law implementing the Savings Directive or any other Directive implementing the conclusions 

of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 provided that such an EU Member State exists and 

continues to exist, which may mitigate an element of this risk if the Bondholder or Couponholder is able to 

arrange for payment through such a Paying Agent.
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Holding CREST depository interests

You may hold interests in the Bonds through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CREST Co 

Limited) (“CREST”) through the issuance of dematerialised depository interests, held, settled and transferred 

through CREST (“CDIs”), representing the interests in the relevant Bonds underlying the CDIs (the 

“Underlying Bonds”). Holders of CDIs (the “CDI Holders”) will hold or have an interest in a separate legal 

instrument and not be the legal owners of the Underlying Bonds. The rights of CDI Holders to the Underlying 

Bonds are represented by the relevant entitlements against CREST Depository Limited (the “CREST 

Depository”) which through CREST International Nominees Limited (the “CREST Nominee”) holds 

interests in the Underlying Bonds. Accordingly, rights under the Underlying Bonds cannot be enforced by 

CDI Holders except indirectly through the intermediary depositaries and custodians. The enforcement of 

rights under the Underlying Bonds will be subject to the local law of the relevant intermediaries. This could 

result in an elimination or reduction in the payments that otherwise would have been made in respect of the 

Underlying Bonds in the event of any insolvency or liquidation of any of the relevant intermediaries, in 

particular where the Underlying Bonds held in clearing systems are not held in special purpose accounts and 

are fungible with other securities held in the same accounts on behalf of other customers of the relevant 

intermediaries.

The rights of the CDI Holders will be governed by the arrangements between CREST, Euroclear Bank 

S.A./N.V. (“Euroclear”), Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and the Issuer, including 

the global deed poll dated 25 June 2001 (as subsequently modified, supplemented and/or restated) (“CREST 

Deed Poll”). You should note that the provisions of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST International Manual 

dated 14 April 2008 as amended, modified, varied or supplemented from time to time (the “CREST 

Manual”) and the CREST Rules contained in the CREST Manual applicable to the CREST International 

Settlement Links Service (the “CREST Rules”) contain indemnities, warranties, representations and 

undertakings to be given by CDI Holders and limitations on the liability of the CREST Depository. CDI 

Holders are bound by such provisions and may incur liabilities resulting from a breach of any such 

indemnities, warranties, representations and undertakings in excess of the amounts originally invested by 

them. As a result, the rights of and returns received by CDI Holders may differ from those of holders of Bonds 

which are not represented by CDIs.

In addition, CDI Holders may be required to pay fees, charges, costs and expenses to the CREST Depository 

in connection with the use of the CREST International Settlement Links Service (the “CREST International 

Settlement Links Service”). These will include the fees and expenses charged by the CREST Depository in 

respect of the provision of services by it under the CREST Deed Poll and any taxes, duties, charges, costs or 

expenses which may be or become payable in connection with the holding of the Bonds through the CREST 

International Settlement Links Service. 

You should note that none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or the Paying Agent will have any 

responsibility for the performance by any intermediaries or their respective direct or indirect participants or 

accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

You should note that the CDIs are the result of the CREST settlement mechanics and are not the subject of this 

Prospectus.

Trustee indemnity

In certain circumstances, the Bondholders may be dependent on the Trustee to take certain actions in respect 

of the Bonds. Prior to taking such action, pursuant to the Conditions the Trustee may require to be indemnified 

and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. If so, and the Trustee is not indemnified and/or secured 

and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction, it may decide not to take any action and such inaction will not constitute 

a breach by it of its obligations under the Trust Deed. Consequently, the Bondholders would have to either 

provide such indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding or accept the consequences of such inaction by the 

Trustee. Bondholders should be prepared to bear the costs associated with any such indemnity and/or security 
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and/or pre-funding and/or the consequences of any potential inaction by the Trustee. Such inaction by the 

Trustee will not entitle Bondholders to take action directly against the Issuer, the Guarantor or any subsidiary 

which becomes a guarantor in respect of the Bonds to pursue remedies for any breach by any of them of terms 

of the Trust Deed or the Bonds unless the Trustee has failed within a reasonable time to do so.

RISKS RELATED TO THE MARKET GENERALLY

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 

interest rate risk and credit risk:

There may not be a liquid secondary market for the Bonds and their market price may be volatile

The Bonds may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 

develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, you may not be able to sell your Bonds easily or at prices that 

will provide you with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary (i.e. after the 

issue date of the Bonds) market. A lack of liquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of

the Bonds.

Canaccord Genuity Limited and Lloyds Bank plc are expected to be appointed as registered market-makers on 

London Stock Exchange’s order book for retail bonds (ORB) market in respect of the Bonds from the date of 

admission of the Bonds to trading. Market-making means that a person will quote prices for buying and 

selling the Bonds during trading hours. However, it is possible that they may not continue to act as market-

makers for the life of the Bonds. If a replacement market-maker was not appointed in such circumstances, this 

could have an adverse impact on your ability to sell the Bonds.

Yield

The indication of yield (i.e. the income return on the Bonds) stated within this Prospectus (see Section 3

(Information about the Bonds)) applies only to investments made at (as opposed to above or below) the issue 

price of the Bonds. If you invest in the Bonds at a price other than the issue price of the Bonds, the yield on 

the investment will be different from the indication of yield on the Bonds as set out in this Prospectus.

Realisation from sale of the Bonds

If you choose to sell the Bonds at any time prior to their maturity, the price received from such sale could be 

less than the original investment you made. Factors that will influence the price may include, but are not 

limited to, market appetite, inflation, the time of redemption, interest rates and the current financial position 

and an assessment of the future prospects of the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Group.

Exchange rate fluctuations and exchange controls may adversely affect your return on your 

investments in the Bonds and/or the market value of the Bonds

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Bonds in sterling. This presents certain risks relating to 

currency conversions if your financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit 

(the “Investor’s Currency”) other than sterling. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly 

change (including changes due to devaluation of sterling or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the 

risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. 

An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to sterling would decrease: (a) the Investor’s 

Currency equivalent yield on the Bonds; (b) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable 

on the Bonds; and (c) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market value of the Bonds.

Changes in interest or inflation rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds

The Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate rather than by reference to an underlying index. Accordingly, you 

should note that if interest rates rise, then the income payable on the Bonds might become less attractive and 

the price that you could realise on a sale of the Bonds may fall. However, the market price of the Bonds from 

time to time has no effect on the total income you receive on maturity of the Bonds if you hold the Bonds until 
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the Maturity Date. Further, inflation will reduce the real value of the Bonds over time, which may affect what 

you could buy with your investment in the future and may make the fixed rate payable on the Bonds less 

attractive in the future, again affecting the price that you could realise on a sale of the Bonds.

The clearing systems

Because the Global Bond may be held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg you will 

have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer.

The Bonds will be represented by the Global Bond. Such Global Bond may be deposited with a common 

depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in the Global 

Bond, you will not be entitled to receive Definitive Bonds. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will 

maintain records of the interests in the Global Bond. While the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, 

you will be able to trade your interests only through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under 

such Bonds by making payments to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for 

distribution to their account holders. A holder of an interest in the Global Bond must rely on the procedures of 

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the Bonds. The Issuer has no 

responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, interests in the Global 

Bond.

Holders of interests in the Global Bond will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Bonds. Instead, 

such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg.
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SECTION 3 – INFORMATION ABOUT THE BONDS

What are the 

Bonds?

The Bonds are debt instruments issued by the Issuer. The Bonds will be subject to the 

“Terms and Conditions of the Bonds” which are set out in Section 16 of this Prospectus. 

The Bonds:

(a) entitle Bondholders to receive annual interest payments at a fixed interest rate of 

5.125 per cent. per year (payable in two equal instalments of £2.56 per £100 Bond 

on 16 September and 16 March in each year, save for the first payment of interest to 

be made on 16 September 2014 – which will be for £1.28 per £100 Bond because 

this first interest period is less than six months from the Issue Date);

(b) are tradable in nominal amounts of £100 per Bond;

(c) are due to be issued on 16 June 2014 and to be paid back in full by the Issuer 

(failing which the Guarantor) on 16 September 2022;

(d) in certain circumstances however may be repaid prior to the Maturity Date if the 

Issuer chooses to do so or following the occurrence of certain events;

(e) are guaranteed by the Guarantor; and 

(f) are intended to be admitted to trading on London Stock Exchange plc’s regulated 

market, and through its order book for retail bonds (ORB) market.

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds) for further information.

Who is

issuing the 

Bonds?

The Bonds will be issued by Ladbrokes Group Finance plc. 

Who is 

guaranteeing 

the Bonds?

The Bonds will be guaranteed by Ladbrokes plc on the Issue Date.

In addition, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Conditions”), the 

Guarantor may be required to procure that other members of the Group provide 

guarantees in respect of the Bonds after the Issue Date and thereby become “Additional 

Guarantors”. If the Guarantor wishes any member of the Group to incur significant 

amounts of debt of its own then, pursuant to the Conditions, the Guarantor may first be 

required to procure that such Group member provides a guarantee in respect of the Bonds 

on substantially the same terms as the guarantee provided by the Guarantor in respect of 

the Bonds. The intention in requiring any such Group member to provide a guarantee in 

respect of the Bonds at such time as it may incur significant debt of its own, is to seek to 

ensure that the Bondholders are not structurally subordinated to other relevant creditors 

of such Group member (See “What will the Bondholders receive on a winding-up of the 

Issuer?” below). Before becoming an “Additional Guarantor”, any such Group member 

will be required, pursuant to the Conditions, to first comply with certain requirements –

notably, the entry into of legally valid and binding documentation, to the satisfaction of 

the Trustee, granting any such guarantee in respect of the Bonds. 

The Issuer intends, as soon as practicable, to announce the addition of any Group 

member as an “Additional Guarantor” at the relevant time via the Regulatory News 

Service (“RNS”) of the London Stock Exchange plc.

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Guarantee and Status) for further 

information. 

Will the 

Bonds be 

secured?

No; the Bonds will not be secured on any assets, revenues or anything else on the Issue 

Date.

See Section 2 (Risk Factors – Claims of secured creditors will have priority, with respect 
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to their security, over the claims of unsecured creditors, such as holders of the Bonds) for 

further information.

What, if any, 

covenants 

apply to the 

Group?

Negative Pledge

The Bonds contain a negative pledge provision. In general terms, a negative pledge 

provisions prohibits an issuer and/or other members of its group from granting security 

over certain of its or their indebtedness which diminishes the priority of bondholder 

claims against any of the issuer’s and/or group’s other assets. Therefore, under the 

negative pledge provision set out in the Conditions, the Issuer and the Guarantor shall not 

(and they shall procure that none of the other subsidiaries of the Guarantor shall) create 

or at any time have outstanding any security interest over any of its or their present or 

future revenues or assets to secure debt without securing the Bonds equally, subject to 

certain exceptions. Investors should note that there are certain exceptions to the negative 

pledge, notably that the Issuer, Guarantor and other members of the Group are permitted

to provide security in respect of debt obligations so long as the relevant obligation does 

not exceed £75 million (excluding certain security interests in respect of assets and/or 

companies acquired after the Issue Date).

Financial Covenants

Under the Conditions, the Issuer, the Guarantor, any Financing Subsidiary (as described 

below) and any Additional Guarantor (as described under “Who is guaranteeing the 

Bonds?” above) are restricted (subject to a number of important exceptions, mentioned 

further below) from incurring additional debt unless, at the time of incurring such debt, 

the Group’s consolidated EBITDA is at least 2.75 times its consolidated interest expense. 

A “Financing Subsidiary” means for these purposes any wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Guarantor established for and engaged exclusively in raising finance for the Group (i.e. 

by issuing bonds, entering into loan agreements and related financing activities; with no 

other material assets of its own).

In summary, the Group’s ‘consolidated EBITDA’ is a measure of the Group’s profitability 

for the relevant period before taking into account tax, interest expenses, depreciation, 

amortisation and certain other customary accounting items, and, for the purpose of the 

financial covenant described above, consolidated EBITDA is calculated by reference to 

the previous 12 months for which financial information on the Group is available; and 

the Group’s ‘consolidated interest expense’ is a measure of the Group’s cost of financing 

– i.e. how much members of the Group have to pay to borrow money from the Group’s 

various lenders.

Investors should be aware that there are a significant number of important exceptions to 

the above restriction. These exceptions include (but are not limited to) up to £1.2 billion

under revolving credit or similar debt facilities or notes (“Debt”) and £50 million of 

finance leases entered into in the ordinary course of the Group’s business. Other 

members of the Group are not permitted to incur additional debt unless they first provide 

a guarantee in respect of the Bonds, and thereby become an “Additional Guarantor” in 

respect of the Bonds, subject to a certain number of exceptions. These further exceptions 

include (but are not limited to) the above mentioned finance leases, £100 million of the 

above mentioned Debt and also the debt of companies acquired after the issue date of the 

Bonds (which means, for instance, that any member of the Group at any time can incur 

additional debt in aggregate up to £100 million without needing to provide any guarantee 

in respect of the Bonds). Furthermore, if at any time during the life of the Bonds the 

Bonds are assigned an ‘investment grade’ credit rating by at least two rating agencies 

(i.e. a credit rating of more than BBB- by S&P and Fitch) and no event of default (as 

described below) or potential event of default has occurred and is continuing, then this 
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covenant will not apply to the Issuer or to any other member of the Group.

Under the Conditions, the Guarantor has also covenanted not to merge or consolidate its 

business and/or to sell its assets unless certain customary criteria are met, including that 

no event of default or potential event of default under the Bonds will result from any 

such merger, consolidation or asset sale.

What will 

Bondholders 

receive in a 

winding-up of 

the Issuer or 

the 

Guarantor?

If the Issuer and the Guarantor become insolvent and are unable to pay their debts, an 

administrator or liquidator would be expected to make distributions to their creditors in 

accordance with a statutory order of priority. Your claim as a Bondholder would be 

expected to rank after the claims of any creditors that are given preferential treatment by 

applicable laws of mandatory application relating to creditors, but ahead of any 

shareholders of the Issuer or of the Guarantor, as applicable. A simplified diagram 

illustrating the expected ranking of the Bonds compared to other creditors of the Issuer 

and the Guarantor, as the case may be, is set out below:

Type of obligation Examples of obligations

Higher 

ranking

Proceeds of fixed charged 

assets

Currently none.

There may be “Permitted 

Security” as described 

below which is specifically 

permitted under the terms 

and conditions of the 

Bonds (see under the 

heading “Permitted 

Security”).

Expenses of the 

liquidation/administration

Currently none.

Preferential creditors Including remuneration 

due to employees.

Proceeds of floating charge 

assets

Currently none.

There may be “Permitted 

Security” as described 

below which is specifically 

permitted under the terms 

and conditions of the 

Bonds.

Unsecured obligations, 

including guarantees in 

respect of them

The 5.125 per cent. 

Bonds due 2022.

Also includes unsecured 

obligations (including 

guarantee obligations) in 

respect of various Group 

banking facilities, other 

bond debt and other 

financings (for example, 

as more particularly 

described in Section 7 

“Description of other 
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indebtedness” of this 

Prospectus).

Lowest

ranking

Shareholders Ordinary shareholders.

However, as well as being aware of the ranking of the Bonds compared to the other 

categories of creditor, and the shareholders, of the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the 

case may be, you should note that the Group may hold a substantial amount of its 

assets in other subsidiaries of the Guarantor, elsewhere in its Group. (See the 

Section “Information on the Group – Organisational structure” for details of the 

Guarantor’s other principal subsidiaries.) In addition, under the Conditions, the 

Issuer and/or the Guarantor may allow certain “Permitted Security” to exist over 

the Group’s assets after the Issue Date in respect of other obligations of the Issuer, 

the Guarantor and/or other members of the Group.

Permitted Security

“Permitted Security”, as provided for under the Conditions, most notably permits the 

Issuer, the Guarantor and other members of the Group to provide security in respect of 

debt obligations of the Group so long as such debt obligations do not exceed an amount 

equal to £75 million (excluding certain security interests in respect of any assets and/or 

companies acquired after the Issue Date). Debt obligations secured by any such 

“Permitted Security” after the Issue Date, if any, would rank ahead of Bondholders on a 

distribution of the Group’s assets and/or cash if the Group were to become insolvent and 

be wound-up. By way of example; if, at some point during the life of the Bonds, the 

Guarantor wishes to borrow and therefore enters into a £75 million loan agreement with a 

third party lender, then, if the Guarantor chooses to, it could opt to provide security over 

any of its assets or revenues in favour of that third party lender in respect of the money 

borrowed. This would be “Permitted Security” under the Conditions. In these 

circumstances, that third party lender would (by virtue of the security provided by the 

Guarantor) rank above the Bondholder (as per the ranking diagram above) and so, if the 

Guarantor were to become insolvent, wound-up and its assets distributed to creditors, the 

Bondholders would only be entitled to share in the distribution of assets (as well as any

available cash) once that secured third party lender had first been fully paid back in 

respect of its £75 million loan to the Guarantor. This example is purely hypothetical, to 

illustrate what could constitute “Permitted Security” under the Conditions. If, as another 

example, in similar circumstances, the Guarantor wished to give security for a £100 

million loan to a third party lender, then that would not be “Permitted Security” under the 

Conditions.

In the event that any such secured debt becomes due or any secured creditor 

institutes enforcement proceedings over the assets that secure the relevant debt, the 

Issuer's assets or, as the case may be, the Guarantor's assets remaining after 

repayment of that secured debt might not be sufficient to repay all amounts owing 

to you in respect of the Bonds.

See also Section 2 (Risk Factors – Claims of secured creditors will have priority, with 

respect to their security, over the claims of unsecured creditors, such as holders of the 

Bonds).

Structural Subordination in the context of the Bonds

The Guarantor’s right to participate in a distribution of its various subsidiaries’ assets 

upon their liquidation, re-organisation or insolvency will generally be subject to any 
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claims made against such subsidiaries, including their creditors such as any lending bank 

and trade creditors. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Bonds Guarantee are

therefore (subject as provided below in relation to “Additional Guarantors”) structurally 

subordinated to any liabilities of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries. Structural subordination in 

this context means that, in the event of a winding up or insolvency of any of the 

Guarantor’s subsidiaries, any creditors of that subsidiary would (subject to the following 

sentence) have preferential claims to the assets of that subsidiary ahead of any creditors 

of the Guarantor (i.e. including Bondholders). Pursuant to the Conditions however, the 

Guarantor may be required to procure that certain other members of the Group provide 

guarantees in respect of the Bonds after the Issue Date (on the same terms as the Bonds 

Guarantee) and thereby become “Additional Guarantors” if those other Group members 

intend to directly incur significant amounts of debt of their own. If any other such 

subsidiary of the Guarantor becomes an Additional Guarantor then, by virtue of its 

guarantee, the Bondholders would become senior unsecured creditors of such Additional 

Guarantor and thereafter would cease to be structurally subordinated to other senior 

unsecured creditors of that entity (See “Who is guaranteeing the Bonds?” above).

A simplified diagram illustrating the structural subordination of the Guarantor’s 

obligations under the Bonds to any liabilities of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries referred to 

above is set out below by way of example by reference to an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Guarantor, Ladbrokes Betting and Gaming Ltd. (“LBGL”) (as to which, 

see the structure diagram in Section 6 “Information on the Group” of this Prospectus):

Type of obligation Examples of obligations

Higher 

ranking

Proceeds of fixed charged 

assets

Currently none

There may be “Permitted 

Security” as described 

above which is specifically 

permitted under the terms 

and conditions of the 

Bonds (see under the 

heading “Permitted 

Security” above).

Expenses of the 

liquidation/administration

Currently none

Preferential creditors Including remuneration 

due to LBGL’s employees

Proceeds of floating charge 

assets

Currently none

There may be “Permitted 

Security” as described 

above which is specifically 

permitted under the terms 

and conditions of the 

Bonds.

Unsecured obligations, 

including guarantees in 

respect of them

For example, trade 

creditors and unsecured 

obligations (including 

obligations as borrower or 

guarantor) in respect of 
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various Group banking 

facilities and other 

financings; and also the 

Bondholders if LBGL 

were to become an 

Additional Guarantor.

Lowest

ranking

Shareholders LBGL’s sole shareholder, 

Ladbroke & Co Limited, 

which is in turn an indirect

subsidiary of the 

Guarantor

Why are the 

Bonds being 

issued? What 

will the 

proceeds be 

used for?

The Group will use the proceeds of the Bond issue to reduce the Group’s senior bank 

borrowings and as long term funding for its general corporate purposes.

What is the 

interest rate?

The interest rate payable on the Bonds will be fixed until the Maturity Date at 5.125 per 

cent. per year. The interest rate payable on the Bonds is fixed for the life of the Bonds.

The first payment of interest in relation to the Bonds is due to be made on 16 September 

2014.

Following the first payment, interest is expected to be paid on 16 March and 16

September in each year up to and including the Maturity Date (unless the Bonds are 

redeemed early).

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds - Interest) for further information.

How is the 

amount of 

interest 

payable 

calculated?

The Issuer will pay a fixed rate of 5.125 per cent. interest per year in respect of the 

Bonds. Interest will be payable in two annual instalments. Interest is to be paid on 16

September and 16 March in each year, with the first payment being made on 16

September 2014. Therefore, for each £2,000 nominal amount of Bonds that you buy on

16 June 2014, for instance, you will receive £25.63 on 16 September 2014 (because this 

first interest period is less than six months from the Issue Date) and then £51.25 on 16

March 2015, and £51.25 on 16 September 2015, and so on every six months until and 

including the Maturity Date (unless you sell the Bonds earlier or they are repaid by the 

Issuer before the Maturity Date).

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds - Interest) for further information.

What is the 

yield on the 

Bonds?

On the basis of the issue price of the Bonds of 100 per cent. of their nominal amount, the 

initial yield (being the interest received from the Bonds expressed as a percentage of their 

nominal amount) of the Bonds on the Issue Date is 5.125 per cent. on an annual basis. 

This initial yield is not an indication of future yield.

Does the 

Issuer have a 

credit rating?

The Guarantor has been (and the Bonds following their issue are expected to be) assigned 

a credit rating of BB by S&P and BB by Fitch.

S&P and Fitch are each established in the European Union and registered under 

Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the “CRA Regulation”). In 

general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory 

purposes if such rating is not assigned by an agency registered under the CRA 

Regulation. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy or sell securities, and it may 
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be withdrawn at any time.

Will I be able 

to trade the 

Bonds?

The Issuer will make an application for the Bonds to be admitted to trading on London 

Stock Exchange plc, on its regulated market and through its electronic order book for 

retail bonds (ORB) market. If this application is accepted, the Bonds are expected to 

commence trading on 17 June 2014.

Once admitted to trading, the Bonds may be purchased or sold through a broker. The 

market price of the Bonds may be higher or lower than their issue price depending on, 

among other things, the level of supply and demand for the Bonds and any movements in 

interest rates. 

See Section 2 (Risk Factors – Risks related to the market generally – There may not be a 

liquid secondary market for the Bonds and their market price may be volatile).

Do the Bonds 

have voting 

rights?

Bondholders have certain rights to vote at meetings of the Bondholders, but are not 

entitled to vote at any meeting of shareholders of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any 

member of the Group.

The Conditions of the Bonds contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to 

consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit majorities of 

certain sizes to bind all Bondholders, including Bondholders who did not attend and vote 

at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a different manner than the 

majority did.

Can the terms 

and 

conditions of 

the Bonds be 

amended?

The Conditions provide that the Trustee may agree to: (a) any modification of any of the 

provisions of the Bonds that are, in the opinion of the Trustee, of a formal, minor or 

technical nature, (b) waive, modify or authorise a breach of the Conditions in certain 

circumstances if, in the opinion of the Trustee, such modification, authorisation or waiver

is not prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders or (c) the substitution of another

company as principal debtor under the Bonds and/or the Bonds Guarantee, following a 

request from the Issuer, in place of the Issuer and/or Guarantor, as the case may be, if the 

Trustee deems such substitution not to be materially prejudicial to the interests of the 

Bondholders. Any conditions which would need to be satisfied before any such 

substitution could take effect will be determined by the Trustee and communicated by it

to the Issuer at the relevant time. As a minimum, the Trustee will require the substituted 

entity taking the place of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor to sign relevant legal 

documentation (i.e. a trust deed) agreeing to be bound by all of the obligations and 

undertakings applicable to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, under the 

Bonds. The Trustee can agree to any such changes without obtaining the consent of any 

of the Bondholders.

Any modification of the Bonds or substitution as described above will be notified by the 

Issuer to the Bondholders (notification will be made by electronic message sent to 

relevant accountholders in respect of the Bonds; investors should be notified by their 

financial adviser, broker or other custodian appointed by the investor to hold its

investments, upon receipt of any such notification - all in accordance with the 

arrangements in place between you and such adviser, broker or other custodian).

Investors in the Bonds should check with their relevant adviser, broker or other custodian

that holds their Bonds on their behalf how they intend to notify you of any such 

electronic message sent by the Issuer to Bondholders.

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Modification and Waiver / 

Substitution) and also Section 17 (Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global 

Form – Notice to Bondholders) for further information.
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Who will 

represent the 

interests of 

the 

Bondholders?

The Trustee is appointed to act on behalf of the Bondholders as an intermediary between 

Bondholders and the Issuer and the Guarantor throughout the life of the Bonds. The main 

obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor (such as the obligation to pay and to observe 

the various covenants in the Conditions of the Bonds) are owed to the Trustee. 

Although the entity chosen to act as Trustee is chosen and appointed by the Issuer, the 

Trustee’s role is to protect the interests of the Bondholders.

See Section 16 (Terms and Conditions of the Bonds) for further information.

How do I 

apply for 

Bonds?

Details relating to applications for the Bonds are set out in Sections 4 (Timetable of the 

Offer and Key Dates) and Section 5 (How to Apply for the Bonds).

What if I have 

further 

questions?

If you are unclear in relation to any matter, or uncertain if the Bonds are a suitable 

investment, you should seek professional advice from your broker, solicitor, accountant 

and/or independent financial adviser before deciding whether or not to invest.
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SECTION 4 – TIMETABLE OF THE OFFER AND KEY DATES

Key dates relating to the Offer 

Commencement of Offer Period 27 May 2014

End of Offer Period 12 noon (London time) 10

June 2014

Sizing Announcement (confirming total nominal amount of Bonds to 

be issued)

11 June 2014

Issue Date 16 June 2014

Expected commencement of trading 17 June 2014

Key dates for the Bonds

First Interest Payment Date 16 September 2014

Maturity Date 16 September 2022

Interest is scheduled to be paid on the semi-annual Interest Payment Dates (16 September and 16 March in 

each year), until the Maturity Date or any earlier redemption date. The first payment of interest is due to be 

made on 16 September 2014. If any of these scheduled dates is not a business day, then the payment of 

interest will be made on the next succeeding business day in London without any additional interest being 

payable.

The key dates for the offer are indicative only and subject to change without notice. The Issuer may, in 

consultation with the Joint Lead Managers, end the Offer Period early or withdraw the offer at any time prior 

to the Issue Date.

This Prospectus may only be used by the Authorised Offerors referred to in this Prospectus for the purposes of 

making offers of the Bonds during the Offer Period; not at any time after the End of Offer Period.
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SECTION 5 – HOW TO APPLY FOR THE BONDS

How and on what terms will 

Bonds be allocated to me?

Applications to purchase the Bonds cannot be made directly to the Issuer

or the Guarantor. The Bonds will be issued to you in accordance with the 

arrangements in place between you and your stockbroker or other financial 

intermediary, including as to application process, allocations, payment and 

delivery arrangements. You should approach your stockbroker or other 

financial intermediary to discuss any application arrangements that may be 

available to you.

It is important to note that none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead 

Managers or the Trustee are party to such arrangements between you and 

the relevant Authorised Offeror. You must therefore obtain this information 

from the relevant Authorised Offeror. Because they are not party to the 

dealings you may have with the Authorised Offeror, none of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers or the Trustee will have any

responsibility to you for any information provided to you by the 

Authorised Offeror.

How many Bonds will be 

issued to investors?

The total amount of the Bonds to be issued may depend on the amount of 

Bonds for which indicative offers to purchase Bonds are received during 

the Offer Period. This total amount will be specified in an announcement 

which the Issuer intends to publish through a Regulatory News Service 

(“RNS”) operated by the London Stock Exchange (“London Stock 

Exchange”) (www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-

news/market-news-home.html)) on or about 11 June 2014 (the “Sizing 

Announcement”).

How and when must I pay 

for my allocation and when 

will that allocation be 

delivered to me?

You will be notified by the Joint Lead Managers or your relevant 

Authorised Offeror of your allocation of Bonds (if any) and the 

arrangements for the Bonds to be delivered to you in return for payment.

When can the Authorised 

Offerors offer the Bonds for 

sale?

An offer of the Bonds may be made by the Joint Lead Managers and the 

other Authorised Offerors during the period from 27 May 2014 until 12.00 

noon on 10 June 2014 (the “Offer Period”), or may close at such earlier 

time and date as agreed between the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers

and announced by the Issuer via RNS (which is expected to be the 

Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange) during 

the Offer Period.

Is the offer of the Bonds 

conditional on anything else?

The issue of the Bonds is conditional upon the Subscription Agreement 

being signed by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers. 

The Subscription Agreement will include certain conditions customary for 

transactions of this type which must be satisfied (including the delivery of 

legal opinions from legal counsel and a comfort letter from the 

independent auditors of the Group, in each case satisfactory to the Joint 

Lead Managers and the execution of the Trust Deed). If these conditions 

are not satisfied, the Joint Lead Managers may be released from their 

obligations under the Subscription Agreement before the issue of the 

Bonds. For further information on the Subscription Agreement, see 

Section 12 (Subscription and Sale).

Is it possible that I may not You may not be allocated all (or any) of the Bonds for which you apply. 
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be issued with the number of 

Bonds I apply for? Will I be 

refunded for any excess 

amounts paid?

This might happen for example if the total amount of orders for the Bonds 

exceeds the number of Bonds that are issued. There will be no refund as 

you will not be required to pay for any Bonds until any application for 

Bonds has been accepted and the Bonds have been allocated to you.

Is there a minimum or 

maximum amount of Bonds 

that I can apply for?

The minimum application amount for each investor in the initial 

distribution of the Bonds is £2,000. There is no maximum amount of 

application. Following their issue, the Bonds can be traded in £100 

amounts.

How and when will the 

results of the offer of the 

Bonds be made public?

The results of the offer of the Bonds will be made public in the Sizing 

Announcement, which will be published by the Issuer via RNS prior to the 

Issue Date. The Sizing Announcement is currently expected to be made on 

or around 11 June 2014.

Who can apply for the 

Bonds? Have any Bonds 

been reserved for certain 

countries?

Subject to certain exceptions, Bonds may only be offered by the 

Authorised Offerors in the United Kingdom, Guernsey, Jersey and/or the 

Isle of Man during the Offer Period (and to the extent that the relevant 

Authorised Offeror is appropriately authorised to make offers in the 

relevant jurisdiction(s), in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and 

regulations). No Bonds have been reserved for certain countries.

When and how will I be told 

of how many Bonds have 

been allotted to me?

You will be notified by the relevant Authorised Offeror of your allocation 

of Bonds (if any) in accordance with the arrangements in place between 

you and the Authorised Offeror.

Have any steps been taken to 

allow dealings in the Bonds 

before investors are told how 

many Bonds have been 

allotted to them?

No steps have been taken to allow the Bonds to be traded before informing 

you of your allocation of Bonds.

What is the amount of any 

expenses and taxes 

specifically that will be 

charged to me?

None of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers will charge 

you any expenses or taxes relating to the issue of the Bonds.

The Bonds will be issued at the issue price (which is 100 per cent. of the 

nominal amount of the Bonds), and the aggregate nominal amount of the 

Bonds to be issued will be specified in a Sizing Announcement to be 

published by the Issuer by RNS at the end of the Offer Period. Authorised 

Offerors may offer the Bonds at the issue price (i.e. 100 per cent. of the 

nominal amount of the Bonds) or, if such Authorised Offeror charges you 

any expenses, then it may offer you the Bonds at a corresponding amount 

more than the issue price. For example, if your stock broker or financial 

adviser charges you total dealing expenses of, for instance, 1 per cent., 

then he or she would offer the Bonds to you at 101 per cent. of the nominal 

amount of the Bonds (i.e. a price to you of £101 per £100 Bond). You must

check with your stock broker or financial adviser what expenses he or she 

will charge to you, and therefore what the offer price to you will be. Any 

such expenses charges by an Authorised Offeror are beyond the control of 

the Issuer, are not knowable by the Issuer, and must be disclosed to any 

potential investor by the relevant Authorised Offeror at the relevant time.

What are the names and 

addresses of those 

distributing the Bonds?

As of the date of this Prospectus, the persons listed below are the persons 

known to the Issuer and the Guarantor who intend to offer and distribute 

the Bonds in the United Kingdom, Guernsey, Jersey and/or the Isle of Man 
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during the Offer Period:

Barclays Bank PLC

5 The North Colonnade

Canary Wharf

London E14 4BB

Canaccord Genuity Limited

88 Wood Street

London EC2V 7QR

Lloyds Bank plc

10 Gresham Street

London EC2V 7AE

Barclays Stockbrokers Limited

1 Churchill Place

London E14 5HP

Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management 

41 Lothbury

London EC2R 7AE

Killik & Co.

46 Grosvenor Street

London W1K 3HN

NCL Investments Ltd. (trading as Smith & Williamson Securities)

25 Moorgate

London EC2Y 6AY

Redmayne-Bentley LLP

9 Bond Court

Leeds LS1 2JZ

The Issuer and Guarantor have granted consent to the use of this 

Prospectus by the persons listed above and any other relevant stockbrokers 

and financial intermediaries in the United Kingdom during the Offer 

Period on the basis of and so long as they comply with the conditions 

described in Section 15 (Important Legal Information - Consent). Neither 

the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Joint Lead Managers have authorised, nor 

will they authorise, the making of any other offer of the Bonds in any other 

circumstances.

Will a registered market-

maker be appointed?

Canaccord Genuity Limited and Lloyds Bank plc will be appointed as 

registered market-makers through London Stock Exchange’s order book 

for retail bonds (ORB) market in respect of the Bonds from the date on 

which the Bonds are admitted to trading on London Stock Exchange plc’s 

regulated market. Market-making means that a person will quote prices for 

buying and selling the Bonds during trading hours.
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SECTION 6 – INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

Overview

Ladbrokes is a bookmaker with a leading position in its key markets, providing betting and gaming services 

across multiple channels with more than £1.1 billion of revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 

2013. Ladbrokes’ origins date back to 1886 and the Group employs over 14,400 people, 13,000 of whom 

work in the United Kingdom.

Ladbrokes is a major retail bookmaker with approximately 2,297 betting shops in the United Kingdom and 

Jersey and 654 retail betting outlets situated in Ireland and Belgium. These outlets provide betting 

opportunities on a wide range of sporting and non-sporting events. In addition, the Group has 

approximately 753 retail betting outlets in Spain through its joint venture with Cirsa Corp in relation to the 

Sportium brand.

Ladbrokes also operates an online betting and gaming business through Ladbrokes.com, which has over 

873,000 active customers betting on sportsbook, casino, bingo, poker and games products.

Ladbrokes also provides telephone betting services to more than 35,000 customers as well as a personalised 

“High Rollers” service for selected high net worth customers.

Ladbrokes plc (the “Company” or the “Guarantor”) is the parent company of the Ladbrokes group of 

companies. The principal activity of the Company is to act as the ultimate holding company of a Group 

engaged in the betting and gaming sector. The principal legislation governing the Company is the 

Companies Act 2006 and its registered number is 566221. The registered office of the Company is Imperial 

House, Imperial Drive, Rayners Lane, Harrow, Middlesex HA2 7JW (Tel: +44 (0) 20 8868 8899).

Ladbrokes Group Finance plc (the “Issuer”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ladbrokes plc. All of its 

shares are owned directly by the Guarantor, apart from one share which is jointly held by the Guarantor and 

Town and County Factors Limited, which is itself a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. The 

principal activity of the Issuer is to act as a financing company of the Group. The principal legislation 

governing the Issuer is the Companies Act 2006 and its registered number is 1429533. The registered office 

of the Issuer is Imperial House, Imperial Drive, Rayners Lane, Harrow, Middlesex HA2 7JW (Tel: +44 (0) 

20 8868 8899).

The Group is organised into four business divisions:

(A) United Kingdom Retail, which comprises betting activities in the shop estate in Great Britain;

(B) European Retail, which comprises all activities connected with the Northern Ireland, Republic of 

Ireland, Belgium and Spain shop estates;

(C) Digital, which comprises betting and gaming activities from online and mobile operations and 

includes Ladbrokes Israel, Ladbrokes Australia and Betdaq; and

(D) Telephone and High Rollers, which comprises activities relating to bets taken on the telephone, 

including from High Rollers.

The following diagram, in simplified form, summarises the structure of the Group after giving effect to the 

issue of the Bonds and the use of proceeds from the Bonds as described under “Use of Proceeds”:
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LADBROKES GROUP – SIMPLIFIED CORPORATE 
STRUCTURE REFLECTING THE ISSUE OF THE BONDS

Ladbrokes plc (1)

Tierce Ladbroke 

SA

(Belgium Retail 

Estate)

NV Derby SA

(Belgium Retail 

Estate)

Holding 

Companies

Ladbrokes Group 

Finance plc (4)

North West 

Bookmakers Ltd

(Northern Ireland 

Retail Estate)

The 5.125 per cent. 

Bonds due 2022

Ladbrokes Betting & Gaming Ltd

(United Kingdom Retail Estate and Telephone 

Betting)

Sportium Apuestas 

Deportivas SA 

(50%) (Spain joint 

venture)

Ladbroke (Ireland) 

Ltd

(Ireland Retail 

Estate)

Ladbrokes 

Sportsbook LP

(Digital 

Sportsbook)

£225 million

2017 Notes 

£197 million other 

unsecured and 

unsubordinated debt 
(2)

(3)

Key:

Direct Holding:

Indirect Holding:

Exchange Platform 

Solutions Ltd 

(Betdaq)

LB Australia 

Holdings Pty Ltd

(Australia Digital)

Ladbroke City & 

Country Land 

Company Limited

Maple Court 

Investments 

Limited

Ladbroke US 

Investments 

Limited

Maple Court 

Investments Jersey 

Ltd 

Ladbrokes 

Deposits 
IHF Jersey 

Ladbroke & Co. 

Limited (5)

Ladbrokes 

International PLC 

(Digital games)

(1) Ladbrokes plc is the initial Guarantor of the Bonds.

(2) The proceeds of the issue of the Bonds will be used to reduce the Group’s senior borrowings.

(3) In addition to the £422 million of debt owed by Ladbrokes Group Finance plc, other subsidiaries of the Group (held by the “Holding Companies” referred to in 
the diagram above) owed a total of £0.6m as at 31 December 2013. Bondholders will be structurally subordinated to the creditors of such other subsidiaries.

(4) All of the Issuer’s shares are directly owned by the Guarantor, apart from one share which is jointly held by the Guarantor and Town and Country Factors 
Limited, which is itself a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

(5) Ladbroke & Co. Limited is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor through various holding companies in the Group.
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History

The Issuer was incorporated in England and Wales on 14 June 1979 under the Companies Acts 1948 to 

1976. The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 16 May 1956 under the Companies Act 

1948.

The Ladbrokes business was formed in 1886 initially as a horseracing enterprise and began trading as a 

bookmaker in 1902. The Company first came to national prominence under the ownership of Cyril Stein 

and his uncle, Max Parker, who purchased the firm in 1956, expanding its retail presence after the 

legalisation of high street cash betting in 1961 before leading the company to a London stock market 

flotation in 1967. This enabled further retail acquisition and expansion. During the 1970s, the Group 

diversified into other leisure businesses and in 1987 acquired the Hilton International hotels division. After 

a period of acquisition and expansion, the Group sold Hilton International to Hilton Hotel Corporation on 

23 February 2006 to focus on its core betting and gaming activities. In 2008, the Group entered the Spanish 

market through a joint venture with Cirsa Corp operating under the Sportium brand.

The Group launched its online betting and gaming business in 2000 and enjoyed significant growth which 

slowed as the market became more competitive. In March 2013, the Group acquired The Nation Traffic 

Services Limited and signed an agreement with PT Turnkey Services Limited (“Playtech”) for the 

provision of marketing, operational and customer relationship management services to the Digital division,

which included provision for the acquisition of an experienced digital marketing team. On 1 May 2013, The 

Nation Traffic Services Limited was renamed Ladbrokes Israel Limited.

In addition, Ladbrokes and Cirsa Corp have expanded the Sportium joint venture to include a Spanish 

online business and in December 2013 launched Sportium.es.

On 28 February 2013, the Group acquired 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of Global Betting

Exchange Alderney Limited, a company registered in Alderney which operates the Betdaq betting exchange 

business.

On 6 September 2013, the Group acquired Gaming Investment Pty Ltd an online sports betting business in 

Australia under the newly formed Australian arm “Ladbrokes Australia”. Gaming Investment Pty Ltd’s 

business includes BookMaker.com.au Pty Ltd, operator of the online bookmaker BookMaker.com.au and 

Panda Company Pty Ltd, operator of an extensive racing and sports focused affiliate network in Australia.

In December 2013, the Group launched a new and more competitive mobile offer on the Playtech Mobenga 

platform which was preceded in April by the new browser-based sportsbook launch and the launch of the 

Ladbrokes Exchange in November through integration with Betdaq.

On 25 April 2014, Ladbrokes acquired the Betstar business, a private bookmaker in Australia, which 

Ladbrokes expects will add a complementary client base and accelerate the growth of its Australian 

business. Betstar has approximately 40,000 registered customers and, in the year to 31 March 2014, it 

generated gross win of approximately £7.5 million on £124.9 million amounts staked.

Key Strengths

The Company believes that the Group has a number of significant competitive advantages and strengths 

that will be important factors in maintaining and further developing its business, including:

 Long-established, trusted and widely recognised brand

The Company believes that the Group’s heritage and strong brand presence in the United Kingdom 

provides a competitive advantage in an industry where attracting and maintaining customers is 

crucial to developing the business.
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Outside the United Kingdom, Ladbrokes is developing a reputation internationally and growing its 

brand through its Digital business and its international expansion activities.

The Company believes that the Ladbrokes brand provides a strong foundation for protecting the 

Group’s market share in the United Kingdom, the Republic of Ireland, Belgium and Spain, growing 

the Digital business and potentially maximising international opportunities in the future, particularly 

in countries such as China and the United States, should a suitable regulatory environment emerge. 

The Company believes that its brands are a key asset in retaining loyal customers and attracting new 

ones. The Group continues to invest in marketing activities to build awareness and engage in market 

research to monitor performance.

 Market leadership with a high quality estate of betting shops

As at 31 December 2013, Ladbrokes had approximately 2,289 betting shops in Great Britain and 

eight betting shops in Jersey, making it one of the largest British betting shop operators. In addition 

to its presence in Great Britain, Ladbrokes is one of the largest retail betting operators in Ireland 

(approximately 295 shops as at 31 December 2013) and Belgium (approximately 359 outlets as at 31 

December 2013) and in its joint venture with Cirsa Corp is building a strong retail bookmaker in 

Spain under the Sportium brand.

Ladbrokes constantly reviews and improves its retail offering and therefore refurbishment, 

relocations, extensions and new licences are an ongoing operational process. In recent years, 

Ladbrokes has grown its estate, most recently by opening a further 121 new betting shops in Great 

Britain. In 2014, Ladbrokes intends to focus on optimising its estate and intends to close up to 50 

loss making or low potential sites to enhance its retail offering further. Ladbrokes has also increased 

the quality and the breadth of content across its retail estate by introducing Sky Sports, wifi and live 

racing content from leading racecourses around the world.

The Company believes that the size, scale and breadth of its retail estate provide it with a 

competitive advantage, particularly over some of the smaller players in the gambling industry, in 

terms of brand recognition and driving economies of scale.

 A comprehensive risk management system with over 100 years of bookmaking experience

Risk management is central to running a bookmaking business. The Company believes that more 

than 100 years of bookmaking experience combined with strong technological systems for managing 

the risk across the Group give it a competitive advantage.

Employees involved in risk management are trained in the necessary skills and operate as teams to 

manage the risk profile of the Company through odds compilation, bet acceptance management and 

hedging. For the year ended 31 December 2013, Ladbrokes offered almost 3.7 million betting 

opportunities over 60 different sports and took over 700 million bets. The size and diversity of bets 

taken provides some opportunity for the Company to smooth its risk profile.

 Leading multi-channel capability in the United Kingdom

Historically, the Group viewed its retail and online segments as separate channels appealing to 

different groups of customers. However, as the industry has evolved, the Group’s customers are 

increasingly accessing betting and gaming products across multiple channels, and the Company 

believes the different channels can complement one another.

The Group’s Digital division has expanded its offering into new channels, primarily mobile betting 

and gaming and text betting.

 Sports betting led with a full gaming proposition
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Ladbrokes is recognised for its sports betting expertise and the Group continues to expand its sports 

betting product range and to offer attractive pricing on high-profile sporting events. It also offers a 

full range of gaming products in order to provide customers with an exciting gambling experience. 

Although sports betting margins can fluctuate with sporting results, gaming margins are more 

predictable and provide a more stable source of revenue for the Group. The combination of betting 

and gaming also enables the Group to cross-sell multiple products to customers, which Ladbrokes 

believes increases customer value and retention.

Changes to the Group’s product offering in its betting shops have enabled the retail segment to 

remain attractive to a broad range of customers and to respond effectively to market trends, with 

gaming machines and football betting proving particularly popular with the younger portion of the 

customer base.

In 2014, Ladbrokes is introducing self service betting terminals across its United Kingdom and 

Belgian estates (with the initial trials in Belgium having been successful). These will enable 

Ladbrokes to offer prices on a wider range of sports across an increased range of countries.

Ladbrokes’ online product range has also been expanded substantially since its creation in 2000, 

most recently in relation to mobile devices.

 Growing exposure to regulated international markets

While the Group’s core market is in the United Kingdom, it is expanding into other locally licensed 

territories on a selective and targeted basis. This has the benefit of diversifying its sources of 

revenue and of reducing its relative exposure to the United Kingdom economy, taxation and 

regulatory framework. In the 2013 financial year, 85.6 per cent. of the Group’s revenues were 

generated from the United Kingdom and 14.4 per cent. from locally licensed territories outside the 

United Kingdom.

 A United Kingdom market-leading and expanding online presence

From its beginning in 2000 to the current time, Ladbrokes’ online presence has grown significantly 

and Ladbrokes is now a bookmaker with a leading position in its key markets. It has a significant 

online presence in terms of betting and gaming websites with over 873,000 active customers betting. 

Digital net revenue for the year ended 31 December 2013 was £175.0 million.

 A track record of innovation and profitable adaptation to regulatory, fiscal and technological 

change

Key opportunities for growth in the gambling industry have arisen from regulatory, fiscal and 

technological change. The Company believes the Group has a good track record of adapting 

promptly and effectively to such changes.

Technology is a key differentiating factor for Ladbrokes. The Company believes that the Group is a 

market leader in terms of innovation. The Group was one of the first bookmakers to introduce an 

electronic point of sale system enabling the Group to take and settle bets more quickly and to offer a 

bigger range of betting opportunities. In Digital and Telephone Betting, the Group operates 

sophisticated and advanced infrastructures that ensure optimum performance via high performance 

betting and gaming systems, delivered through a broad range of channels, serving its customers 

globally. The technology infrastructure enables customers to bet across different channels using a 

single wallet which allows online bettors the potential of collecting their winnings in the shops.

 A strong management team with significant experience in the gambling industry
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At Board level, the executive and non-executive directors of the Company combine a wide 

experience of the bookmaking, gaming and leisure industries together with broader experience in IT

and regulated environments.

The executive committee, which is led by the executive directors, have extensive experience in 

bookmaking and digital gaming, which gives them significant previous experience to draw upon in 

guiding the business through different operational environments.

The Chief Executive Officer of the Company is heavily involved in industry governing bodies and 

Ladbrokes plays an active role in the lobbying efforts of the industry.

The Company believes that management’s bookmaking experience, combined with additional 

broader retail management experience, gives it a competitive advantage.

Strategy

Ladbrokes’ strategy has been consistent for a number of years with the emphasis on creating long-term 

value across the Group. The key focal points of the strategy are:

Retail excellence

Optimising the retail estate

Ladbrokes seeks to innovate and continually improve the experience it offers its customers through its 

betting shops and retail betting outlets in what is an increasingly competitive retail market.

For example, in order to offer a greater product and betting range, in 2013 Ladbrokes enhanced the 

customer experience of its retail offering by introducing Sky TV, wifi and a new broadcast facility, 

Ladbrokes TV, in every shop along with 1,400 new self service betting terminals to stores within the United 

Kingdom. The Group has also begun to roll out 9,000 new clarity fixed odds betting terminals across the 

shop estate (with over 5,500 new terminals already in place) along with another 350 self service betting 

terminals ahead of the FIFA Football World Cup.

Ladbrokes continues to seek to optimise the impact of its retail footprint and the quality of its betting shops 

through refurbishments, relocations and closures as part of an ongoing operational process. In 2013, the 

Group relocated seven betting shops, closed 20 betting shops, acquired eight new betting shops and opened 

113 new licences in Great Britain, increased its retail estate in Ireland by three betting shops and reduced its 

retail estate in Belgium by 17 shops.

Ladbrokes aims to continue to improve the margins and operating efficiency of its retail estate, including by 

reducing the number of poorly performing shops. In 2014, Ladbrokes is targeting the closure of 50 betting 

shops as part of its optimisation plan and has already closed 24 shops (out of the total target of 50) in the 

first quarter of 2014. Ensuring that the Group’s retail outlets are appropriately sited is especially important 

given the increasingly competitive nature of the United Kingdom retail gambling market and the likely 

upwards pressure on rents in the event of a sustained economic revival in the United Kingdom.

Overseas, Ladbrokes is actively reviewing its retail offer in Belgium with a view to optimising this further, 

including through the introduction of self-service betting terminals and virtual products and continues to 

seek to grow its retail presence in Spain.

Growing the Group’s digital capability

Investing in Digital

The digital betting and gaming market continues to grow and the Group aims to provide flexible technology 

delivering the broadest range of products to its customers to capitalise on the opportunities presented by 

this market. With this in mind, the Group has created a separate Digital team with dedicated management 
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supplemented by experienced industry partners with a proven track record, such as Playtech. This will be 

coupled by improved customer relationship management capability to improve customer month on month 

retention, resulting in an increase in player yield.

The establishment in 2013 of a partnership with Playtech, the Tel Aviv based supplier of online gaming and 

sports betting products, bringing Playtech’s product, expertise and customer relationship management 

expertise to the Group’s Digital business, was a milestone in this respect. The agreement came into force on 

1 May 2013 and runs until the end of 2017. The Group believes the partnership can create a compelling 

digital offer for its business. The first significant step in the partnership was the establishment of Ladbrokes 

Israel comprising a team highly experienced in digital marketing and in developing efficient customer 

acquisition processes. Playtech has agreed to provide a full suite of new gaming and casino products and a 

new back office system for the Group. On 27 March 2014, Ladbrokes launched Playtech Casino products, 

completing its transition of gaming products onto the new platform. Expansion of the Group’s Digital 

offering remains a key priority for Ladbrokes and Ladbrokes remains committed to providing a single 

interface or “wallet” for customers wishing to make use of multiple digital gambling platforms. The 

Group’s digital integration onto Playtech IMS/single wallet platform was completed on 29 April 2014 

allowing customers to access a single wallet across all of Ladbrokes’ betting and gaming products.

In November 2013, Ladbrokes launched the Ladbrokes Exchange to meet demand from approximately 30 

per cent. of its customers who use an exchange regularly. This was achieved by integrating with the Betdaq 

betting exchange which was purchased in February 2013.

Diversifying the Digital offering/mobile gambling

The Group aims to offer a broad range of digital platforms and products to its customers and strives to 

maximise the opportunities for its customers to engage with its Digital offering.

Mobile gambling is the fastest growing area of digital gambling in the United Kingdom and in recognition 

of this the Group has launched its mobile offer on the Playtech Mobenga platform and Ladbrokes Exchange 

in 2013. The Group has also partnered with Chelsea Apps Factory, the London based digital app specialist, 

to create the Ladbrokes Innovations Lab which is the vehicle for accelerating its mobile offering.

The mobile launch was preceded by the new browser-based sportsbook launch in April 2013.

The Group believes that continual product development is key to customer appeal.

Effective pricing, trading and liability management

The Group is focused on ensuring it offers value to its customers whilst maintaining an effective system of 

liability management. The Group makes use of a wide range of tools in doing this including a proprietary 

trading platform, enhanced algorithms and automated trading tools, expert odds compilers and risk 

management specialists. These tools are designed to enable Ladbrokes to improve its liability management 

and gross win margin, whilst reducing its earnings volatility and maintaining a broad product offering for 

its customers.

Enhancing the Ladbrokes brand

The Group strongly believes in the Ladbrokes brand. The Group aims to continue to develop and invest to 

evolve the brand with an emphasis on excitement. The launch of advertising campaigns and Ladbrokes 

Live and other improvements to the in-store presentation of product across the retail estate alongside 

investment in the Group’s Digital offering are designed to enhance the attraction of the brand across both its 

Digital and traditional retail high street platforms. The Group hopes that these measures will appeal to 

established customers and also attract new customers to Ladbrokes.
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Regulatory Leadership

Regulation and taxation

Ladbrokes seeks to play a lead role in ensuring that the United Kingdom Government and regulatory 

authorities to whom it is answerable understand the gambling industry and the contribution the Group 

makes to the United Kingdom economy, employment and taxes.

Responsible gambling

The Group takes its role in promoting responsible gambling seriously and views responsible gambling as a 

priority for the gambling industry as a whole. To that effect Ladbrokes has introduced the industry code for 

harm minimisation across its retail estate, actively assisted in drawing up the Association of British 

Bookmakers’ code of conduct on harm minimisation, supports initiatives to research, minimise and treat 

problem gambling through the Responsible Gambling Trust and has stated its intention to formalise 

responsible gambling measures into executive remuneration by 2015.

Products

The Group’s business consists of offering a variety of betting and gaming products to retail and online 

customers and betting products to telephone customers.

Betting

Betting products are products where the Group offers odds on an event occurring, which give rise to either 

a liability to make a certain payment to a customer, or the retention by the Group of the stake placed by 

such customer. The odds offered by the Group in such cases vary depending on the nature of the event. The 

Group makes money where the amounts staked by customers and retained are more than the Group’s 

liability to make payments to customers. In fixed-odds betting, the liability to make payment is in principle 

unlimited, but the Group is not obliged to accept any bets, or may accept bets on certain conditions only 

(for example, to limit maximum exposure), in order to manage its overall liabilities. In pool betting 

products, there is no liability to make payment greater than the total percentage of the amount of money 

staked by customers that the operator has promised to offer in prizes.

Sports betting is provided through all of the Group’s business channels. The most popular sport on which 

the Group offers odds is horse racing, followed by football and greyhound racing. The Group also offers 

odds on many other sports including rugby, cricket, tennis, golf, motor racing, darts, snooker, American 

football, baseball, basketball and ice hockey. The Group accepts a range of different types of bets from 

simple bets on the outcome of a single event to more complex bets, such as accumulator bets on the 

outcome of a number of different races or sporting events.

The Group also accepts bets on non-sporting events through all of the Group’s business channels, such as 

the outcome of political elections, television competitions, popular music chart results and high profile 

novelty bets. The Group also takes bets on events the outcome of which is based on chance. For example, 

numbers betting is a type of fixed-odds bet in which customers place bets on the odds of one or more 

numbers being drawn from a pool of numbers. It is presented in a variety of formats such as the Irish 

Lottery and is the basis of computer generated virtual horse or greyhound racing.

Gaming

The Group also offers a number of gaming products such as slots, casino games, bingo, poker and other 

skill games. Gaming products are games the outcome of which is dependent on chance, such as roulette, 

pontoon, blackjack and other table games, or slot machine games. Skill games are games where, though 

partly based on chance, it is argued that the odds can be changed over the long run based on the application 

of skill. This applies in games between customers, such as poker.
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With gaming products, the customer bets against the house and the Group makes its profit based on 

probabilities in the long run of different events occurring and uses “house” rules and procedures to apply 

risk limits. In skill games, the Group acts as the host or facilitator for customers who play against one 

another. Accordingly, the Group takes no principal gaming risk. In return for facilitating these games, the 

Group charges its customers a type of commission, in poker known as a ‘rake’, except in tournaments 

where a one-off entry fee is charged. Customers for skill games can compete online against each other 

either on individual tables, or in tournaments.

Principal Channels of Product Delivery

The Group delivers its betting and gaming products to customers through retail betting outlets, digital

platforms and by telephone. The Group is organised into the following business divisions:

(A) United Kingdom Retail

The Group is the second largest retail player in the United Kingdom and as at 31 December 2013 

had approximately 2,297 shops in Great Britain and in Jersey, representing approximately 25.5 per 

cent. of the total number of betting shops in the British Isles. Its retail outlets had 9,091 gaming 

machines as at 31 December 2013 which offer jackpot slot content with a maximum stake of £100 

and a maximum jackpot of £500 (known as ‘B2 Content’) and jackpot slot content with a maximum 

stake of £2 and a maximum jackpot of £500 (known as ‘B3 Content’).

In addition, as at 31 December 2013, the Group had 17 trading outlets/in-stadium betting operations 

which cover various English and Scottish Premiership clubs and some leading racecourses. The 

United Kingdom Retail business also includes the Group’s greyhound stadia and the Group’s 

holding in SIS.

The net revenue of the United Kingdom Retail business for the financial year ending 31 December 

2013 was £800.9 million, accounting for 71.7 per cent. of the Group’s net revenue for that financial 

year. The operating profit before exceptional items attributable to the United Kingdom Retail 

division for the financial year ending 31 December 2013 was £133.9 million.

The net revenue of the United Kingdom Retail business was down 2.3 per cent. year on year for the 

first three months to 31 March 2014.

(B) European Retail

The European Retail business includes operations in Northern Ireland, the Republic of Ireland, 

Belgium and Spain.

As at 31 December 2013 the Group had 295 licensed betting shops in Northern Ireland and the 

Republic of Ireland. 2013 was a difficult year for Ladbrokes’ business in Ireland reflecting wider 

economic trends and the continuation of a highly competitive trading environment particularly in the 

Republic of Ireland.

Ladbrokes is also one of the largest players in retail betting in Belgium and as at 31 December 2013 

had approximately 359 outlets there (representing a combination of Ladbrokes shops and newsagent 

outlets offering Ladbrokes betting services). Horse racing remained the most popular product in 

terms of betting activity with a 1.2 per cent. decline in staking offset by growth in both football and 

greyhounds.

In Spain, as at 31 December 2013, there were approximately 753 outlets operated by the Group’s 

Spanish joint venture, Sportium Apuestas Deportivas S.A. In 2013, Sportium opened retail outlets in 

Murcia and Galicia making a total of six regions in which the joint venture now operates. Also, 

additional outlets were opened in the existing regions of Madrid, Aragon and Valencia.
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The net revenue of the Group’s European Retail division was £128.8 million for the financial year 

ending 31 December 2013, accounting for 11.5 per cent. of the Group’s net revenue for that financial 

year. Its share of operating profit before exceptional items for the same period was £15.6 million.

(C) Digital

The online channel is operated on the internet through the Group’s web-based Digital business, 

which has more than 873,000 active customers on sportsbook, casino, poker, bingo or games 

products.

The Group also has a wide product offering through its sportsbook platform. In 2013, Ladbrokes 

acquired Global Betting Exchange Alderney Limited to strengthen its sportsbook with a high quality 

betting exchange. In 2013 Ladbrokes acquired Gaming Investments Pty Ltd. Gaming Investments’

business includes Bookmaker.com.au Pty Ltd, operator of the online bookmaker Bookmaker.com.au

in Australia. On 25 April 2014, Ladbrokes acquired the Betstar business, a private bookmaker in 

Australia, which will allow Ladbrokes to add an existing and complementary client base and 

accelerate the growth of its Australian business.

During 2013, the Group agreed with Cirsa Corp to extend the joint venture with Sportium Apuestas 

Deportivas S.A. into digital channels and in December the Group launched Sportium.es, using 

Playtech technology across all its products, combining the digital business of LBapuestas.es and 

Cirsa.es.

The net revenue of the Group’s Digital division was £175.0 million for the financial year ending 31 

December 2013 accounting for 15.7 per cent. of the Group’s net revenue for that financial year. Its 

share of operating profit before exceptional items for the same period was £8.2 million.

The net revenue for the Group’s Digital division was up 1.1 per cent. versus Q4 2013, for the three 

months to 31 March 2014.

(D) Telephone and High Rollers

Ladbrokes Telephone Betting services serve more than 35,000 active customers worldwide. 

Traditional telephone betting is a declining part of the bookmaking sector with many customers 

migrating to digital services on a personal computer, tablet or mobile. Towards the end of 2012 

Ladbrokes introduced a minimum stake per call of £25 which has accelerated this process. Amounts 

staked of £186.4 million in 2013 were 30.1 per cent. lower than 2012. Net revenue for the financial 

year ending 31 December 2013 was £6.5 million down 31.6 per cent. on the previous year reflecting 

the decline in amounts staked. Telephone Betting generated an operating loss before exceptional 

items of £1.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2013.

High Rollers provides a personalised Telephone Betting service for certain high net worth 

individuals who have been invited to join the service based on their staking sizes and activity levels.

High Rollers generated an operating profit before exceptional items for the year ended 31 December 

2013 of £5.9 million.

Competition

The Group faces competition from other bookmakers, online betting and gaming operators and, to a lesser 

extent, other forms of gambling such as the National Lottery. Ladbrokes remains a leading operator in retail 

betting with a strong market share and brand presence. Through its product and marketing partnership with 

Playtech, Ladbrokes hopes to improve its current market share in digital and mobile to more closely reflect 

its brand strength. The competitive environment remains subject to change depending on regulatory and 

technological developments.
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The Group’s principal competitors in the British retail market are William Hill, Coral, Betfred and Paddy 

Power. In the Irish retail market Ladbrokes’ main competitors are Paddy Power and Boyle Sports. In 

Belgium, the current competition includes a variety of small independent players. In Spain, the Group’s 

competitors in the Madrid region include Victoria Apuestas S.A.

The Group faces competition in its online operations from a large number of British-based bookmakers 

(including William Hill, Coral and Betfair), as well as other operators based elsewhere in the United 

Kingdom and overseas (including Paddy Power, 888.com, Bet365, Skybet and Bwin Party) that have 

entered, and continue to enter, the online market specifically targeting the United Kingdom and Europe. In 

the Australian online market, the Group’s main competitors are William Hill, Paddy Power, Tabcorp and 

Bet365, which is a new company to enter the online market. The Group also competes with companies that 

may have more brand recognition than Ladbrokes in certain markets outside the United Kingdom. There 

are relatively low barriers for a new company to enter the online market, but with the introduction of new 

regulatory and tax arrangements being introduced in the United Kingdom from December 2014 the 

directors of the Company believe that it is difficult for new competitors to achieve significant market share 

without significant infrastructure.

Management of Bookmaking Risk

Risk management is key to running a bookmaking business. A bookmaker’s odds are determined so as to 

provide an average return to the bookmaker over a large number of events and therefore, over the long 

term, the gross win percentage for the Group has remained fairly constant. However, there is an inherently 

high level of variation in gross win percentage event-by-event and day-by-day. As a result, in the short 

term, there is less certainty of generating a positive gross win and the Group has from time to time 

experienced significant losses with respect to individual events or betting outcomes.

The risk of incurring daily losses on a gross win basis is significantly reduced by the averaging effect of 

taking a very large number of individual bets over a considerable number of events and is also tightly 

controlled through a four-stage risk management process. The effectiveness of the risk management process 

relies on:

Expert odds compilation

The Group employs a trading team of over 100 personnel including odds compilers and trading liability

managers. Initial odds are compiled from first principles and the mathematical chance of an outcome based 

on previous results and then adjusted for any market information. For horse racing, greyhounds and sports 

events, the odds are compiled by specific individuals within the trading team and with expert knowledge of 

the sport. The process also uses information from consultants, sports websites, news gathering agencies and 

betting markets. Once odds are compiled and published, real-time risk management processes are applied to 

monitor and adjust the total level of risk on each event. The Company considers the Group’s team of 

compilers and trading liability managers to be of high quality, with the appropriate knowledge and expertise 

to operate successfully in the current market.

Access to up-to-date information

Access to market information is needed both before odds are compiled and after odds are published. The 

Group relies on information compiled from its knowledge of the betting and gaming industry, including the 

sports concerned and its participants, both to the extent available in the media generally and from 

information at events. The Group also relies on information about its potential liabilities from overall 

betting patterns and total amount bet on particular outcomes drawn from its telephone betting and online 

channels and from its betting shops, as well as certain individual bets that are referred before acceptance or 

notified subsequently, because of the source or size.
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The above information enables management to assess the probability of each possible outcome based on a 

wide range of up-to-date information, to assess potential exposure on each possible outcome and to 

determine whether bet acceptance should be limited on certain possible outcomes. Management may also 

change the odds on a particular event or consider whether to hedge to reduce risk.

Tightly controlled bet acceptance limits

The Group is under no obligation to accept any bet. Where a bet is considered undesirable by management, 

it will be refused or accepted in part, with or without adjusted odds. For different types of bets the Group 

sets limits for betting shops on stake value and potential liability at which bets must be notified (that is, 

reported after acceptance) or referred. Referred bets are accepted only after management approval, based on 

latest information about the event, potential liability and the customer’s historical betting pattern with the 

Group (if any). The telephone betting channel operates in a similar way with agents referring bets to trading 

liability managers above a set limit for the event/customer. The online sports betting system contains an 

automatic procedure whereby liability limits are pre-set by management on individual events, for customers 

generally and, if appropriate, for specific customers. In practice, the proportion of bets refused is extremely 

small.

Effective hedging in the horse race betting markets

A large proportion of horse racing bets are placed at starting prices which are not established by the Group 

but are derived from the on-track betting markets. The purpose of hedging is to reduce potential liabilities 

by affecting the starting price of a potential outcome. Hedging bets placed on-track may shorten the odds of 

a selection and hence reduce the Group’s potential liabilities. The decision to hedge is dependent on the size 

of potential liabilities, the number of potential outcomes that might cause a loss and whether placing bets in 

the market would influence the odds at a commercially acceptable cost. In some instances the trading team 

may also hedge liabilities into the exchange market.

Most bookmakers offering horse race bets engage in hedging. The bookmakers may have similar risk 

profiles and accordingly, benefit from the hedging policies of other bookmakers in these markets. The 

Group stakes vary each year depending on the level of activity required, with £6 million hedged into the 

on-course and exchange markets in 2013.

Unlike Ladbrokes’ bookmaking products, all of the products offered through the gaming machines and 

online casino have a theoretical likelihood of success for the customer which is transparent. Hedging is not 

required. There is no trading risk on the Group’s poker product as the Group’s income comprises a 

percentage of the total pot in each game known as a ‘rake’, except in tournaments where a one-off entry fee 

is charged.

Information Systems

The Group operates a number of information and communication systems in order to support its business. 

Information technology at Ladbrokes is managed in-house by a team of IT professionals and the department 

is structured in a manner which the Company believes, is suited to meet the needs of the business. The live 

information systems are supported by 150 in-house staff backed up by external support from manufacturers 

and suppliers, often under support agreements tailored to the needs of Ladbrokes. The principal systems 

operated by the Group are set out below.

(A) Betting shop text and audio systems

The Group operates betting shop text and audio systems which provide real-time information by 

satellite links to each betting shop. The Group’s latest odds, prices from the race tracks and results as 

they occur are constantly displayed on the multi-screen information display systems and broadcast 

over audio by the Group’s own commentators. Due to the importance of these systems to the 

Group’s business, they are backed up by a network infrastructure that allows any betting shop to 
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obtain text, audio or both in the event of a fault occurring in the Group’s satellite receiving 

equipment. In the event of a satellite failure, the back-up system capacity is sufficient to support the 

Group’s betting shops.

(B) Betting shop video system

The Group operates a video system which transmits live television pictures and audio commentaries 

of, and data relating to, horse and greyhound races and certain numbers draws by satellite to its 

betting shops in Great Britain, Ireland and Spain. The service is currently provided by:

 Satellite Information Services Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SIS, an entity co-

founded and currently owned jointly by the Group and other entities, including William Hill 

and Betfred; and

 Turf TV, a joint venture between Alphameric plc and Racing UK, itself a joint venture 

between 34 of the 58 British horse racing tracks.

(C) Online Sportsbook systems

The Group operates sportsbook systems which comprises front-end web servers and back-end 

application servers. The front-end web servers deliver web pages to customers’ browsers. The back-

end application servers carry out bet settling, customer accounting and event management functions.

For the United Kingdom, the complete data underpinning these systems is currently replicated over 

multiple locations providing robust data recovery arrangements with appropriate redundancy across 

data centres in Swindon, Rayners Lane and Gibraltar. In addition, Ladbrokes has disaster recovery 

capabilities running out of a further data centre in Leeds.

Internationally, there are further facilities in Belgium and Australia that support the technology for 

each local market, in retail and online respectively.

(D) Online Gaming Systems

Ladbrokes’ Digital games products offerings are based in Gibraltar and use software provided under 

licence from a variety of providers. Customers connect over the internet to Ladbrokes’ servers in 

Gibraltar for certain gaming products, or to each relevant supplier’s servers in a variety of 

jurisdictions in which those services are regulated and licensed.

(E) Telephone betting systems

The Group operates a telephone betting system, which comprises call handling, bet capture and bet 

settling systems. Call handling allows calls to be routed and prioritised according to customer 

profile. The systems have direct links to payment providers for the authorisation of debit card 

transactions and the payment of winnings.

(F) Betting risk management system

The Group’s betting risk management system provides real-time information on the Group’s 

estimated liabilities on an event-by-event basis. All bets taken over the telephone and online, 

together with the majority of bets from 100 representative betting shops and referrals and 

notifications from all betting shops, are entered into a consolidated field book that provides a real-

time overview of Group-wide estimated liabilities.

(G) Payment processing systems

The Group outsources payment processing functions in respect of its online and telephone betting 

channels to Datacash. Debit card payments made by customers in the Group’s betting shops are 

processed by Barclays.
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(H) Customer support systems

The Group uses third party customer services software provided by Avaya UK to record customer 

contacts in the Group’s retail, online and telephone betting channels. The Group’s customer support 

systems comprise customer services and customer relations telephone helplines based at the Group’s 

registered office, together with an online help centre which allows customers to raise queries and/or 

register complaints via the internet.

(I) Information Technology Disaster Recovery

The Group’s key systems have appropriate redundancy and data replication across data centres. Data 

centres are located in Swindon, Rayners Lane and Gibraltar, with disaster recovery facilities based in 

a further data centre in Leeds. Fully documented and tested data recovery and systems recovery 

plans are in place with business continuity strongly emphasised. These arrangements are inspected 

and audited regularly.

Supplier Relationships

Ladbrokes has a number of key suppliers who provide products and services to the Group. During 2014, 

Ladbrokes intends to launch a strategic supplier relationship management programme. This programme will 

identify strategic and critical suppliers and vendors which Ladbrokes will then pro-actively manage. The 

current top tier of suppliers and vendors is currently around 50 across all areas of the business.

In the online channel, Playtech supports Ladbrokes’ poker offering and also supplies casino and gaming

software, Virtue Fusion (which is a division of Gaming Technology Solutions Limited, owned by Playtech) 

provides bingo software, while the Openbet technology platform is used for the Sportsbook.

In the retail channel, the most significant relationships are with SIS, in which Ladbrokes has a 

shareholding, and Turf TV who are the main providers of television pictures, audio and data into the 

Group’s betting shops. There is a new contract with Global Draw to provide fixed-odds betting terminal 

machines across the United Kingdom estate. Global Draw is also important in supplying gaming machine 

content to the majority of the Group’s licensed betting offices in Great Britain. Inspired Gaming is also 

important in supplying virtual racing content to the majority of the Group’s licensed betting offices in Great 

Britain.

Property

The majority of the Group’s real property is occupied under lease and constitutes the premises from which 

its betting shops operate. Of the Group’s 3,704 property interests at 31 December 2013, 3,607 were 

leasehold and 97 were freehold.

Details of the principal properties of the Group are set out below:

Address Description Size

Freehold or

leasehold

Imperial House

Imperial Drive

Rayners Lane

Harrow

Middlesex HA2 7JW

UNITED KINGDOM

Head office 76,150 square feet Leasehold

Suite 6-8

Fifth Floor

Offices related to various 

operational and administrative 

7,029 square feet Leasehold
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Europort

GIBRALTAR

functions of the Group’s Digital 

business

Hilazon 5

Ramat Gan

Tel Aviv

ISRAEL

Ladbrokes Israel offices. Modern 

multi-storey building built in the 

early 2000s in the centre of Tel 

Aviv.

6,730 square feet Leasehold

There are currently no environmental, health and safety issues which will materially affect the Group’s use 

of the assets described above or the Group’s use of its betting shop estate.

Employees

The table below sets out the average weekly number of employees, including Executive Directors, of the 

Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Financial year ended 31 December

2011 2012 2013

United Kingdom................................................................ 13,170 12,290 12,213

European Retail ......................................................................... 1,566 1,456 1,441

Digital........................................................................................ 495 546 747

Telephone Betting................................................................ 199 244 274

Central services ......................................................................... 82 87 88

Total .......................................................................................... 15,512 14,623 14,763

Share capital

As of 23 May 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Prospectus), Ladbrokes 

plc had in issue 952,643,043 ordinary shares of 28 1/3 pence each (of which 31,760,568 are held in treasury 

with voting rights automatically suspended), all of which are fully paid. 

As of 23 May 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Prospectus), Ladbrokes 

Group Finance plc had in issue 18,670,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each, 560,100 ‘A’ Shares of £1.00 

each, 560,100 ‘B’ Shares of £1.00 each and 560,100 ‘C’ Shares of £1.00 each, all of which are fully paid. 

Objects and purposes

The Guarantor has unrestricted objects. The principal objects of the Issuer are set out in paragraph 4 of the 

Issuer’s memorandum of association.
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SECTION 7 – DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

Finance Facilities

Senior Credit Facility Agreements

The Issuer has entered into bilateral agreements with eight separate banks each on substantially similar 

terms (together, the “Senior Credit Facility Agreements”) for the provision by those banks of multi-

currency revolving credit facilities of up to £540 million in aggregate on a committed basis which mature in 

2016. The Issuer is currently in discussions with its lending banks with a view to extending the maturity of 

some or all of the Senior Credit Facility Agreements to 2019 and reducing commitments under and resizing 

some of the Senior Credit Facility Agreements. The principal commercial terms of the Senior Credit 

Facility Agreements are not expected to change. Obligations of the Issuer under the Senior Credit Facility 

Agreements are guaranteed by the Company.

The Issuer agrees to pay interest on the loans advanced to it under the Senior Credit Facility Agreements at 

a percentage rate per annum equal to an aggregate of LIBOR, a margin and in some cases the mandatory 

cost rate, if any. Certain commitment and other fees are payable to the lenders under the Senior Credit 

Facility Agreements.

Covenants

The Senior Credit Facility Agreements have a net borrowings to EBITDA financial covenant of 3.5 times 

and an EBITDA to net borrowing costs financial covenant of 3.0 times.

In addition, the Senior Credit Facility Agreements contain certain other covenants, including, without 

limitation, a restriction on certain sales and other disposals, a restriction on the creation or subsistence of 

security subject to certain exceptions and a restriction on financial indebtedness of subsidiaries of the 

Company (other than the Issuer) subject to certain exceptions.

Change of control, regulatory events and events of default

The Senior Credit Facility Agreements contain change of control provisions, provisions relating to the 

occurrence of regulatory events (including breaches of certain gambling laws) and events of default.

The events of default include, without limitation, failure to make payments under the relevant Senior Credit 

Facility Agreement, breach of the financial covenants mentioned above, breach of other obligations 

contained in the relevant Senior Credit Facility Agreement, breach of representations, certain events of 

liquidation or reorganisation and similar events, insolvency, cross-default in excess of specified amounts, 

suspension of operations, invalidity of the relevant Senior Credit Facilities Agreement and creditors’

process or enforcement of security in respect of property having a value in excess of specified amounts.

If an event of default, a change of control of the Company or a regulatory event occurs, the relevant bank 

may give notice of cancellation of all available commitments and/or declare all outstanding advances, 

together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. On the giving of such notice the 

outstanding amounts would be repayable immediately.

Undrawn commitments

At 31 December 2013, the Group had undrawn committed facilities under the Senior Credit Facility 

Agreements of £333.7 million.

On 23 May 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Prospectus), the Group 

had undrawn committed facilities under the Senior Credit Facility Agreements of £357.8 million.
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Existing Notes/Bonds

The Issuer has issued £225,000,000 7.625 per cent. notes due 2017 (the “2017 Notes”) pursuant to a 

prospectus and a subscription agreement dated 1 March 2010 and a trust deed dated 5 March 2010. 

Payment obligations under the 2017 Notes are guaranteed by the Company.

The 2017 Notes are subject to certain covenants, including, without limitation, (i) a covenant which 

restricts, subject to certain exceptions, the creation or subsistence of security for indebtedness for borrowed 

moneys unless the 2017 Notes are secured equally and rateably with such indebtedness to the satisfaction of 

the trustee of the 2017 Notes (the “Trustee”) (or certain other alternative arrangements are made), (ii) a 

limitation on the incurrence of financial indebtedness by any member of the Group subject to certain 

exceptions and provided that the issuer of the notes and any guarantor may incur indebtedness if the Fixed 

Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the 2017 Notes) is equal to or greater than 2.75 to 1.00 after giving 

effect to the new indebtedness on a pro forma basis and (iii) a covenant which restricts merger, 

consolidation and the sale of substantially all assets, subject to certain exceptions.

The 2017 Notes are also subject to certain events of default, including, without limitation, failure to make 

payments in respect of the 2017 Notes, certain events of liquidation or reorganisation and similar events, 

cessation of payment of debts generally or cessation of business, creditors’ process, insolvency, 

composition with creditors, cross acceleration in excess of specified amounts and breach of other 

obligations under the 2017 Notes.

In an event of default (in certain cases only after certification by the Trustee that the relevant event is, in its 

opinion, materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of such notes) the Trustee may, or if requested 

or directed by a certain proportion of the holders of the 2017 Notes, shall declare the 2017 Notes 

immediately due and payable.

Bank guarantees and letters of credit

Bank guarantees and letters of credit have been issued on behalf of certain subsidiaries of the Company and 

certain joint ventures in which the Group has an interest.

As at 31 December 2013, the principal outstanding amount of such guarantees and letters of credit was 

£13.9 million, of which £7.3 million in principal outstanding amount was issued under one of the Senior 

Credit Facility Agreements. The remainder was issued under certain uncommitted lines of credit. The 

Group has provided cash collateral, or the Company has provided a counter-indemnity, in respect of some 

of the guarantees and letters of credit issued under uncommitted lines of credit.

Certain issue and other fees are payable to the issuers of the bank guarantees and letters of credit.
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SECTION 8 – MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors of the Company

The names, business experience, functions and principal business activities outside the Group of the current 

directors of the Company, as well as the dates of their initial appointment as directors, are set out below.

The business address of each of the directors of the Company is Imperial House, Imperial Drive, Rayners 

Lane, Harrow, Middlesex HA2 7JW.

Director Role Age

Peter Erskine................................................................Chairman 62

Richard I Glynn ................................................................Chief Executive Officer 49

Ian A Bull ................................................................Chief Financial Officer 53

John M Kelly ................................................................

Independent Non-Executive Director and 

Senior Independent Director 67

Sly Bailey ................................................................Independent Non-Executive Director 52

David R Martin................................................................Independent Non-Executive Director 62

Darren Shapland ................................................................Independent Non-Executive Director 47

Christine M Hodgson ................................ Independent Non-Executive Director 49

Richard Moross ................................................................Independent Non-Executive Director 36

Peter Erskine (Chairman)

Peter Erskine was appointed Chairman and a non-executive director in 2009. He is a member of the 

Advisory Committee of Telefónica Europe plc, a non-executive adviser to Telefónica Digital and a director 

of Telefónica S.A. He was Chairman and Chief Executive of O2 until 2008. Prior to this, he held senior 

positions with BT (from 1993 to 2001), Unitel and Mars. He is Chairman of the Advisory Board on 

Strategy at Henley Business School and a member of the Advisory Council of Reading University.

Richard Glynn (Chief Executive Officer)

Richard Glynn was appointed Chief Executive Officer and a director in 2010. He was previously Chairman 

of Sporting Index from 2008 to 2010, having been Chief Executive from 2001. Prior to this, he was Group 

Managing Director of WCT and CEO of Megalomedia PLC. In 2009, he founded Alinsky Partners where 

he worked with management, financial institutions and investors to effect transformation. From 2000 to 

2010, he served as a special trustee of Great Ormond Street Hospital Children’s Charity and from 2008 to 

2010 was a trustee of the Child Health Research Appeal Trust of the UCL Institute of Child Health. 

Between 2010 and 2011, he was a member of the Bookmakers’ Committee of the Horserace Betting Levy 

Board. He is currently a trustee of the Responsible Gambling Trust.

Ian Bull (Chief Financial Officer)

Ian Bull was appointed Chief Financial Officer and a director in 2011. From 2006 to 2011, he was Group Finance 

Director of Greene King plc. Between 1997 and 2005, he held a number of senior positions with BT Group, 

including CEO, BT Retail Enterprises and CFO, BT Retail. Prior to this, he was Vice President, Buena Vista 

Home Entertainment (Walt Disney Group) from 1993 to 1997 and was with Whitbread plc from 1990 to 1993.
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John Kelly (Independent Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director)

John Kelly was appointed a non-executive director and Senior Independent Director in 2010. He was 

founder and Chief Executive of the Gala Coral Group having led a management buy-in from Bass Plc in 

1997 and subsequently became Chairman until 2009. Prior to founding Gala Coral, he was a Board member 

at Mecca Leisure Limited. Until April 2013, he was Chairman of the Trainline.com and was Chairman of 

Novus Leisure Limited from 2011 to 2012. Between 2003 and 2010, he was a Board member of The Prince 

of Wales’ Business in the Community Charity. He is Chairman of Kings Park Capital LLP Advisory Board 

and co-founder of Dunelmia Partners LLP.

Sly Bailey (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Sly Bailey was appointed a non-executive director in 2009. She has been a non-executive director of 

Greencore Group plc since May 2013. Until 2012, she was Chief Executive of Trinity Mirror plc and a non-

executive director and Chairman of the remuneration committee of the Press Association. From 1989 to 

2003, she held senior positions with IPC Media Limited including Chief Executive from 1999. Previously, 

she was senior independent director and remuneration committee Chairman of EMI plc and a non-executive 

director of Littlewoods Plc. She is President of NewstrAid.

David Martin (Independent Non-Executive Director)

David Martin was appointed a non-executive director on 31 October 2013. He has been Chief Executive of 

Arriva plc since 2006, having been Deputy Chief Executive and Group Managing Director of International 

(which is a subsidiary of Arriva plc) from 2005. He joined Arriva on its acquisition of British Bus plc in 

1996, becoming a Board member in 1998. He was previously involved in the acquisition of National 

Express and subsequent management buy-outs leading to the creation of British Bus Group Limited. Prior 

to joining the bus industry in 1986, he held various senior financial positions, including Financial Director 

of Holyhead Group.

Darren Shapland (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Darren Shapland was appointed a non-executive director in 2009. He is a non-executive director of 

Wolseley plc, where he is on the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees, and is a senior 

independent non-executive director of Poundland Group plc. He was Chief Executive of Carpetright plc 

from May 2012 to October 2013, having been a non-executive director for the previous eight months and 

Group Finance Director from 2002 to 2005. Until February 2013, he was Chairman of Sainsbury’s Bank plc 

and was Group Development Director and Chief Financial Officer of J Sainsbury plc between 2005 and 

2011. He was Finance Director of Superdrug Stores plc from 2000 to 2002. Prior to this he held a number 

of senior financial and operational management positions with Arcadia Group plc between 1988 and 2000.

Christine Hodgson (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Christine Hodgson was appointed a non-executive director in May 2012. She has been Executive Chairman 

of Capgemini UK plc since 2011 and a non-executive director of Standard Chartered PLC since September 

2013. She was CEO of Technology Services North West Europe from 2009 to 2010 and CFO of Global 

Outsourcing from 2004 to 2009. Previously she was Corporate Development Director of Ronson Plc and 

held senior positions at Coopers & Lybrand. She is a Board member of The Prince of Wales’ Business in 

the Community Charity and is a board member of MacIntyre Care. She also sits on the Audit Committee of 

The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust.

Richard Moross (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Richard Moross was appointed a non-executive director in May 2012. He is President and CEO of 

Moo.com, the award winning online print business he founded in 2004. Prior to this, he worked for the 

design company, Imagination, sorted.com and the BBC. He is a member of the government’s Tech City 

Advisory Group, which is focused on building a technology cluster in East London, a member of the Young 

Presidents Organisation and the International Academy of Digital Arts and Sciences.
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As at the date of this Prospectus, none of the directors of the Company has any potential conflicts of 

interests between his or her duties to the Company and his or her private interests or other duties to third 

parties.

Board committees of the Company

The Board of the Guarantor is committed to, and in compliance with, high standards of corporate 

governance as set out in the United Kingdom Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) that was published 

in September 2012 by the Financial Reporting Council.

The Senior Independent Director’s role is to satisfy the function outlined in the Code. No one individual 

has unfettered powers of decision making. Peter Erskine satisfied the independence criteria detailed in 

provision A.3.1 of the Code on his appointment as Chairman.

The Code recommends that at least half the members of the Board (excluding the chairman) of a public 

limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom should be independent in character and judgement 

and free from relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their 

judgement.

The Board of the Guarantor has established Nomination, Remuneration and Audit Committees, with 

formally delegated duties and responsibilities, and written terms of reference. From time to time, separate 

committees may be set up by the Board to consider specific issues when the need arises.

The terms of reference of the committees, including their objectives and the authority delegated by them by 

the Board, are available upon request or via the Group’s website and are reviewed at least annually by the 

relevant committee and the Board. All committees have access to independent expert advice.

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to the composition 

of the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and 

experience on the Board, the size, structure and composition of the Board, retirements and appointments of 

additional and replacement directors and will make appropriate recommendations to the Board on such 

matters. The members of the committee are the Chairman of the Board and independent non-executive 

directors. The chairman of the committee is Peter Erskine. The other members are Sly Bailey, David 

Martin, John Kelly and Darren Shapland. The composition of the Nomination Committee complies with the 

recommendations of the Code.

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board in determining its responsibilities in relation to 

remuneration, including making recommendations to the Board on Ladbrokes’ policy and framework on 

executive remuneration and the remuneration of the Chairman, determining the individual remuneration 

and benefits package of each of the executive directors and recommending and monitoring the 

remuneration of senior management below Board level. The Remuneration Committee comprises 

independent non-executive directors and the Chairman of the Board, namely David Martin, Sly Bailey, 

Peter Erskine, Richard Moross and Christine Hodgson. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is 

David Martin. The composition of the Remuneration Committee complies with the recommendations of the 

Code.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities with regard to financial reporting, 

external and internal audits and controls, including reviewing Ladbrokes’ annual financial statements, 

reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit work undertaken by external auditors, advising on the 

appointment of external auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of Ladbrokes’ internal audit activities, 

internal controls and risk management systems. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the 

annual report and accounts and the half-yearly reports remains with the Board. All the members of the 

Audit Committee are independent non-executive directors, namely Darren Shapland, John Kelly and 
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Christine Hodgson. Darren Shapland is chairman of the Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit 

Committee complies with the recommendations of the Code.

Board of Directors of the Issuer

The names, business experience, functions and principal business activities outside the Group of the current 

directors of the Issuer, are set out below.

The business address of each of the directors of the Issuer is Imperial House, Imperial Drive, Rayners Lane, 

Harrow, Middlesex HA2 7JW.

Director Role

Significant activities 

outside the Group

Adrian John Bushnell ................................................................Company Secretary N/A

Ian Alan Bull ................................................................Chief Finance Officer N/A

Vinod Parmar................................................................Group Treasurer N/A

Andrew James Wilson ................................................................Group Financial Controller N/A

As at the date of this Prospectus, none of the directors of the Issuer has any potential conflicts of interests 

between his duties to the Issuer and his private interests or other duties to third parties.
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SECTION 9 –MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Ladbrokes Plc

As at 23 May 2014 (the latest practicable date prior to the date of this Prospectus), and so far as it is known 

to the Company by virtue of the notifications made to it pursuant to the Companies Act 2006 and/or the 

Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules, the name of each person (other than any director of the 

Company) who, directly or indirectly, is interested in an amount of the Company’s issued share capital 

required to be so notified and the percentage of such person’s interest in the share capital of the Guarantor 

is:

Name

Per cent. at 

23 May 2014

Schroders Plc............................................................................................................................ 9.92

Capital Group Companies Inc .................................................................................................. 7.06

FIL Limited .............................................................................................................................. 5.05

Jupiter Asset Management Limited .......................................................................................... 5.00

Deutsche Bank AG ................................................................................................................... 3.67

As at 23 May 2014 (the latest practicable date prior to the date of this Prospectus), the Company is not 

aware of any person who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercises or could exercise control over 

the Company nor is it aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in 

a change in control of the Company.

The interests of the directors of the Company in the share capital of the Company, excluding interests under 

share options and any of the share plans, as at 23 May 2014 (the latest practicable date prior to the date of 

this Prospectus) are shown below:

Name

Ordinary 

Shares of 28⅓ 

pence each in 

the capital of 

the Company 

held as at 23

May 2014

Richard Glynn.......................................................................................................................................... 454,521

Ian Bull .................................................................................................................................................... 431,475

Peter Erskine............................................................................................................................................ 118,095

Sly Bailey ................................................................................................................................................ 10,000

Richard Moross........................................................................................................................................ 5,000

David Martin............................................................................................................................................ 30,000

Darren Shapland ...................................................................................................................................... 25,000

John Kelly................................................................................................................................................ 18,041

Christine Hodgson ................................................................................................................................... 15,000
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Ladbrokes Group Finance Plc

The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. The Guarantor holds the entire issued share 

capital of the Issuer, save for one ordinary share, which is held jointly by the Guarantor and Town and 

County Factors Limited, which is itself a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

As at 23 May 2014 (the latest practicable date prior to the date of this Prospectus), the Issuer is not aware of 

any arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the 

Issuer.
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SECTION 10 – INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the Gambling Industry

The gambling industry comprises, primarily, casinos, bingo halls, licensed betting offices, track-side 

betting, lotteries and online betting and gaming.

Land-based activities remain the channel of choice for the majority of gambling customers. In the United 

Kingdom, land-based gambling falls into two main categories: (i) large format gambling, including casinos 

and bingo halls and (ii) local level gambling, including fixed odds or pari mutual betting (pool betting) and 

gaming machines in licensed betting offices, and lotteries.

Online gambling, including mobile gambling, remains the fastest growing segment of the global gambling 

industry. The primary drivers for growth include the increase in broadband penetration, a broader customer 

demographic and an increase in the usage of mobile devices. It is a highly fragmented market with a large 

number of companies operating in it, although none of these entities has a substantial cross-European 

market share. Ladbrokes believes that sports betting expertise is increasingly important in these markets, 

but difficult to replicate in terms of relevant expertise and technologies, as are scale and expertise in online 

marketing.

Online gambling first started meaningfully in 1998. In countries such as the United Kingdom, Italy and 

France, the long-established private sector retail betting operators such as Ladbrokes, Sindacato Nazionale 

Agenzie Ippiche S.p.A., Sisal S.p.A., le Pari Mutuel Urbain and Francaise des Jeuz L.A.M.A. Loterie 

(SARL) CdP, have successfully taken market share in new online markets particularly in their home 

markets, driven by the strength of their brand profile with the local consumer. However, certain online 

specialists have also performed well, such as Bet365 and Betfair in the United Kingdom, Microgame and 

Giocco Digitale in Italy, and Betclic in France. In many countries gambling is either state-controlled or 

restricted to a small number of licensees. The key jurisdictions where it is possible to take a business-to-

consumer approach are the United Kingdom, Spain, Italy, Australia and the State of Nevada, where the 

granting of licences is less limited.

The advent of online gambling has made national governmental restrictions on gambling more difficult to 

enforce. This has led many governments to review their gambling regulations. This trend has been 

encouraged by governments seeking to tax the online gambling industry as a new source of tax revenues.

The fastest-growing products today are supported by innovations in technology. In the United Kingdom

these include in-play betting and mobile gambling. This requires significant investment in innovation and 

know-how. Many national incumbent operators lack these capabilities, which provides an opportunity for 

those with such expertise.

The importance of having a large-scale operation is also increasing, for instance in making affordable 

investments in technology, marketing and core capabilities such as sports betting trading, or absorbing the 

impact of regulatory changes, or new taxation. International expansion further increases the benefits of 

scale and minimises the risks associated with exposure to any one country.

Ladbrokes believes that changing regulation is a key feature of the gambling industry today, with many 

markets now revising their regulatory regime to cater for the internet. A legal framework typically involves 

the licensing of companies that are required to comply with a domestic regulatory regime and to pay 

gambling taxes in return for being allowed to advertise locally. This is a complex area, with each country 

taking a different approach, but Ladbrokes believes a regulatory framework that ensures fairness to the 

consumer, protection of the vulnerable and the prevention of crime but gives customers access to a broad 

product range and competitive market is a sensible and balanced approach to regulation.
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Many markets are also revising their regulatory regimes and the increasing complexity requires an 

understanding of licensing and tax obligations by more sophisticated operators.

Overview of the United Kingdom Gambling Industry

During the period from April 2012 to March 2013, the British gambling industry generated a gross 

gambling yield of £6.3 billion, a rise of £0.4 billion (7 per cent.) from the same period in 2011 to 2012. 

Licensed betting offices, which combine over-the-counter sports betting and gaming machines, represented 

51 per cent. of this and are the largest single part of the United Kingdom gambling industry. Licensed 

betting offices were first legalised by the United Kingdom government in 1961. There are currently around 

8,700 licensed better shops in the UK, with an estimated 8,500 operational licensed betting offices, having 

peaked at around 14,000 licensed betting offices in the 1980s. Since then, the market has consolidated into 

a handful of major providers and a number of small chains and independent providers. Consolidation across 

the United Kingdom retail gambling market continues as independent providers close while the major 

providers continue to open licensed betting offices, benefitting from the scale of their operations. There are 

now four major businesses accounting for around 80 per cent. of all licensed betting offices in the United 

Kingdom being Ladbrokes, William Hill, Coral and BetFred.

In the past, the retail gambling sector has seen step-changes driven by fiscal and regulatory change. Since 

the turn of the century, there have been a number of positive changes with the move to a more favourable 

gross profits-based tax regime, the introduction of gaming machines and, under the 2005 Gambling Act, the 

legislation of advertising, including on television. Changing customer habits have resulted in licensed 

betting offices opening for longer to provide the flexibility customers demand and in bookmakers offering a 

wider range of betting and gaming products than ever before.

The online gambling sector has been well-established in the United Kingdom since about 1998 and has 

been regulated by the Gambling Commission since 2007, though many operators targeting the United 

Kingdom market are located, licensed and regulated in other jurisdictions such as Gibraltar. From 2015, all 

operators targeting a United Kingdom market will require a United Kingdom Gambling Commission 

licence wherever they are located.

It is estimated that the online gambling sector generated £832.14 million of gross gambling yield in 2013, 

of which sports betting is the biggest contributor at £527.29 million (around 63 per cent. of the total gross 

gambling yield), card games, including poker at £2.55 million (around 0.3 per cent. of the total gross 

gambling yield) and bingo at £2.49 million (around 0.29 per cent. of the total gross gambling yield).

Ladbrokes’ major competitors are Betfair, Bet365, Paddy Power, William Hill and Poker Stars. The 

majority of companies offering online gambling services to the United Kingdom customers are located 

outside the United Kingdom, primarily in Gibraltar.

Regulatory Authorities

Ladbrokes’ business is subject to regulation and/or the grant of licences by various regulatory authorities in 

a number of jurisdictions.

The gambling industry in Great Britain is regulated under the provisions of the Gambling Act which, 

amongst other things, authorises the Gambling Commission to act as the central regulatory body for 

gambling. The Gambling Commission has a duty to permit gambling where it is reasonably consistent with 

the pursuit of the three licensing objectives set out in the Gambling Act: (i) preventing gambling from being 

a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; (ii) 

ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and (iii) protecting children and other 

vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.
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Ladbrokes’ betting shop estate in Great Britain is regulated by the Gambling Commission. In jurisdictions 

outside Great Britain, Ladbrokes’ retail business operates under local licences and is regulated by the 

relevant authorities in Northern Ireland, the Republic of Ireland, Jersey, Belgium and, through its Spanish 

joint venture, in each Spanish territory.

The provision of Ladbrokes’ Telephone Betting is regulated by the Gambling Commission and its High 

Rollers business is regulated in Gibraltar by the Gibraltar Regulation Authority.

The provision of Ladbrokes’ online sports betting, casino, poker and games products (excluding its Danish, 

Spanish and Australian offerings) is regulated in Gibraltar by the Gibraltar Regulation Authority. The 

provision of Ladbrokes’ Danish online offering is regulated in Denmark. The provision of Ladbrokes’ 

Spanish online offering is regulated in Spain. The Ladbrokes Exchange business is regulated in Gibraltar by 

the Gibraltar Regulation Authority. The Betdaq business in regulated in Gibraltar (as regards business to 

business activities) and in Alderney (as regards business to customer activities). The provision of 

Ladbrokes’ Australian online offering is regulated in Australia and Ladbrokes holds a gambling licence

issued by the Norfolk Island Gaming Authority for those operations.

Regulation

United Kingdom licensing for land-based betting and gaming

There are three licence types that have been issued to members of the Group and their directors and 

employees to enable them to operate in Great Britain. The first is an operating licence issued to the relevant 

trading company by the Gambling Commission. Two members of the Group hold Ladbrokes’ operating 

licences. The second licence type is a personal management licence. The Gambling Commission specifies 

certain senior roles within the organisation that must be undertaken by a personal management licence 

holder. Ladbrokes currently has 32 personal management licence holders. The third licence type is a 

premises licence which is issued by the relevant local authority. Ladbrokes holds a separate premises 

licence for each of its licensed betting offices. The Gambling Commission has issued licence conditions 

and codes of practice for each type of licence with which operators must comply.

Each licensed betting office in Great Britain is licensed to provide up to four B2/B3 gaming machines. The 

operation of gaming machines is subject to both The Gaming Machine (Circumstance of Use) Regulations 

2007 and the Gambling Commission’s Machine Standards requirements, all of which Ladbrokes complies 

with in each licensed betting office where gaming machines are installed.

Other jurisdictions in which the Group has retail operations include:

(A) Northern Ireland where the Group is regulated under the provisions of the Lotteries and 

Amusements (Northern Ireland) Order 1985 (as amended) with the betting shops estate in Northern 

Ireland licensed by the local magistrates courts;

(B) the Republic of Ireland, where the Group is regulated under the Betting Act 1931. Bookmaker’s 

licenses and betting shop licences are required to operate betting shops in the Republic of Ireland. 

Licences must be renewed annually and must be approved by the police and the Office of the 

Revenue Commissioners in the Republic of Ireland. Licences cannot be held by corporations and the 

requisite licence for the betting shop estate in the Republic of Ireland are held by individuals on 

behalf of Ladbrokes;

(C) Belgium, where sports betting is licensed by the Ministry of Finance in Belgium, Ladbrokes is 

licensed to offer bets on non-Belgian horse racing in its betting shop estate in Belgium but no bets 

are permitted on horse racing or on non-sporting events in Belgium;

(D) Jersey, where the Group is regulated under the Gambling (Betting) (Jersey) Regulations 1965. 

Bookmarker’s licences and betting shop licences are required to operate betting shops in Jersey; and
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(E) Spain, where the Group has a retail presence in Spain via its joint venture operations, which are 

appropriately licensed by the applicable regulatory authorities.

Ladbrokes has policies and procedures in place which seek to ensure that the Group complies with the 

terms and conditions of its licences both in Great Britain and overseas.

Online betting and gaming

A driver of growth in the online gambling market globally is expected to be the trend for countries to 

regulate their online gambling sectors. The establishment of stable regulatory and tax regimes provides 

potential opportunities for market participants to grow their businesses. Evidence of this trend is apparent in 

the regulatory changes that have taken place in a number of European countries over recent years such as 

Spain and Italy. However, a number of countries have implemented or are considering implementing 

regimes that are unattractive to commercial operators (for example, by banning particular products or 

imposing high tax rates on gambling transactions). In some cases countries have tried to prohibit online 

gambling altogether. Such actions are likely to inhibit market growth. Further changes to tax and 

regulation, both positive and negative, are likely but the timing and nature of these changes are difficult to 

predict.

The United Kingdom was the first European country specifically to regulate online gambling, pursuant to 

the Gambling Act. The ease of internet access and issues of effective control have led more EU countries to 

review their regulatory approach, further encouraged by the European Commission. For example, Italy, 

France, Denmark and Spain have already done so. Discussions are continuing in other countries such as 

Greece and Germany.

The unfavourable levels of taxation in the United Kingdom have led to significant portions of the industry 

being based outside the United Kingdom, primarily in Gibraltar. As a result, a majority of online businesses 

owned by United Kingdom bookmakers have been established offshore in order to remain competitive. In 

2011, the Department of Culture, Media and Sport began a consultation process on the regulation of remote 

gambling with a view to regulating at the point of consumption, rather than the point of supply. This 

consultation is now closed and draft legislation has been published. This approach would require 

companies transacting with United Kingdom residents to be licensed by the Gambling Commission, 

regardless of where that company was based. HM Treasury has indicated that the Remote Gaming Duty, 

which will extend the gross profits tax to offshore bookmakers at a rate of 15 per cent., will come into 

effect on 1 December 2014. As indicated above, the tax will be levied on the place of consumption 

(meaning the place where the customer resides) and will mean that all bets placed by customers resident in 

the United Kingdom will be caught irrespective of where that customer places the bet.

The provision of Ladbrokes’ online sports betting, casino, poker, bingo and games products (excluding its 

Danish, Spanish and Australian online offerings) is regulated in Gibraltar and Ladbrokes holds gambling 

licences issued by the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority for these operations. The provision of Ladbrokes 

Australian online offering is regulated in Australia and Ladbrokes holds a gambling licence issued by the 

Norfolk Island Gaming Authority for those operations. The Ladbrokes Exchange business is regulated in 

Gibraltar by the Gibraltar Regulation Authority. The Betdaq business in regulated in Gibraltar (as regards 

business to business activities) and in Alderney (as regards business to customer activities). The Ladbrokes 

online business accepts bets and wagers in Gibraltar where it is licensed to do so. However, people 

accessing Ladbrokes’ websites may be located in any country. It is the customer’s responsibility to ensure 

that transacting with Ladbrokes is legal in the jurisdiction in which they are located, which is made clear in 

the terms and conditions of the Group’s websites.

The Group’s legal and regulatory teams actively monitor developments in respect of all jurisdictions in 

which they believe there are material risks to the Group. Ladbrokes has taken the decision that it will not 

accept online business from customers located in certain jurisdictions, such as the United States. The Group 

takes external legal advice in respect of any jurisdiction that contributes half of one per cent. or more of 
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Ladbrokes revenues or unique active players. The Group does not monitor the legal or regulatory position 

for all countries in which its customers may be located or from which its advertisements can be accessed 

via the internet (through websites of its affiliates or otherwise) and it may therefore be subject to the 

application of existing laws and regulations of which it is not aware. None of the markets from which the 

Group accepts bets or wagers without a local licence or, based on legal advice, certainty as to the 

lawfulness of such acceptance, individually, contribute more than one per cent. of Group revenue or more 

than three per cent. of Ladbrokes online revenue.

Where considered necessary, the Board of Directors of the Company obtains independent legal advice 

concerning the scope and applicability of gambling laws and regulations in respect of particular 

jurisdictions. This advice is used to modify the Group’s default approach in relation to doing business in 

any particular jurisdiction (as set out above) on a case-by-case basis and, based on the relevant jurisdiction, 

the Group undertakes procedures in order to mitigate any such risks. Ladbrokes has systems and controls in 

place which seek to ensure that the Group does not offer gambling products via the internet into 

jurisdictions from which it has determined it does not wish to accept transactions. The systems and controls 

include monitoring and analysing information provided by potential customers’ registered addresses, IP 

addresses and payment methods. In particular, Ladbrokes does not accept any online transactions from 

customers in the United States.

In Australia, interactive and internet gambling is regulated by each individual state, in each case applicable 

to gaming and sports betting activities conducted within such a state, and the Interactive Gambling Act 

2001 (Cth) (the “Interactive Gambling Act”) which purports to regulate certain types of interactive and 

internet gambling occurring both within and outside Australia. The Group currently holds a licence issued 

by the Norfolk Island Gaming Authority.

Telephone Betting

The provision of Ladbrokes’ telephone betting is regulated in Great Britain and Ladbrokes holds remote 

operating licences issued by the Gambling Commission for these operations. Ladbrokes’ High Rollers 

business is regulated in Gibraltar by the Gibraltar Regulation Authority.

European online regulation

As Ladbrokes’ online operations are regulated in EU or European Economic Area jurisdictions, the Group 

is able to advertise in the United Kingdom and to benefit from the principles that apply in the EU to the free 

movement of goods and services.

The Group accepts transactions from customers for certain products from certain European jurisdictions. 

There are instances of European betting and gaming operators being (i) prosecuted by a relevant authority 

or (ii) sued by a monopoly right holder or other significant market participant for offering their products 

and services in a particular European state in which they are not licensed or otherwise regulated. Member 

States are required to abide by principles of freedom of establishment and free movement of services under 

EU law. Ladbrokes believes that the Group’s activities in Member States where the Group is not licensed or 

otherwise regulated in a manner consistent with applicable EU rules are permitted by such principles. 

However, the extent to which national courts in European jurisdictions will implement principles of EU law 

is uncertain as Member States are afforded a degree of discretion in such implementation. As a result, the 

Group and the Directors may face criminal or civil claims in these jurisdictions as a consequence of their 

actions regardless of whether such actions are in accordance with EU law. In addition, the relevant 

regulatory authority, monopoly right holder or other significant market participant could take action against 

the Group’s service providers in such countries. To the extent that the domestic laws or any prosecutions, 

suits or other determinations of a national court of a Member State do not respect EU law, such actions may 

fall within the jurisdiction of the ECJ to which reference may be made. On such a reference, the ECJ may 

scrutinise such domestic laws, prosecutions, suits or other determinations and determine the legality of such 

operator’s activities pursuant to EU law. The ECJ may determine that the actions of the relevant Member 
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States are proportionate and objectively protect a matter of public policy within the competence of such 

Member State, such as social responsibility matters or fighting fraud or criminality, in which case such 

restrictions may be justified. If the ECJ finds that such an authority, monopoly right holder or other 

significant market participant’s actions result from laws which are discriminatory, disproportionate or not 

objectively justifiable, such restrictions on the operator’s activities may be found to be in contravention of 

EU law.

Although the regulatory regime for land-based gambling operations is well established in many countries, 

the gambling laws in such countries will not necessarily have been amended to take account of the internet 

and the ability to offer gambling products online. There is uncertainty as to the legality of online gambling 

in a number of countries and consequently in some jurisdictions online gambling may be illegal. In certain 

countries local regulators are willing to license and regulate local and often state-owned operators, but 

prohibit foreign operators.

Online gaming is a regulated sector for money laundering pursuant to the third EU Money Laundering 

Directive (no. 2005/60/EC) and in the United Kingdom the Group also adheres to the proceeds of Crime 

Act 2002. It has put in place a number of processes to detect and report suspicious activity, and to handle 

requests for assistance from law enforcement agencies and regulators, all of which is overseen by the 

Group’s MLRO. In 2011, the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority implemented its Anti-Money Laundering 

Code of Practice. Ladbrokes has put in place systems for training, reporting, customer due diligence, 

monitoring of customer activity, record keeping and screening of risk customers.

United Kingdom Industry Issues

Costs of content

Horserace Betting Levy

The British betting industry supports the British horse racing industry via the Horserace Betting Levy, a 

subsidy now based on the gross win from bets struck in the United Kingdom on horse races held in the 

United Kingdom. This levy arrangement has been established on a statutory basis since off-course betting 

was legalised in 1961. The Horserace Betting Levy is an annual scheme with representatives of all classes 

of bookmakers (comprising the Bookmakers Committee) responsible to the Horserace Betting Levy Board 

for recommending the basis of each year’s scheme. When the Horserace Betting Levy Board and the 

Bookmakers Committee cannot agree a basis, the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport 

determines the outcome; this last occurred in 2011 for the 2012/13 scheme (effective 1 April 2012 to 31 

March 2013). For the 2014/15 scheme, agreement was reached for the Horserace Betting Levy to continue 

to be set at 10.75 per cent. As announced in the 2014 Budget, the United Kingdom government will consult 

on extending the Horserace Betting Levy to offshore bookmakers. The power to extend the Horserace 

Betting Levy to overseas bookmakers is granted by the Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act.

Greyhound levy

Ladbrokes contributes voluntarily to the British Greyhound Racing Fund which is the official funding body 

for greyhound racing in Britain as licensed by the Greyhound Board of Great Britain: www.gbgb.org.uk. 

Grants from the British Greyhound Racing Fund cover all aspects of welfare, integrity, development and 

promotion of the sport and the British Greyhound Racing Fund works closely with the Greyhound Board of 

Great Britain. In the financial year 2012-2013, £8 million was collected from bookmakers’ voluntary 

contributions (bookmakers are requested to pay 0.6 per cent. of their greyhound turnover to the British 

Greyhound Racing Fund).

Other sports

Whilst the Group pays licence fees to content suppliers for their established intellectual property rights, the 

Group does not pay for the right to bet on other sports.
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The issue of a sports or betting right has been raised in the past but to date, there have been no concrete 

developments affecting the Group from this suggestion. In its announcement on the Horserace Betting Levy 

in the 2014 Budget the Chancellor did refer to a ‘Racing Right’ as one of the options under consideration as 

a replacement for the Horserace Betting Levy along with a number of other options and this will be subject 

to a formal consultation process.

Responsible gambling

Given that the industry remains the subject of public debate, Ladbrokes considers itself to be responsible, as 

a leading brand in the industry, for providing relevant data and information to support public decision 

making and industry research and to work with peers and government bodies to improve standards in 

responsible betting and gaming. Problem gambling is an industry-recognised term for what a psychiatrist 

would call a spectrum disorder covering a range of symptoms associated with gambling, from someone 

being unhappy about their gambling to a medically diagnosed mental health issue. The issue of problem 

gambling is taken seriously by the industry. The United Kingdom government expects the gambling 

industry to act in a socially responsible way and to contribute to funding for support for those with 

gambling problems. Ladbrokes takes this duty very seriously. For example:

(i) Ladbrokes has embraced the new legislative regime in Great Britain and fully supports the 

Gambling Commission’s three key licensing objectives to keep crime out of gambling, to ensure 

gambling is conducted fairly and openly and to protect children and vulnerable people from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling;

(ii) Ladbrokes has for many years supported the Association of British Bookmakers and the Remote 

Gambling Association in establishing industry-wide social responsibility standards and promoting 

self-regulation, having been involved with the Remote Gambling Association in developing the new 

Code for Socially Responsible Advertising and having remained active in the discussions with the 

Association of British Bookmakers over the potential levy for research, education and treatment for 

problem gambling; and

(iii) Ladbrokes was a founding member of the GREaT Foundation (formerly the Responsibility in 

Gambling Trust), the Independent Betting Adjudication Service and, through the Responsibility in 

Gambling Trust, supports GamCare and the Gordon Moody Association (formerly Gordon House).

The 2010 Gambling Prevalence Study was published in February 2011 by the Gambling Commission. It 

showed no significant increase in overall levels of problem gambling since the last study was undertaken in 

2007. The Issuer believes that the vast majority of the Group’s customers enjoy its products responsibly. 

The Group does not believe there is evidence that supports the proposition that any single product is 

responsible for causing problem gambling.

Taxation

In addition to the customary business taxes, the gambling industry is also subject to specific additional 

taxes. In relation to gambling operators in the United Kingdom, these are: (i) betting duty calculated at 15 

per cent. of gross win and (ii), since 1 February 2013, Machine Games Duty, charged at 20 per cent. on 

revenue from gaming machines, which will be increased from 1 March 2015 to 25 per cent. The Group’s 

retail operation is subject to these taxes.

The Group’s online gambling operations are located in Gibraltar and Australia and are subject to the taxes 

in those jurisdictions. With regard to Gibraltar, the provision of Ladbrokes’ online casino, poker and games 

products are subject to an internet casino gaming tax currently levied at 1.0 per cent. of gaming yield or 

gross profit and the Sportsbook operations are subject to a gaming tax currently levied at 1.0 per cent. of 

turnover, in each case subject to a minimum annual tax of £85,000 and a maximum annual tax of £425,000.
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The 2014 Budget introduced a number of significant changes to the taxation and regulation of gambling in 

the United Kingdom, which will result in the basis of taxation moving from a point of supply to a point of 

consumption basis and a requirement for operators targeting United Kingdom customers to have a 

Gambling Commission licence. HM Treasury has indicated that it anticipates introducing a point of 

consumption based tax on gross win for online sportsbook activities and net revenue for gaming activities 

at a rate of 15 per cent. from 1 December 2014. It also introduced a provision to extend the Horserace 

Betting Levy to offshore operators. As a significant amount of Ladbrokes online business comes from 

United Kingdom-based customers, implementation of this legislation is likely to have a significant impact 

on the Group’s results of operations. The Chancellor also announced in the 2014 Budget that the duty 

imposed on type 3 gaming machines in betting shops is to increase from 20 to 25 per cent. with effect from 

1 March 2015.

Impact of the economy

The Group derives most of its revenues from the United Kingdom. The current economic climate and the 

pressure on consumer incomes make for challenging conditions for companies operating in consumer-

facing sectors such as the betting industry, but for most customers it is a low-ticket leisure activity which 

has provided some resilience during times of economic difficulty. Furthermore, economic conditions have 

not prevented some market sectors of the betting and gaming industry, such as online gambling, from 

growing.

The Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act

The Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act (the “Gambling Act”) received Royal Assent on 14 May 

2014.

The Gambling Act (amongst other provisions) introduces a requirement that any provider of facilities being 

used for gambling in Great Britain will need to be licensed by the Gambling Commission. The Gambling 

Act also introduces an offence of advertising offshore gambling which is not licensed by the Gambling 

Commission if such gambling can take place in Great Britain.

Government Proposals

The regulation of the betting and gaming industry in Great Britain continues to have a high profile in the 

media and among politicians. On 30 April 2014, the Department of Culture, Media and Sport published a 

statement following completion of its review of the regulation of the betting industry (and, in particular, the 

use of fixed-odds betting terminals). As a result, the Department of Culture, Media and Sport has proposed 

changes to the regulation of the industry which are expected to take effect from October 2014.

The United Kingdom government intends to impose additional restrictions on the use of fixed-odds betting 

terminals, including (i) requiring customers who want to bet over £50 in one play to use account-based play 

or to pay over the counter before they can play so that they have to interact with staff, (ii) changing the 

rules so that at the start of play machine users must be presented with a choice to set limits on how much 

they want to spend and how long they want to play for, (iii) requiring larger operators to offer customer 

accounts and encourage take up so that players can track and monitor their spending, (iv) providing regular 

warning messages and pauses in play to encourage players to be more aware of their gambling and (v) 

strengthening the voluntary self-exclusion system so that players can make a single request to be banned 

from betting shops on a wider basis.

In addition, following widespread media coverage about the clustering of betting shops in residential areas, 

the Department of Culture, Media and Sport has concluded that local authorities should be afforded power 

to place restrictions on the opening of new betting shops. As a result, bookmakers which want to open new 

shops will have to submit a planning application for change of use and local councils will be able to refuse 

applications and stop new betting shops opening in their area. 
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The statement published by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport also indicates that the United 

Kingdom government may take steps to implement measures to protect players by introducing additional 

controls on advertising in order to protect customers, including requiring betting firms to show how they 

are complying with social responsibility codes, ensuring that there are controls to protect the vulnerable in 

society and working with the industry to prevent underage gambling.
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SECTION 11 – DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents have been filed with the FCA by the Issuer and the Guarantor (the “Filed 

Documents”):

(a) the Group’s annual report and accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2012;

(b) the Group’s annual report and accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2013;

(c) the Issuer’s annual report and accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2012; and

(d) the Issuer’s annual report and accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

The tables below set out the page number references for certain sections of the Filed Documents. The sections 

denoted by those page number references form part of this Prospectus and are referred to in this Prospectus as 

the “information incorporated by reference”.

Audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 as contained 

in the Guarantor’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Page number in Report 

and Accounts 2012

Group Consolidated Income Statement Page 60

Group Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 61

Group Consolidated Balance Sheet Page 62 

Group Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 63

Group Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Page 64 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements Pages 65 – 102 

Independent Auditor’s Report Page 104

Audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 as contained 

in the Guarantor’s Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Page number in Report 

and Accounts 2013

Group Consolidated Income Statement Page 57

Group Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 58

Group Consolidated Balance Sheet Page 59

Group Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 60

Group Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Page 61 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements Pages 62 – 97

Independent Auditor’s Report Pages 99 – 100

Audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2012 as contained 

in the Issuer’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012
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Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Page number in Report 

and Accounts 2012

Issuer Consolidated Income Statement Page 6

Issuer Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 7

Issuer Consolidated Balance Sheet Page 8

Issuer Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 9

Issuer Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Page 10

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements Pages 11 - 33

Independent Auditor’s Report Page 5

Audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2013 as contained 

in the Issuer’s Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Page number in Report 

and Accounts 2013

Issuer Consolidated Income Statement Page 7

Issuer Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 8

Issuer Consolidated Balance Sheet Page 9

Issuer Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Page 10

Issuer Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Page 11

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements Pages 12 - 33

Independent Auditor’s Report Page 6

To the extent that any statement that is contained in the information incorporated by reference is modified or 

superseded (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise) for the purpose of this Prospectus by a statement 

contained in this Prospectus, such statements will not, except as so modified or superseded, form a part of this 

Prospectus.

Any documents which are themselves incorporated by reference in the information incorporated by reference in 

this Prospectus will not form part of this Prospectus.

Those parts of the Filed Documents other than the information incorporated by reference are either not relevant 

for prospective investors in the Bonds or the relevant information is included elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Physical copies of the Filed Documents can be obtained without charge from the registered office of the Group at 

Imperial House, Imperial Drive, Rayners Lane, Harrow, Middlesex HA2 7JW and electronic copies of such 

documents can be obtained at the Guarantor’s website at: http://www.ladbrokesplc.com/investor-

centre/reports.aspx or at: http://www.ladbrokesplc.com/investor-centre/debt-information/bonds.aspx
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SECTION 12 – SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Under a subscription agreement expected to be dated on or about 13 June 2014 (the “Subscription 

Agreement”), the Joint Lead Managers are expected to agree to procure subscribers for the Bonds at the 

issue price of 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Bonds, less arrangement, management and 

distribution fees. The Joint Lead Managers will receive combined fees of 0.9 per cent. of the nominal 

amount of the Bonds, out of which the Authorised Offerors will be eligible to receive a distribution fee of

up to 0.5 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Bonds allotted to them. The Issuer will also reimburse the 

Joint Lead Managers in respect of certain of their expenses incurred in connection with the issue of the 

Bonds. The Subscription Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to the issue of the 

Bonds. The issue of the Bonds will not be underwritten by the Joint Lead Managers, the Authorised 

Offerors or any other person.

Selling Restrictions

Under the terms of the Subscription Agreement, the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers are expected to 

agree to comply with the selling restrictions set out below. The Authorised Offerors are also required to 

comply with these restrictions, under the Authorised Offeror Terms. See Section 15 (Important Legal 

Information – Consent).

United States

The Bonds and the Bonds Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the United States 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and the Bonds and the Bonds Guarantee are 

subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Bonds may not be offered, sold or 

delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Each Joint Lead 

Manager and each Authorised Offeror will agree that it will not offer, sell or deliver any Bonds within the 

United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

United Kingdom

Each of the Joint Lead Managers and each Authorised Offeror will represent and agree that:

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 

communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 

section 21 of FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Bonds in 

circumstances in which section 21(1) of FSMA would not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything 

done by it in relation to any Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Jersey

Each of the Joint Lead Managers and each Authorised Offeror will represent and agree that it has not made 

and will not make an offer of Bonds which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus 

in Jersey, save to the extent that it is authorised, or otherwise permitted, to do so pursuant to the Financial 

Services (Jersey) Law 1998 and/or the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958.

Guernsey

Each of the Joint Lead Managers and each Authorised Offeror will represent and agree that:

(a) the Bonds cannot be marketed, offered or sold in or to persons resident in Guernsey other than in 

compliance with the licensing requirements of the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) 

Law 1987, as amended, and the regulations enacted thereunder, or any exemption therefrom;
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(b) this Prospectus has not been approved or authorised by the Guernsey Financial Services 

Commission for circulation in Guernsey; and

(c) this Prospectus may not be distributed or circulated, directly or indirectly, to any persons in the 

Bailiwick of Guernsey other than:

(i) by a person licensed to do so under the terms of the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of 

Guernsey) Law 1987, as amended; or

(ii) to those persons regulated by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission as licensees 

under the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law 1987, as amended, the 

Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law 1994, the Insurance Business (Bailiwick 

of Guernsey) Law 2002 or the Regulation of Fiduciaries, Administration Businesses and 

Company Directors, etc. (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2000.

Isle of Man

Each of the Joint Lead Managers and each Authorised Offeror will represent and agree that:

(a) the Bonds have not been and will not be marketed, offered or sold in or to persons resident in the 

Isle of Man other than in compliance with the Isle of Man Financial Services Act 2008, as amended, 

and the regulations enacted thereunder, or any exemption therefrom;

(b) the Prospectus has not been approved or authorised by the Isle of Man Financial Supervision 

Commission for circulation in the Isle of Man; and

(c) the Prospectus has not been and will not be distributed or circulated, directly or indirectly, to any 

persons in the Isle of Man other than:

(i) by a person licensed to do so under section 7 of the Isle of Man Financial Services Act 2008, 

as amended; or

(ii) in accordance with any relevant exclusion contained within the Isle of Man Regulated 

Activities Order 2011, as amended or exemption contained in the Isle of Man Financial 

Services (Exemptions) Regulations 2011, as amended. 

Participants in Ladbrokes Group Finance plc are not protected by any statutory compensation scheme in the 

Isle of Man.

Public offer selling restriction under the Prospectus Directive

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus 

Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each of the Joint Lead Managers and each Authorised 

Offeror will represent and agree that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus 

Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not 

made and will not make an offer of Bonds which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this 

Prospectus to the public in that Relevant Member State other than the offers contemplated in the Prospectus 

in the United Kingdom from the time the Prospectus has been approved by the competent authority in the 

United Kingdom and published in accordance with the Prospectus Directive as implemented in the United 

Kingdom until the Issue Date or such later date as the Issuer may permit, except that it may, with effect 

from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Bonds to the public in that 

Relevant Member State:

(a) to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 100, or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 

2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined 
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in the Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior consent of each of the Joint Lead 

Managers and Authorised Offerors; or

(c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Bonds referred shall require the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers or the 

Authorised Offerors to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement 

a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

In this provision, the expression an “offer of Bonds to the public” in relation to any Bonds in any Relevant 

Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the 

terms of the offer and the Bonds to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe 

the Bonds, as the same may be varied in that Relevant Member State by any measure implementing the 

Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 

2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive to the extent 

implemented in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each 

Relevant Member State, the expression “PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.

General

No action will be taken by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers or the Authorised Offerors 

that would, or is intended to, permit a public offer of the Bonds in any country or jurisdiction other than the 

United Kingdom where any such action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, each of the Joint Lead 

Managers will agree that it will comply to the best of its knowledge and belief in all material respects with 

all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers Bonds 

or has in its possession or distributes this Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or any other 

offering material.
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SECTION 13 – TAXATION

General 

The comments below are of a general nature and are not intended to be exhaustive. They assume that there 

will be no substitution of the Issuer or the Guarantor or further issues of securities that will form a single 

series with the Bonds, and do not address the consequences of any such substitution or further issue 

(notwithstanding that such substitution or further issue may be permitted by the terms and conditions of the 

Bonds). Any Bondholders who are in doubt as to their own tax position should consult their professional 

advisers.

United Kingdom Taxation

The comments in this part are based on current United Kingdom tax law as applied in England and Wales 

and HM Revenue & Customs practice (which may not be binding on HM Revenue & Customs). They 

describe only the United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments under the Bonds and certain 

information reporting requirements. They do not deal with any other United Kingdom taxation implications 

of acquiring, holding or disposing of the Bonds. They do not necessarily apply where the income is deemed 

for tax purposes to be the income of any other person. They relate only to the position of persons who are 

the absolute beneficial owners of their Bonds and Coupons. In particular, Bondholders holding their Bonds

via a depositary receipt system or clearance service should note that they may not always be the beneficial 

owners thereof. Certain classes of persons such as dealers, certain professional investors, or persons 

connected with the Issuer may be subject to special rules and this summary does not apply to such 

Bondholders.

United Kingdom Withholding 

Interest on the Bonds

Once the Bonds are and continue to be listed on a recognised stock exchange within the meaning of Section 

1005 Income Tax Act 2007, payments of interest by the Issuer on the Bonds may be made without 

withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax. The London Stock Exchange is 

a recognised stock exchange for these purposes. Securities will be treated as listed on the London Stock 

Exchange if they are included in the Official List by the United Kingdom Listing Authority and are 

admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange.

If the Bonds are not or cease to be listed on a recognised stock exchange interest will generally be paid by 

the Issuer under deduction of income tax at the basic rate unless: (i) another relief applies; or (ii) the Issuer 

has received a direction to the contrary from HM Revenue & Customs in respect of such relief as may be 

available pursuant to the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty. 

If interest were paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax (e.g. if the Bonds failed to be listed on 

a recognised stock exchange), Bondholders who are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to 

recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an appropriate provision in an applicable double taxation 

treaty.

Payments in Respect of the Guarantee

The United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments by the Guarantor under the terms of the 

Guarantee in respect of interest on the Bonds (or other amounts due under the Bonds other than the 

repayment of amounts subscribed for the Bonds) is uncertain. In particular, such payments by the Guarantor 

may not be eligible for the exemption in respect of securities listed on a recognised stock exchange 

described above in relation to payments of interest by the Issuer. Accordingly, if the Guarantor makes any 

such payments, these may be subject to United Kingdom withholding tax at the basic rate.



A17987190
87

Information Reporting 

Information relating to securities may be required to be provided to HM Revenue & Customs in certain 

circumstances. This may include the value of the Bonds, details of the holders or beneficial owners of the 

Bonds (or the persons for whom the Bonds are held), details of the persons to whom payments derived 

from the Bonds are or may be paid and information and documents in connection with transactions relating 

to the Bonds. Information may be required to be provided by, amongst others, the holders of the Bonds, 

persons by (or via) whom payments derived from the Bonds are made or who receive (or would be entitled 

to receive) such payments, persons who effect or are a party to transactions relating to the Bonds on behalf 

of others and certain registrars or administrators. In certain circumstances, the information obtained by HM 

Revenue & Customs may be provided to tax authorities in other countries.

European Union Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income

Under the Savings Directive, EU Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of other EU 

Member States details of certain payments of interest or similar income paid or secured by a person 

established in an EU Member State to or for the benefit of an individual resident in another EU Member 

State or certain limited types of entities established in another EU Member State.

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a Council Directive amending and 

broadening the scope of the requirements described above. EU Member States are required to apply these 

new requirements from 1 January 2017. The changes will expand the range of payments covered by the 

Savings Directive, in particular to include additional types of income payable on securities. The amending 

Directive will also expand the circumstances in which payments that indirectly benefit an individual 

resident in an EU Member State must be reported. This approach will apply to payments made to, or 

secured for, persons, entities or legal arrangements (including trusts) where certain conditions are satisfied, 

and may in some cases apply where the person, entity or legal arrangement is established or effectively 

managed outside the EU.

For a transitional period, the end of which is dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements 

relating to information exchange with certain non-EU countries, Luxembourg and Austria are required 

(unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such 

payments. The changes referred to above will broaden the types of payments subject to withholding in 

those EU Member States which still operate a withholding system when they are implemented. In April 

2013, the Luxembourg Government announced its intention to abolish the withholding system with effect 

from 1 January 2015, in favour of automatic information exchange under the Savings Directive.

A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures to the 

Savings Directive (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).
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SECTION 14 – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1 Listing and admission to trading of the Bonds

Application will be made to the UK Financial Conduct Authority for the Bonds to be admitted to its 

Official List and to London Stock Exchange plc for such Bonds to be admitted to trading on the regulated 

market and through its order books for retail bonds (ORB) market. It is expected that the admission will 

occur on or about 17 June 2014, after publication of the Sizing Announcement referred to below.

The amount of expenses related to the admission to trading of the Bonds will be specified in the Sizing 

Announcement, expected to be published by the Issuer via RNS on or around 11 June 2014.

London Stock Exchange plc’s regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 

2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (“MiFID”). 

MiFID governs the organisation and conduct of the business of investment firms and the operation of 

regulated markets across the European Economic Area in order to seek to promote cross-border business, 

market transparency and the protection of investors.

2 Authorisation of the Issuer and the Guarantor

The issue of the Bonds was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 13 

May 2014 and the giving of the Bonds Guarantee was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors 

of the Guarantor passed on 28 March 2014 and by a resolution of the finance committee of the Board of 

Directors of the Guarantor passed on 13 May 2014.

The Issuer and the Guarantor have obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in England 

& Wales in connection with the issue and performance of the Bonds and the giving of the Bonds Guarantee.

3 Significant or material change statement

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or the Issuer and its 

subsidiaries taken as a whole (the “Issuer Group”) since 31 December 2013, and there has been no 

material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or the Issuer Group since 31 December 2013. 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the the Guarantor or the Group 

since 31 December 2013, and there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Guarantor 

or the Group since 31 December 2013. 

4 Litigation statement

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are 

pending or threatened of which the Issuer or the Guarantor is aware) during the 12 month period preceding 

the date of this Prospectus which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the 

Issuer’s, the Issuer Group’s, the Guarantor’s and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability.

5 Clearing systems information and Bond security codes

The Bonds will initially be represented by a global Bond (the “Global Bond”), which will be deposited 

with a common depository on behalf of Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear on or about the Issue 

Date. The Global Bond will be exchangeable for definitive Bonds (“Definitive Bonds”) in bearer form in 

the denomination of £100 not less than 60 days following the request of the Issuer or the holder in the 

limited circumstances set out in it. See Section 17 (Summary of Provisions Relating to the Bonds while in 

Global Form) of this Prospectus.
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The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. In addition, 

the Bonds will be accepted for settlement in CREST via the CDI mechanism. Interests in the Bonds may 

also be held through CREST through the issuance of CDIs representing the Underlying Bonds. You should 

note that the CDIs are the result of the CREST settlement mechanics and are not the subject of this 

Prospectus. The ISIN for the Bonds is XS1066478014 and the Common Code is 106647801.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, the 

address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking société anonyme, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-

1855 Luxembourg and the address of CREST is Euroclear UK & Ireland, 33 Cannon Street, London EC4M 

5SB, United Kingdom.

6 Documents available for inspection

For the period of 12 months following the date of this Prospectus, copies of the following documents will, 

when published, be available for inspection from the registered office of the Group:

(a) the certificate of incorporation and constitutional documents of each of the Issuer and the Guarantor;

(b) the most recently published consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and the Guarantor;

(c) the Filed Documents (as defined in Section 11 (Documents Incorporated by Reference));

(d) the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement;

(e) a copy of this Prospectus; and

(f) any future supplements to this Prospectus and any other documents incorporated therein or herein by 

reference.

7 Auditors

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 

December 2013 and for the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013

have been audited without qualification by Ernst & Young LLP (of 1 More London Place, London SE1 

2AF), members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

The Issuer and the Guarantor have appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, also a member of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, as its auditor pursuant to a resolution at their most recent 

annual general meetings.

8 Post-issuance information

The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information.

9 Material interests and conflicts of interest in the offer

So far as the Issuer and the Guarantor are aware, no person involved in the offer of the Bonds has an 

interest material to the offer. There are no conflicts of interest which are material to the offer of the Bonds.

10 Yield

On the basis of the issue price of the Bonds of 100 per cent. of their nominal amount, the initial yield (being 

the interest received from the Bonds expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount) of the Bonds on 

the Issue Date is 5.125 per cent. on an annual basis. This initial yield is not an indication of future yield.
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SECTION 15 – IMPORTANT LEGAL INFORMATION

This Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits “Public Offers” (meaning for these purposes 

offers of Bonds that are not within an exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus under Article 

3.2 of the Prospectus Directive) in the United Kingdom. Any person making or intending to make a Public 

Offer of Bonds on the basis of this Prospectus must do so only with the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s 

consent. See “Consent given in accordance with the Prospectus Directive” below.

Consent given in accordance with the Prospectus Directive

In the context of any Public Offer of Bonds, the Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility, in the 

United Kingdom, for the content of this Prospectus, also with respect to subsequent resale or final 

placement of Bonds by any financial intermediary which was given consent to use the Prospectus, in 

relation to any person who purchases any Bonds in a Public Offer made by an Authorised Offeror (as 

defined below) where that offer is made in compliance with all the conditions attached to the giving of such 

consent to the Authorised Offeror. Such consent and the attached conditions are described below under 

“Consent” below.

Except in the circumstances described below, the Issuer has not authorised the making of any Public Offer 

by any person and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor consented to the use of this Prospectus by any other 

person in connection with any offer of the Bonds in any jurisdiction. Any offer made without the consent of 

the Issuer and the Guarantor is unauthorised and neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor, for the avoidance of 

doubt, the Joint Lead Managers accept any responsibility in relation to such unauthorised offer.

If, in the context of a Public Offer, you are offered Bonds by a person which is not an Authorised Offeror, 

you should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Prospectus for the purpose of the 

Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. If you are in any doubt about whether you can rely on this 

Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents, you should take legal advice.

Consent

The Issuer and the Guarantor consent, and (in connection with sub-paragraph (iv) below) offer to grant their 

consent, to the use of this Prospectus in connection with any Public Offer of Bonds, including any 

subsequent resale or final placement of Bonds by financial intermediaries, in the United Kingdom during 

the period commencing from and including 27 May 2014 until 12 noon (London time) on 10 June 2014 (the 

“Offer Period”) by:

(i) the Joint Lead Managers; 

(ii) Barclays Stockbrokers Limited, Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management, Killik and Co., NCL 

Investments Ltd. and Redmayne-Bentley LLP;

(iii) any other financial intermediary appointed after the date of this Prospectus and whose name is 

published on the website of the Guarantor (at www.ladbrokesplc.com/investor-centre/debt-

information/bonds.aspx) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the Public Offer; and

(iv) any other financial intermediary which (a) is authorised to make such offers under Directive 

2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments, 

including under any applicable implementing measure in each relevant jurisdiction (“MiFID”); and 

(b) accepts such offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the information in 

square brackets duly completed with the relevant information) (the “Acceptance Statement”):

“We, [FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY], refer to the offer of sterling denominated 5.125 per cent. 

bonds due 2022 (the “Bonds”) described in the Prospectus dated 27 May 2014 (the “Prospectus”) 
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published by Ladbrokes Group Finance plc (the “Issuer”) and Ladbrokes plc (the “Guarantor”). In 

consideration of the Issuer and the Guarantor offering to grant their consent to our use of the 

Prospectus in connection with the offer of the Bonds in the United Kingdom during the Offer Period 

in accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms (as specified in the Prospectus), we hereby accept 

the offer by the Issuer and the Guarantor. We confirm that we are authorised under MiFID to make, 

and are using the Prospectus in connection with, the Public Offer accordingly. Terms used herein 

and otherwise not defined shall have the same meaning as given to such terms in the Prospectus.”

Any Authorised Offeror falling within sub-paragraph (iv) above who wishes to use this Prospectus in 

connection with a Public Offer as set out above is required, for the duration of the Offer Period, to 

publish on its website the Acceptance Statement set out above, confirming that it uses the Prospectus 

in accordance with the consent and conditions attached thereto. 

The “Authorised Offeror Terms” are that the relevant financial intermediary:

(a) acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance of any applicable 

regulatory bodies (the “Rules”), including the Rules published by the FCA, including its guidance 

for distributors in “The Responsibilities of Providers and Distributors for the Fair Treatment of 

Customers” in the UK, from time to time including, without limitation and in each case, Rules 

relating to both the appropriateness or suitability of any investment in the Bonds by an investor and 

disclosure to any potential investor;

(b) complies with the restrictions set out under “Subscription and Sale” in this Prospectus which would 

apply as if it were a Joint Lead Manager;

(c) ensures that any fee, commission, benefits of any kind, rebate received or paid by that financial 

intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of the Bonds does not violate the Rules and is fully and 

clearly disclosed to investors or potential investors;

(d) holds all licences, consents, approvals and permissions required in connection with solicitation of 

interest in, or offers or sales of, the Bonds under the Rules, including authorisation under FSMA and 

the Financial Services Act 2012 in the United Kingdom;

(e) complies with, and takes appropriate steps in relation to, applicable anti-money laundering, anti-

bribery, prevention of corruption and “know your client” Rules, and does not permit any application 

for Bonds in circumstances where the financial intermediary has any suspicions as to the source of 

the application monies;

(f) retains investor identification records for at least the minimum period required under applicable 

Rules, and shall, if so requested and to the extent permitted by the Rules, make such records 

available to the Joint Lead Managers and the Issuer and the Guarantor or directly to the appropriate 

authorities with jurisdiction over the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Joint Lead Managers in order 

to enable the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Joint Lead Managers to comply with anti-money 

laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know your client” Rules applying to the Issuer, the 

Guarantor and/or the Joint Lead Managers;

(g) does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer, the Guarantor or the any of the Joint Lead Managers

to breach any Rule or subject the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Joint Lead Managers to any 

requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

(h) immediately gives notice to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers if at any time it 

becomes aware or suspects that it is or may be in violation of any Rules or the terms of this 
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paragraph, and takes all appropriate steps to remedy such violation and comply with such Rules and 

this paragraph in all respects;

(i) does not give any information other than that contained in this Prospectus (as may be amended or 

supplemented by the Issuer and the Guarantor from time to time) or make any representation in 

connection with the offering or sale of, or the solicitation of interest in, the Bonds;

(j) agrees that any communication in which it attaches or otherwise includes any announcement 

published by the Issuer via RNS at the end of the Offer Period will be consistent with the 

Prospectus, and (in any case) must be fair, clear and not misleading and in compliance with the 

Rules and must state that such Authorised Offeror has provided it independently from the Issuer and 

the Guarantor and must expressly confirm that neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor has accepted any 

responsibility for the content of any such communication;

(k) does not use the legal or publicity names of the Joint Lead Managers, the Issuer, the Guarantor or 

any other name, brand or logo registered by any entity within their respective groups or any material 

over which any such entity retains a proprietary interest or in any statements (oral or written), 

marketing material or documentation in relation to the Bonds; 

(l) agrees and undertakes to indemnify each of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers

(in each case on behalf of such entity and its respective directors, officers, employees, agents, 

affiliates and controlling persons) against any losses, liabilities, costs, claims, charges, expenses, 

actions or demands (including reasonable costs of investigation and any defence raised thereto and 

counsel’s fees and disbursements associated with any such investigation or defence) which any of 

them may incur or which may be made against any of them arising out of or in relation to, or in 

connection with, any breach of any of the foregoing agreements, representations or undertakings by 

such financial intermediary, including (without limitation) any unauthorised action by such financial 

intermediary or failure by such financial intermediary to observe any of the above restrictions or 

requirements or the making by such financial intermediary of any unauthorised representation or the 

giving or use by it of any information which has not been authorised for such purposes by the Issuer, 

the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers; and 

(m) agrees and accepts that:

(i) the contract between the Issuer, the Guarantor and the financial intermediary formed upon 

acceptance by the financial intermediary of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s offer to use the 

Prospectus with their consent in connection with the relevant Public Offer (the “Authorised 

Offeror Contract”), and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

the Authorised Offeror Contract, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, 

English law;

(ii) the courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise 

out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract (including a dispute relating to 

any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror 

Contract) and accordingly submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts; and

(iii) the Joint Lead Managers will, pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, be 

entitled to enforce those provisions of the Authorised Offeror Contract which are, or are 

expressed to be, for its benefit, including the agreements, representations, undertakings and 

indemnity given by the financial intermediary pursuant to these Authorised Offeror Terms.

The financial intermediaries referred to in sub-paragraphs (ii), (iii) and (iv) above are together referred to 

herein as, the “Authorised Offerors”.
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Arrangements between you and the financial intermediaries who will distribute the Bonds

Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Joint Lead Managers have any responsibility for any of the actions 

of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an Authorised Offeror with applicable conduct of 

business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law requirements in relation to such 

offer.

If you intend to acquire or do acquire any Bonds from an Authorised Offeror, you will do so, and offers and 

sales of the Bonds to you by such an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and 

other arrangements in place between such Authorised Offeror and you including as to price, allocations and 

settlement arrangements. Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will be a party to any such arrangements with 

you in connection with the offer or sale of the Bonds and, accordingly, this Prospectus does not contain 

such information. 

In the event of an offer being made by an Authorised Offeror, such Authorised Offeror will provide 

information to investors on the terms and conditions of the offer at the time the offer is made. 

Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Joint Lead Managers nor any other Authorised Offeror has any 

responsibility or liability for such information.

Notice to investors

The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors. You must determine the suitability of any 

investment in light of your own circumstances. In particular, you may wish to consider, either on your own 

or with the help of your financial and other professional advisers, whether you:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits 

and risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained in this Prospectus (and any 

applicable supplement to this Prospectus);

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 

particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact the Bonds will have on your 

overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 

Bonds, including where the currency for principal or interest payments (pounds sterling) is different 

from the currency which you usually use;

(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and are familiar with the behaviour of the financial 

markets; and

(e) are able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect 

your investment and your ability to bear the applicable risks.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers or the Trustee to 

give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Prospectus 

and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised 

by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers or the Trustee.

Neither the publication of this Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of the Bonds shall, under any 

circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer and/or the 

Guarantor since the date of this Prospectus or that there has been no adverse change in the financial 

position of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor since the date of this Prospectus or that any other information 

supplied in connection with the offering of the Bonds is correct as of any time subsequent to the date 

indicated in the document containing the same. Neither the Joint Lead Managers nor the Trustee undertake 
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to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantor during the life of the Bonds or to 

advise any investor in the Bonds of any information coming to their attention.

Neither this Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the offering of the Bonds 

should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers or the 

Trustee that any recipient of this Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the 

offering of the Bonds should purchase any Bonds. Each potential purchaser of Bonds should determine for 

itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and any purchase of Bonds should be 

based upon such investigation as it deems necessary.

The Joint Lead Managers and the Trustee

Neither the Joint Lead Managers nor the Trustee have independently confirmed the information contained 

in this Prospectus. No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made by the Joint 

Lead Managers or the Trustee as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this 

Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer or the Guarantor in connection with the offering 

of the Bonds. Neither the Joint Lead Managers nor the Trustee accepts liability in relation to the 

information contained in this Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer or the Guarantor 

in connection with the offering of the Bonds or their distribution.

Each of the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer 

and/or the Guarantor and their affiliates in the ordinary course of business.

No incorporation of websites

The contents of the websites of members of the Group or of any other websites or web pages referred to in 

this Prospectus do not form part of this Prospectus, and you should not rely on them.

Forward-looking statements

This Prospectus includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, ‘forward-looking statements’. These 

forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking expressions, including the 

terms ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, ‘anticipates’, ‘expects’, ‘intends’, ‘may’, ‘will’, or ‘should’ or, in each case, 

their negative or other variations or similar expressions, or by discussions of strategy, plans, objectives, 

goals, future events or intentions. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not 

historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Prospectus and include, but are not 

limited to, the following: statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Issuer 

and/or the Guarantor concerning, amongst other things, the Issuer’s and Guarantor’s results of operations, 

financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the industries in which they operates.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future 

events and circumstances. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the 

actual results of the Issuer’s and/or Guarantor’s operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the 

development of the countries and the industries in which the Issuer and the Guarantor operates may differ 

materially from those described in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this 

Prospectus. In addition, even if the results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the 

development of the countries and the industries in which the Group operates, are consistent with the 

forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus, those results or developments may not be 

indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. These and other factors are discussed in more 

detail under Section 2 (Risk Factors). Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Issuer and the 

Guarantor. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assumptions 
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on which the forward-looking statements are based prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from 

those described in this Prospectus as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. Except to the extent 

required by applicable laws and regulations (which currently include the rules set out in the Listing Rules, 

the Prospectus Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules published by the United Kingdom’s 

Financial Conduct Authority), neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor intends, and they do not assume any 

obligation, to update any forward-looking statements set out in this Prospectus.

This Prospectus is based on English law in effect as of the date of issue of this Prospectus. Except to the 

extent required by laws and regulations, neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor intends, and they do not 

assume any obligation, to update the Prospectus in light of the impact of any judicial decision or change to 

English law or administrative practice after the date of this Prospectus.

CREST depository interests

In certain circumstances, investors may also hold interests in the Bonds through CREST through the issue 

of CDIs representing interests in Underlying Bonds. CDIs are independent securities constituted under 

English law and transferred through CREST and will be issued by CREST Depository Limited pursuant to 

the global deed poll dated 25 June 2001 (as subsequently modified, supplemented and/or restated). Neither 

the Bonds nor any rights attached to the Bonds will be issued, settled, held or transferred within the CREST 

system other than through the issue, settlement, holding or transfer of CDIs. CDI Holders will not be 

entitled to deal directly in the Bonds and, accordingly, all dealings in the Bonds will be effected through 

CREST in relation to the holding of CDIs. You should note that the CDIs are the result of the CREST 

settlement mechanics and are not the subject of this Prospectus.

Selling restrictions

This Prospectus does not constitute or form part of an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy, 

Bonds to any person in any jurisdiction to any person in any jurisdiction to whom or in which such offer or 

solicitation is unlawful. This Prospectus is not for distribution in the United States, Australia, Canada, the 

Republic of Ireland or Japan. The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the United States 

Securities Act or qualified for sale under the laws of the United States or under any applicable securities 

laws of Australia, Canada, the Republic of Ireland or Japan. Subject to certain exceptions, the Bonds may 

not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer or sale of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be 

restricted by law. No action has been or will be taken by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers

or the Trustee anywhere which is intended to permit a public offering of the Bonds or the distribution of 

this Prospectus in any jurisdiction, other than in the United Kingdom. You must inform yourself about, and 

observe, any such restrictions.
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SECTION 16 – TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The following are the terms and conditions substantially in the form to be endorsed on the Bonds in 

definitive form (if issued):

The issue of sterling denominated 5.125 per cent. bonds due 2022 (the “Bonds”, which expression shall in 

these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, include any further securities (“Additional 

Bonds”) issued pursuant to Condition 14 and forming a single series with the Bonds) was authorised by a 

resolution of the board of directors of Ladbrokes Group Finance plc (the “Issuer”) passed on 13 May 2014 

and the guarantee of the Bonds was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of Ladbrokes plc 

(the “Guarantor”) passed on 28 March 2014 and by a resolution of the finance committee of the board of 

directors of Ladbrokes plc passed on 13 May 2014.

The Bonds are constituted by a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) dated 16 June 2014 (the “Issue Date”) made 

between the Issuer, the Guarantor and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the “Trustee”, which 

expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as 

trustee for the holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”). These terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) 

include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form 

of the Bonds and the coupons relating to them (the “Coupons”). Copies of the Trust Deed, and of the 

paying agency agreement (the “Agency Agreement”) dated on or around the Issue Date relating to the 

Bonds between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee and the initial principal paying agent and the other 

paying agents named in it, are available for inspection during usual business hours by the Bondholders and 

Couponholders (as defined below) at the specified office for the time being of the Trustee (presently at Fifth 

Floor, 100 Wood Street, London EC2V 7EX) and at the specified offices of the principal paying agent for 

the time being (the “Principal Paying Agent”) and the other paying agents (if any) for the time being (the 

“Paying Agents”, which expression shall include the Principal Paying Agent). The Bondholders and the 

holders of the Coupons (whether or not attached to the relevant Bonds) (the “Couponholders”) are entitled 

to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and 

are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

1 Form, Denomination and Title

(a) Form and denomination: The Bonds are serially numbered and in bearer form in the denomination 

of £100, each with Coupons attached on issue.

(b) Title: Title to the Bonds and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Bond or Coupon will 

(except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or 

not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on 

it, or its theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

2 Guarantee and Status

(a) Bonds Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment 

of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons. 

Its obligations in that respect (the “Bonds Guarantee”) are contained in the Trust Deed.

(b) Status of the Bonds and Bonds Guarantee: The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, 

unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3(a)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer 

and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The obligations 

of the Guarantor under the Bonds Guarantee constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and 

(subject to Condition 3(a)) unsecured obligations of the Guarantor. The payment obligations of the 

Issuer under the Bonds and the Coupons and of the Guarantor under the Bonds Guarantee shall, save 

for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 3(a), at all 
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times rank at least equally with all their respective other present and future unsecured and 

unsubordinated obligations, but, in the event of insolvency, in each case only to the extent permitted 

by applicable laws relating to creditors’ rights.

3 Covenants and Undertakings

(a) Negative Pledge: So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), each of 

the Issuer and the Guarantor shall not, and the Guarantor shall procure that no other Subsidiary of it 

shall, create, assume or permit to subsist, as security for any Debt, any Security other than any 

Permitted Security upon the whole or any part of its present or future revenues or assets unless, in 

any such case, the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the other Subsidiary, as the case may be, shall 

simultaneously with, or prior to, the creation or assumption of such Security and, in any other case, 

promptly, take any and all action necessary to procure that all amounts payable under the Bonds and

the Coupons by the Issuer and by the Guarantor under the Bonds Guarantee, are secured equally and 

rateably with the Debt secured by such Security to the satisfaction of the Trustee or that such other 

Security is provided or such other arrangement (whether or not including the giving of Security) is 

made as the Trustee shall, in its absolute discretion, deem not materially less beneficial to the 

interests of the Bondholders or as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in 

the Trust Deed) of the Bondholders.

(b) Limitation on Debt:

(A) Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio: The Guarantor will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary of 

it to, directly or indirectly, Incur any Debt including Acquired Debt; provided, however, that 

the Guarantor, the Issuer, any Financing Subsidiary or any Additional Guarantor may Incur 

Debt (including Acquired Debt) if, on the date of such Incurrence and after giving effect 

thereto on a pro forma basis, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be equal to or greater 

than 2.75 to 1.0.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the above covenant will not prohibit the Incurrence of any of 

the following Debt:

(i) Debt of the Guarantor, the Issuer, any Financing Subsidiary or any Additional 

Guarantor (including, if applicable, reimbursement obligations in respect of 

guarantees or letters of credit issued thereunder but excluding any unutilised or 

undrawn amount) under the Credit Facilities in an aggregate principal amount at any 

one time outstanding not to exceed £1,100,000,000 (or the foreign currency equivalent 

thereof) less the sum of (A) the Outstanding Bond Refinancing Debt and (B) the 

Overdraft Amount;

(ii) the Incurrence by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of its other Subsidiaries of 

intercompany Debt between or among the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of its other 

Subsidiaries; provided, however, that (A) any subsequent issuance or transfer of any 

Capital Stock which results in any such Subsidiary ceasing to be a Subsidiary of the 

Guarantor and any such Debt thus being held by a Person other than the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or any of its other Subsidiaries or any subsequent transfer of such Debt 

(other than to the Guarantor or a Subsidiary of the Guarantor), shall be deemed, in 

each case in respect of such Debt, to constitute the Incurrence of such Debt which was 

not permitted by this subparagraph (ii) and (B) if the Issuer or the Guarantor is the 

obligor in respect of such Debt, such Debt is unsecured and ranks pari passu with or 

lower than the Bonds;

(iii) Debt under the Bonds (other than Additional Bonds) and the Bonds Guarantee;



A17987190
98

(iv) Debt, other than Debt described in subparagraphs (i), (ii), (iii), (vi), (vii), (viii), (ix), 

(x), (xi), (xii), (xiii), (xiv), (xv), (xvi), (xvii) and (xviii) of this paragraph, outstanding 

as of the Issue Date;

(v) Refinancing Debt in respect of Debt Incurred pursuant to the first paragraph of this 

covenant above or Debt described in subparagraph (iv) or this subparagraph (v); 

provided, however, that if such Refinancing Debt directly or indirectly refinances 

Debt of the Issuer, a Financing Subsidiary, an Additional Guarantor or the Guarantor, 

such Refinancing Debt shall be Incurred only by the Issuer, a Financing Subsidiary, 

the Guarantor or any Additional Guarantor or any one or more of them;

(vi) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business and including any 

such Hedging Obligations Incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds;

(vii) Debt in respect of bid, performance, completion, surety or appeal bonds or Guarantees 

of any of the foregoing, VAT Guarantees, or similar instruments, in each case given in 

the ordinary course of business (including the expansion of business into new 

territories);

(viii) Debt in respect of workers’ compensation claims and self-insurance obligations;

(ix) Debt in respect of bankers’ acceptances and letters of credit or similar credit 

transactions (including Guarantees or indemnities related thereto) in the ordinary 

course of business including the expansion of business into new territories;

(x) Debt arising from the honouring by a bank or other financial institution of a cheque, 

draft or similar instrument inadvertently drawn against insufficient funds, so long as 

such Debt is covered within five Business Days in the place where the account against 

which the cheque, draft or similar instrument is drawn is held;

(xi) Debt consisting of advance or extended payment terms in the ordinary course of 

business (including Trade Payables);

(xii) The following:

(x) Debt owed to banks or other financial institutions Incurred in the ordinary 

course of business of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries maintained with such 

banks or financial institutions and which arises in connection with ordinary 

banking arrangements to manage cash balances of the Guarantor and its 

Subsidiaries; and

(y) Debt of any Subsidiary of the Guarantor under overdraft arrangements (being 

arrangements which are repayable on demand) in an aggregate principal amount 

at any one time outstanding not to exceed £30,000,000 (or the foreign currency 

equivalent thereof), the aggregate principal amount of all such outstanding Debt 

at any time being the “Overdraft Amount”;

(xiii) the Guarantee by the Guarantor, the Issuer or any Additional Guarantor of Debt of the 

Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Guarantor that was permitted to be Incurred by 

another provision of this covenant; provided that if the Debt being Guaranteed is 

subordinated in right of payment to the Bonds or the Bonds Guarantee, then such 

Guarantee shall be subordinated to the same extent as the Debt Guaranteed;

(xiv) Debt of any other Person Incurred and outstanding on or prior to the date on which 

such other Person was acquired by the Guarantor or a Subsidiary of the Guarantor (the 

“Acquiring Subsidiary”) (other than Debt Incurred in connection with, or in 
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contemplation of, the transaction or series of related transactions pursuant to which 

such Person became a Subsidiary of the Guarantor or was otherwise acquired by the 

Guarantor or the Acquiring Subsidiary); provided, however, that on the date that such 

Person is acquired by the Guarantor or the Acquiring Subsidiary, (A) such Person 

becomes a Subsidiary of the Guarantor and (B) the Guarantor or the Issuer would have 

been able to Incur such Debt pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant;

(xv) Debt arising from agreements of the Guarantor or a Subsidiary of it providing for 

indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or similar obligations, in each case 

Incurred or assumed in connection with the disposition of any business, assets or a 

Subsidiary of the Guarantor other than Debt Incurred by any Person acquiring all or a 

portion of such business, assets or a Subsidiary of the Guarantor for the purpose of 

financing such acquisition; provided that (A) such Debt is not reflected on the balance 

sheet of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it (contingent obligations referred to in a 

footnote to financial statements and not otherwise reflected on such balance sheet will 

not be deemed to be reflected on such balance sheet for purposes of this subparagraph 

(A)) and (B) the maximum assumable liability in respect of all such Debt shall at no 

time exceed the gross proceeds including non-cash proceeds (the fair market value of 

such non-cash proceeds being measured at the time received and without giving effect 

to any subsequent changes in value) actually received by the Guarantor and its 

Subsidiaries in connection with such disposition;

(xvi) Debt represented by Finance Leases entered into by the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries 

in the ordinary course of business which does not exceed £50,000,000 (or the foreign 

currency equivalent thereof) in the aggregate at any one time outstanding;

(xvii) Debt relating to deferral of PAYE taxes with the agreement of HM Revenue & 

Customs;

(xviii) any Bond Refinancing Debt; and

(xix) additional Debt of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it in an aggregate principal 

amount which does not exceed £100,000,000 (or the foreign currency equivalent 

thereof) at any one time outstanding.

For the purposes of determining compliance with this covenant, in the event that an item of 

proposed Debt meets the criteria of more than one of the categories described in 

subparagraphs (i) through (xix) above, or is entitled to be Incurred pursuant to the first 

paragraph of this covenant, the Guarantor will be permitted to classify such item of Debt on 

the date of its Incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item of Debt, in any 

manner that complies with this covenant except that (A) any Debt Incurrence under 

subparagraph (i) through (xix) of the second paragraph of this covenant may not be 

reclassified as Incurred pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant unless it could have 

been so Incurred on the date of its Incurrence and (B) all Debt outstanding on the Issue Date 

under the Guarantor’s existing bilateral credit facilities shall be deemed initially Incurred 

under subparagraph (i) of the second paragraph of this covenant. The accrual of interest, the 

accretion or amortisation of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Debt in 

the form of additional Debt with the same terms, and the payment of dividends on 

Disqualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Stock 

will not be deemed to be an Incurrence of Debt or an issuance of Disqualified Stock for 

purposes of this covenant; provided, in each such case, that the amount thereof is included in 

Consolidated Interest Expense of the Guarantor as accrued. Notwithstanding any other 

provision of this covenant, the maximum amount of Debt that the Guarantor or any 
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Subsidiary of it may Incur pursuant to this covenant shall not be deemed to be exceeded 

solely as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates or currency values.

The amount of any Debt outstanding as of any date will be:

(1) the accreted value of the Debt, in the case of any Debt issued with original issue 

discount;

(2) in respect of Debt of another Person secured by Security on the assets of the specified 

Person, the lesser of:

(x) the fair market value of such asset at the date of determination; and

(y) the amount of the Debt of the other Person;

(3) the greater of the liquidation preference or the maximum fixed redemption or 

repurchase price of the Disqualified Stock, in the case of Disqualified Stock; and

(4) the principal amount of the Debt, in the case of any other Debt.

For purposes of the foregoing, the “maximum fixed redemption or repurchase price” of any 

Disqualified Stock that does not have a fixed redemption or repurchase price shall be 

calculated in accordance with the terms of such Disqualified Stock as if such Disqualified 

Stock were redeemed or repurchased on any date of determination.

(B) Covenant Suspension: If, on any date following the Issue Date, the Bonds have an 

Investment Grade rating from at least two of the Rating Agencies and no Event of Default or 

Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) has occurred and is continuing (a 

“Suspension Event”), then, beginning on that day and continuing until such time, if any, at 

which the Bonds cease to have an Investment Grade rating from at least two of the Rating 

Agencies, the covenant contained in Condition 3(b)(A)(Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio) will 

not apply.

However, such covenant will be reinstituted and apply according to its terms as of and from 

the first day on which a Suspension Event ceases to be in effect. Such covenant will not, 

however, be of any effect with regard to actions of the Guarantor or the Issuer properly taken 

in compliance with the provisions of the Trust Deed during the continuance of the Suspension 

Event.

(c) Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Substantially all Assets: The Guarantor shall not consolidate, 

merge or amalgamate with or into (whether or not the Guarantor is the surviving corporation), or 

sell, assign or convey, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of 

transactions, all or substantially all of its assets (determined on a consolidated basis for it and its 

Subsidiaries) to, another Person, unless:

(i) the resulting, surviving or transferee Person, if other than the Guarantor (the “Successor”), 

shall be a Person organised and existing under the laws of England and Wales, Australia, any 

member state of the European Union as of 1 January 2004, or any State of the United States 

and shall expressly assume, by a supplement to the Trust Deed, executed and delivered to the 

Trustee, in a form satisfactory to the Trustee, all the obligations of the Guarantor in respect of 

the Bonds and under the Trust Deed;

(ii) immediately after giving effect to such transaction (and treating any Debt which becomes an 

obligation of the Guarantor or the Successor, as applicable, or any Subsidiary of the 

Guarantor or the Successor, as the case may be, as a result of such transaction as having been 

Incurred by the Guarantor or the Successor or such Subsidiary at the time of such transaction) 

no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
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(iii) immediately after giving effect to such transaction (and treating any Debt which becomes an 

obligation of the Guarantor or the Successor, as applicable, or any Subsidiary of the 

Guarantor or the Successor, as the case may be, as a result of such transaction as having been 

Incurred by the Guarantor or the Successor or such Subsidiary at the time of such 

transaction), the Guarantor or, as the case may be, the Successor could Incur at least £1 of 

additional Debt pursuant to the first paragraph of the covenant in Condition 3(b)(A)(Fixed 

Charge Coverage Ratio); and

(iv) the Guarantor shall have delivered to the Trustee (i) a certificate signed by two directors of 

the Guarantor stating that such consolidation, merger, amalgamation or sale, assignment, 

conveyance, transfer, lease or other disposition and such supplement to the Trust Deed (if 

any) comply with the provisions of this covenant and (ii) an opinion(s) of independent legal 

advisers of recognised standing as to all relevant laws in a form(s) satisfactory to the Trustee 

and opining as to the matters referred to in (i) above.

The Successor shall succeed to, and be substituted for and may exercise every right and 

power of, the Guarantor under the Trust Deed. Except in the case of a lease, the Guarantor 

shall be relieved of all obligations and covenants under the Trust Deed and the Bonds.

Nothing contained in the foregoing restrictions on merger, consolidation, amalgamation and 

asset transfers shall prohibit any Subsidiary of the Guarantor from consolidating or 

amalgamating with, merging with or into, or transferring all or part of its properties and 

assets to the Guarantor or another Subsidiary of the Guarantor provided that, after giving 

effect to any such merger, consolidation, amalgamation or asset transfer, no Event of Default 

or Potential Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result 

therefrom.

(d) Reports to the Bondholders: The Guarantor will provide to the Trustee:

(i) within four months after the end of the Guarantor’s financial year, the Guarantor’s annual 

report and accounts (including audited year end financial statements prepared in accordance 

with IFRS and an explanatory statement) prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(ii) within two months after the end of the first half of the Guarantor’s financial year 

(commencing with the first half of the financial year following the Issue Date), a half-yearly 

report (including a condensed set of half-yearly financial statements prepared in accordance 

with IFRS and an explanatory statement) prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Listing Rules for a half-yearly report;

(iii) within 15 days following its issuance, all information that is required to be provided to the 

holders of the ordinary shares of the Guarantor under the Listing Rules or company law in the 

United Kingdom; and

(iv) concurrently with the delivery of the reports referred to in Conditions 3(d)(i) and/or 3(d)(ii) 

above, and also within 15 days following any request from the Trustee, a certificate signed by 

two directors of the Guarantor confirming compliance with Condition 3(a), 3(b) and 3(c).

At the same time as providing any such document to the Trustee, the Guarantor will also make the 

relevant document available for inspection by Bondholders at the specified office of the Principal 

Paying Agent.

(e) Trustee not obliged to monitor: The Trustee shall be under no obligation to monitor compliance by 

the Issuer or the Guarantor with any of the covenants, restrictions or provisions set out in this 

Condition 3 and shall have no liability to any person as a result of any failure to monitor such 

compliance. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely without liability to any person and without further 
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enquiry on a certificate provided by the Guarantor pursuant to Condition 3(d)(iv) above as to the 

Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s compliance or non-compliance (as the case may be) with such covenants 

as aforesaid.

4 Interest

The Bonds bear interest from and including the Issue Date at the rate of 5.125 per cent. per annum, payable 

semi-annually in arrear in equal instalments of £2.5625 per £100 in nominal amount of the Bonds on 16

September and 16 March in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”), except that the first payment of 

interest, to be made on 16 September 2014 (the “First Interest Payment Date”), will be in respect of the 

period from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the First Interest Payment Date (the “Short First 

Interest Period”) and will amount to £1.28125 per £100 in nominal amount of the Bonds. Each Bond will 

cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of principal 

is improperly withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both before 

and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: (a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such 

Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder and (b) the day seven days after the 

Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all 

the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the 

relevant holders under these Conditions).

Save as provided above in relation to equal instalments, and save as provided in the following sentence in 

relation to the Short First Interest Period, where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period of less 

than a full half-year, the day-count fraction used will be the number of days in the relevant period, from and 

including the date from which interest begins to accrue to but excluding the date on which it falls due, 

divided by the product of (1) the number of days in the Interest Period (as defined below) in which the 

relevant period falls (including the first such day but excluding the last) and (2) two. In the case of the 

Short First Interest Period, if the Accrual Period (as defined below) is equal to or shorter than the 

Determination Period (as defined below) during which it falls, the day-count fraction will be the number of 

days in the Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the numbers of days in such Determination Period 

and (2) two,

where:

“Accrual Period” means the relevant period for which interest is to be calculated (from and including the 

first such day to but excluding the last); and

“Determination Period” means the period from and including 16 March or 16 September in any year to 

but excluding the following 16 September or 16 March, as the case may be.

The period beginning on and including the First Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the 

second Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment 

Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest 

Period”.

Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per £100 in nominal amount of the Bonds. The amount 

of interest payable per £100 for any period shall, save as provided above in relation to equal instalments, be 

equal to the product of 5.125 per cent., £100 and the day-count fraction for the relevant period, rounding 

the resulting figure to the nearest penny (half a pence being rounded upwards).

5 Redemption and Purchase

(a) Final redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be 

redeemed at their nominal amount on 16 September 2022 (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds may 

not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 5.
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(b) Redemption for taxation reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in 

whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the 

Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their nominal amount, (together with interest 

accrued to but excluding the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer satisfies the Trustee 

immediately prior to the giving of such notice that it (or, if the Bonds Guarantee were called, the 

Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in 

Condition 7 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United 

Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any 

change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or 

amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided 

by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it, 

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest 

date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to pay such 

additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds (or the Bonds Guarantee, as the case 

may be) then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 

5(b), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer (or the 

Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided 

by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it and 

the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the 

condition precedent set out in (ii) above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the 

Bondholders and the Couponholders and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised 

standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become 

obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment.

(c) Redemption at the option of the Issuer: The Issuer may at any time, having given not less than 15

nor more than 30 days’ irrevocable notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 15

(which notice shall specify the date fixed for redemption (the “Optional Redemption Date”))

redeem or purchase, or procure that the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s Subsidiaries shall 

purchase, all (but not some only) of the Bonds for the time being outstanding at any time at the 

Redemption Price (as defined below) together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional 

Redemption Date.

The “Redemption Price” shall be the higher of: (i) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds; 

and (ii) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds multiplied by the price (as reported in writing 

to the Issuer and the Trustee by an independent financial adviser appointed at its own expense by the 

Issuer and approved in writing by the Trustee (the “Financial Adviser”)) expressed as a percentage 

in relation to the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds (rounded to the nearest one hundred-

thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 being rounded upwards)) at which the Gross 

Redemption Yield (if the Bonds were to remain outstanding to their original maturity) on the Bonds 

on the Calculation Date is equal to the Gross Redemption Yield at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on the 

Calculation Date of 4.00 per cent. United Kingdom Government Treasury Stock due 2022 (or, where 

the Financial Adviser advises in good faith the Issuer and the Trustee that for reasons of illiquidity or 

otherwise, such stock is not appropriate for such purpose, such other government stock as the 

Financial Adviser in good faith may recommend for such purposes) plus 0.5 per cent. For such 

purposes, “Calculation Date” means the date which is the second London Business Day prior to the 

Optional Redemption Date, and “Gross Redemption Yield” means a yield calculated in accordance 

with generally accepted market practice at such time as advised in writing to the Issuer and the 

Trustee in good faith by the Financial Adviser.

Any notice given pursuant to this Condition 5(c) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the Optional 

Redemption Date. Upon the expiry of any such notice, the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may 

be) shall be bound to redeem or, as the case may be, purchase or procure the purchase of (and the 
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Bondholders shall be bound to sell) the Bonds at the applicable Redemption Price on the Optional 

Redemption Date together with accrued interest as aforesaid unless previously redeemed or 

purchased. The Trustee shall rely absolutely and without further enquiry on the advice of any 

Financial Adviser appointed as provided in this Condition 5(c) and shall not be liable to any person 

for doing so.

(d) Redemption at the option of Bondholders upon a Change of Control: If a Put Event occurs, 

unless notice of redemption of all of the Bonds has previously been given pursuant to Condition 5(b) 

or 5(c), each Bondholder shall have the option to require the Issuer to redeem or purchase the Bonds 

of such holder at a cash purchase price equal to 101 per cent. of the nominal amount thereof together 

with interest accrued to but excluding the date of redemption or purchase, as the case may be. Such 

option shall operate as set out below.

As soon as practicable after the occurrence of a Put Event and in any case not later than 30 days 

thereafter, the Issuer shall, and at any time upon the Trustee receiving express notice from the Issuer 

pursuant to this Condition 5(d) and the Trust Deed that a Put Event has occurred the Trustee may, 

and if so requested by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Bonds then 

outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, shall (subject in 

each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), give a notice (the 

“Change of Control Notice”) to the Trustee (in the case of a notice from the Issuer only) and/or to 

the Bondholders (in the case of a notice from the Issuer or the Trustee) in accordance with Condition 

15 stating:

(i) that a Put Event has occurred and that each Bondholder is entitled to require the Issuer to 

redeem or purchase the Bonds of such holder pursuant to this Condition 5(d);

(ii) the circumstances and relevant facts regarding such Put Event;

(iii) the redemption or purchase price and the redemption or purchase date (which shall be no 

earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is given); and

(iv) the procedures for exercising the option in this Condition 5(d).

To exercise the option to require the redemption or purchase of a Bond under this Condition 5(d), 

the holder of the Bond must deliver such Bond at the specified office of a Paying Agent at any time 

during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling within the period (the “Put Period”) of 

45 days after the Change of Control Notice is given, accompanied by a duly signed and completed 

notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of 

each Paying Agent (a “Change of Control Put Notice”). The Bond should be delivered together 

with all Coupons appertaining thereto maturing after the date which is 7 days after the expiration of 

the Put Period (the “Put Date”), failing which the relevant Paying Agent will require payment of an 

amount equal to the face value of any missing such Coupon. Any amount so paid will be reimbursed 

in the manner provided in Condition 6(c) against presentation and surrender of the relevant missing 

Coupon (or any replacement therefore issued pursuant to Condition 10) at any time after such 

payment, but before the expiry of the period of five years from the Relevant Date in respect of that 

Coupon. The relevant Paying Agent will issue to the Bondholder concerned a non-transferable 

receipt in respect of the Bond so delivered. Payment in respect of any Bond so delivered will be 

made, if the holder duly specified a bank account in the Change of Control Put Notice to which 

payment is to be made on the Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, on 

or after the Put Date against presentation and surrender or (as the case may be) endorsement of such 

receipt at the specified office of a Paying Agent. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given shall 

be irrevocable. For the purposes of these Conditions, receipts issued pursuant to this Condition shall 

be treated as if they were Bonds. The Issuer shall redeem or purchase the relevant Bonds on the Put 

Date unless previously redeemed and cancelled or purchased.
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The Trustee is under no obligation to ascertain whether a Put Event or any event which could lead to 

the occurrence of or could constitute a Put Event has occurred or may occur and, until it shall have 

express notice pursuant to the Trust Deed to the contrary, the Trustee may assume without further 

enquiry and without liability that no Put Event or other such event has occurred or may occur.

A “Put Event” will occur if, while any of the Bonds remains outstanding:

(i) a Change of Control occurs; and

(ii) either (a) the Bonds do not have an Investment Grade rating from at least two of the Rating 

Agencies at the time the Change of Control occurs or (b) the Bonds do have an Investment 

Grade rating from at least two of the Rating Agencies (and if there are more than two such 

ratings, the Issuer shall be entitled to determine which two Rating Agencies shall be relevant 

for the purposes of this provision) at the time the Change of Control occurs but at any time 

during the Change of Control Period either such Rating Agency rates the Bonds as non-

Investment Grade and such rating is not within the Change of Control Period restored to an 

Investment Grade rating by such Rating Agency or replaced by an Investment Grade rating of 

another Rating Agency, or any such Rating Agency withdraws its rating of the Bonds and the 

rating of such Rating Agency is not within the Change of Control Period replaced by an 

Investment Grade rating of another Rating Agency; and in each case such Rating Agency 

announces or publicly confirms or informs the Trustee in writing that such non-Investment 

Grade rating or withdrawal of rating was the result, in whole or in part, of any event or 

circumstance comprised in or arising as a result of, or in respect of, the applicable Change of 

Control (whether or not the Change of Control shall have occurred at the time such rating is 

given or rating is withdrawn).

(e) Notice of redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under this 

Condition 5 shall be redeemed or purchased on the date specified in such notice in accordance with 

this Condition 5.

(f) Purchase: Each of the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries (as defined in the Trust 

Deed) may at any time purchase Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price (provided that, 

if they should be cancelled under Condition 5(g) below, they are purchased together with all 

unmatured Coupons relating to them). Such Bonds may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of 

the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation. The Bonds so purchased, while held by 

or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder to vote at 

any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of 

calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes of these Conditions.

(g) Cancellation: All Bonds so redeemed or purchased and to be cancelled pursuant to Condition 5(f) 

and any unmatured Coupons attached to or surrendered with them will be cancelled and may not be 

re-issued or resold.

6 Payments

(a) Method of Payment: Payments of principal and interest will be made against presentation and 

surrender (or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Bonds or the appropriate Coupons 

(as the case may be) at the specified office of any Paying Agent by pound sterling cheque drawn on, 

or by transfer to a sterling account maintained by the payee with, a bank in London. Payments of 

interest due in respect of any Bond other than on presentation and surrender of matured Coupons 

shall be made only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the 

relevant Bond.
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(b) Payments subject to laws: Save as provided in Condition 7, payments will be made subject in all 

cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment or laws and 

regulations to which the Issuer or the Guarantor or their respective agents agree to be subject and 

neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed 

or levied by such laws, regulations or agreements. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to 

the Bondholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(c) Surrender of unmatured Coupons: Each Bond should be presented for redemption together with 

all unmatured Coupons relating to it, failing which the amount of any such missing unmatured 

Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such 

missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total nominal amount 

due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be 

paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon not later than 

10 years after the Relevant Date for the relevant payment of principal or, if later, five years after the 

date on which the Coupon would have become due, but not thereafter.

(d) Payments on business days: A Bond or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which 

is a business day in the place of presentation (and, in the case of payment by transfer to a sterling 

account, in London). No further interest or other payment will be made as a consequence of the day 

on which the relevant Bond or Coupon may be presented for payment under this Condition 6 falling 

after the due date. In this Condition, “business day” means a day on which commercial banks and 

foreign exchange markets are open in the relevant city.

(e) Paying Agents: The initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below these 

Conditions. The Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time with the approval in writing 

of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint additional or 

other Paying Agents, provided that they will maintain (i) a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Paying 

Agent having a specified office in London and/or any other European city approved by the Trustee, 

(iii) so long as the Bonds are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to listing by any other 

relevant authority, a Paying Agent having its specified office in such place as may be required by the 

rules and regulations of such stock exchange or such other relevant authority and (iv) a Paying 

Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold 

or deduct tax pursuant to any law implementing European Council Directive 2003/48/EC (as 

amended from time to time) or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN 

Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law 

implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive provided that 

such an EU Member State exists and continues to exist. Notice of any change in the Paying Agents 

or their specified offices will promptly be given to the Bondholders.

7 Taxation

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the Bonds 

and the Coupons or under the Bonds Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or 

deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (“Taxes”) 

imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by the United Kingdom or any authority therein or thereof 

having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event the Issuer or, as 

the case may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the 

Bondholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such 

withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect 

of any Bond or Coupon:
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(a) Other connection: presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who is liable to such Taxes in 

respect of such Bond or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the United Kingdom 

other than the mere holding of the Bond or Coupon or

(b) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented for payment more than 30 

days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to 

such additional amounts on presenting such Bond or Coupon for payment on the last day of such 

period of 30 days assuming, whether or not such is in fact the case, that day to have been a business 

day for the purposes of Condition 6(d) or

(c) Payment to individuals: where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an 

individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC (as 

amended from time to time) or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN 

Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law 

implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, any such Directive or

(d) Payment by another Paying Agent: presented for payment by or on behalf of a Bondholder or a 

Couponholder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the 

relevant Bond or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union or

(e) Lawful avoidance of withholding: presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who could 

lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such deduction by presenting any form of certificate, or by 

making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax 

authority in the place where the relevant Bond or Coupon is presented for payment or

(f) FATCA: for or on account of any deduction or withholding arising on or in connection with 

FATCA.

Any reference in these Conditions to principal and/or interest shall be deemed to include any additional 

amounts which may be payable under this Condition or any undertaking given in addition to or substitution 

for it under the Trust Deed.

8 Events of Default

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one quarter in 

nominal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall 

(subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), (but in the 

case of the happening of any of the events described in paragraphs (c), (d), (f), (g) or (i), only if the Trustee 

shall have certified in writing to the Issuer and the Guarantor that such event is, in its opinion, materially 

prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders), give notice in writing to the Issuer that the Bonds are, and 

they shall thereupon immediately become, due and repayable at their nominal amount together with 

accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed if any of the following events shall occur and be continuing 

(“Events of Default”):

(a) default is made in the payment of any amount of principal or premium or purchase moneys due 

under Condition 5(d) in respect of any of the Bonds for a period of seven days or more or any 

amount of interest in respect of any of the Bonds for a period of 21 days or more; or

(b) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for winding up, or an administration order is 

made in relation to, the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries (except for (i) the 

purpose of a reconstruction, merger, consolidation, amalgamation or other similar arrangement the 

terms of which have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary 

Resolution of the Bondholders or (ii) in connection with any consolidation, merger, amalgamation, 

sale, assignment, conveyance, transfer, lease or other disposal effected in compliance with Condition 
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3(c) or, (iii) in the case of a Material Subsidiary, a voluntary solvent winding up in connection with 

the transfer of all or the major part of its business, undertaking and assets to the Issuer, the Guarantor 

or any other Subsidiary of the Guarantor which thereby becomes a Material Subsidiary); or

(c) the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries stops or without the prior written 

approval of the Trustee, announces its intention unconditionally to stop payment of its debts 

generally (or any then current conditional intention to stop payment of its debts generally which has 

been announced becomes unconditional) or ceases or, without the prior written approval of the 

Trustee, announces its intention unconditionally to cease to carry on the whole of its business or 

substantially the whole of its business (or any then current conditional intention to cease to carry on 

the whole of its business or substantially the whole of its business which has been announced 

becomes unconditional) (except a cessation or announcement of any intended cessation (i) for the 

purpose of a reconstruction, merger, consolidation, amalgamation or other similar arrangement the 

terms of which have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary 

Resolution of the Bondholders or (ii) in connection with any consolidation, merger, amalgamation, 

sale, assignment, conveyance, transfer, lease or other disposal effected in compliance with Condition 

3(c), or, (iii) in the case of a Material Subsidiary, in connection with the transfer of all or the major 

part of its business, undertaking and assets to the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Subsidiary of the 

Guarantor which thereby becomes a Material Subsidiary), provided that a bona fide disposal for full 

value on an arm’s length basis of the whole or substantially the whole of the business, undertaking 

and assets of the Issuer, the Guarantor or a Material Subsidiary shall be deemed not to be a cessation 

for the purposes of this subparagraph; or

(d) a distress, execution or any similar proceeding is levied or enforced upon or sued out against a 

substantial part of the chattels or property of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material 

Subsidiaries and is not discharged within 21 days; or

(e) any trustee, liquidator, provisional liquidator, receiver, administrative receiver, administrator or other 

similar official is appointed in relation to the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material 

Subsidiaries or in respect of the whole or a substantial part of their respective properties or assets or 

an encumbrance takes possession of the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking or assets of 

the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries and in any of the foregoing cases is not 

discharged within 21 days or the directors of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material 

Subsidiaries request any person to make any such appointment or to take possession as aforesaid 

(except in any such case for the purpose of a reconstruction, merger, consolidation, amalgamation or 

other similar arrangement the terms of which have previously been approved in writing by the 

Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, or, in the case of a Material 

Subsidiary, in connection with the transfer of all or the major part of its business, undertaking and 

assets to the Guarantor or any other Subsidiary of the Guarantor which thereby becomes a Material 

Subsidiary); or

(f) the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries becomes or is declared or determined 

by any competent court to be unable, or admits in writing its inability, to pay its debts as they fall 

due or is adjudicated or found bankrupt or insolvent by any competent court; or

(g) any kind of composition, scheme of arrangement, compromise or other similar arrangement 

involving the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries and all its creditors or 

substantially all (determined by reference to the amount or value of their claims) its creditors is 

entered into or made; or

(h) any indebtedness for borrowed moneys of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material 

Subsidiaries shall be or be declared due and payable prior to the date on which the same would 

otherwise become due and payable by reason of the occurrence of an event of default (howsoever 
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described) in relation thereto or the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Material Subsidiaries defaults 

in the repayment of any indebtedness for borrowed moneys and such default is not remedied within 

14 days of the maturity thereof or, if longer, any applicable grace period as originally provided or 

any guarantee of or indemnity in respect of any indebtedness for borrowed moneys given by the 

Issuer, the Guarantor or a Material Subsidiary shall not be paid within 14 days of the date when such 

guarantee or indemnity is due and called upon or, if longer; any applicable grace period as originally 

provided; provided that no event described in this Condition 8(h) shall constitute an Event of 

Default unless the relevant amount of indebtedness for borrowed moneys or other relative liability 

due and unpaid, either alone or when aggregated (without duplication) with other amounts of 

indebtedness for borrowed moneys and/or other liabilities due and unpaid relative to all (if any) 

other events specified in this Condition 8(h) which have occurred and are continuing amounts to at 

least £15,000,000 (or the equivalent in any other currency or currencies as at the date the relative 

indebtedness for borrowed moneys or other relative liability becomes due); or

(i) default is made by the Issuer or the Guarantor in the performance or observance of any obligation, 

condition or provision binding on it under the Bonds or the Trust Deed (other than any obligation for 

the payment of any principal or interest in respect of the Bonds and as referred to in Condition 8(j) 

below) and, except where, in the opinion of the Trustee, such default is not capable of remedy (in 

which case no such continuation or notice as hereinafter provided shall be required), such default 

continues for 30 days after written notice thereof by the Trustee to the Issuer requiring the same to 

be remedied; or

(j) default is made by the Issuer or the Guarantor in the performance or observance of any provision of 

Condition 3 and, except where, in the opinion of the Trustee, such default is not capable of remedy 

(in which case no such continuation or notice as hereinafter provided shall be required), such default 

continues for 30 days after written notice thereof by the Trustee to the Issuer requiring the same to 

be remedied; or

(k) the Bonds Guarantee or any guarantee given in substitution therefor by a Successor pursuant to 

Condition 3(c) or any Additional Guarantor Guarantee ceases to be in full force and effect.

9 Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made as 

required by Condition 6 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of 

interest from the appropriate Relevant Date.

10 Replacement of Bonds and Coupons

If any Bond or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified 

office of the Paying Agent in London subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant 

authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such 

replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer and the 

Guarantor may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market 

practice). Mutilated or defaced Bonds or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

11 Meetings of Bondholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution

(a) Meetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of 

Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary 

Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a 

meeting may be convened by Bondholders holding not less than five per cent. in nominal amount of 

the Bonds for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an 
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Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in 

nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or 

more persons being or representing Bondholders whatever the nominal amount of the Bonds held or 

represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals to modify 

certain provisions of the Bonds, Coupons or the Trust Deed (including modifying the date of 

maturity of the Bonds or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the amount 

of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Bonds, altering the currency of payment 

of the Bonds or the Coupons or modifying or cancelling the Bonds Guarantee, all as more 

particularly described in the Trust Deed), in which case the necessary quorum will be one or more 

persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned meeting not less than 

one-third, in nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary 

Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders (whether or not they were present at the 

meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.

The Trust Deed provides that (i) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in 

accordance with the Trust Deed by a majority consisting of not less than three-fourths of the votes 

cast on such a resolution; (ii) consents given by way of electronic consents through the relevant 

clearing system(s) (in a form satisfactory to the Trustee) by or on behalf of the holders of not less 

than three-fourths in nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding; or (iii) a 

resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than three-quarters in nominal

amount of the Bonds outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary 

Resolution passed at a meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing 

may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on 

behalf of one or more Bondholders.

(b) Modification and Waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Bondholders or 

Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the 

Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement that is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or 

technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as 

mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of 

any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, these Conditions or the Agency Agreement or determine, 

without any such consent as aforesaid, that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as 

defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as such, provided that it is in the opinion of the 

Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. Any such modification, 

authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and the Couponholders and, if the 

Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the Bondholders as soon as practicable.

(c) Substitution: The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such 

amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require, but without the 

consent of the Bondholders or the Couponholders, to the substitution of certain other entities in 

place of the Issuer or Guarantor, or of any previous substituted company, as principal debtor or 

guarantor under the Trust Deed and the Bonds if requested in writing to do so by the Issuer (or any 

previous substituted Company). In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may agree, without the 

consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders, to a change of the law governing the Bonds, the 

Coupons and/or the Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be 

materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders.

(d) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not 

limited to those referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the 

Bondholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual 

Bondholders or Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any 

Bondholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Guarantor any 
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indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual 

Bondholders or Couponholders.

12 Enforcement

At any time after the Bonds become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without further 

notice, institute such proceedings or take such steps or actions against the Issuer and/or the Guarantor as it 

may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons, but it need not take any 

such steps, actions and proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution 

or so requested in writing by Bondholders holding at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Bonds 

outstanding, and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. No 

Bondholder or Couponholder may proceed directly against the Issuer or the Guarantor unless the Trustee, 

having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

13 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from 

responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor and 

any entity related to the Issuer or the Guarantor without accounting for any profit.

The Trustee may act and rely without liability on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any 

accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it and 

whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto 

entered into by the Trustee or any other person or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, 

methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to act and rely on any such report, 

confirmation or certificate or advice and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be binding 

on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bondholders and the Couponholders.

14 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders create and 

issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all 

respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated 

and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Bonds) or upon such 

terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Bonds 

include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition and 

forming a single series with the Bonds. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding 

securities of any series (including the Bonds) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it 

shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental 

to the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Bondholders 

and the holders of securities of other series where the Trustee so decides.

15 Notices

Notices to Bondholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in 

London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if in the opinion of the Trustee such publication 

shall not be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in the United Kingdom. 

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more 

than once, on the first date on which publication is made. Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to 

have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Bondholders in accordance with this Condition.
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16 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts (Rights of 

Third Parties) Act 1999, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any Person which exists or is 

available apart from that Act.

17 Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection with them are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

18 Definitions

For the purposes of these Conditions:

“Acquired Debt” means Debt of any other Person existing at the time such other Person is merged with or 

into or became a Subsidiary of the Guarantor, whether or not such Debt is Incurred in connection with, or in 

contemplation of, such other Person merging with or into, or becoming a Subsidiary of, the Guarantor;

“Additional Guarantor” means a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor which has provided a 

guarantee in respect of the Bonds on terms mutatis mutandis as the Bonds Guarantee, such guarantee (an 

“Additional Guarantor Guarantee”) to be in a supplement to the Trust Deed executed and delivered by 

the Additional Guarantor to the Trustee and to be in a form satisfactory to the Trustee and to be delivered 

with an opinion(s) of independent legal advisers of recognised standing as to all relevant laws in a form 

satisfactory to the Trustee;

“Average Life” means, as of the date of determination, with respect to any Debt, the quotient obtained by 

dividing (x) the sum of the products of (a) the numbers of years from the date of determination to the date 

of each successive scheduled principal payment of such Debt or scheduled redemption, multiplied by (b) 

the amount of such payment, by (y) the sum of all such payments;

“Bond Refinancing Debt” means Debt Incurred by the Issuer, the Guarantor or a Financing Subsidiary 

where the Guarantor gives notice to the Trustee not later than 15 days after the Incurrence of such Debt that 

such Debt is intended to be utilised to refinance (as defined in the definition of Refinancing Debt) any 

Eurobond outstanding on the date of that Incurrence, provided that:

(i) the notice to the Trustee shall specify the Eurobond which is intended to be so refinanced (the 

“Designated Debt”);

(ii) the Bond Refinancing Debt has a Stated Maturity no earlier than the Stated Maturity of the 

Designated Debt;

(iii) the Bond Refinancing Debt is Incurred in an aggregate principal amount (or if issued with original 

issue discount, an aggregate issue price) that is equal to or less than the sum of:

(A) the aggregate principal amount (or, if issued with original issue discount, the aggregate 

accreted value) of the Designated Debt; plus

(B) unpaid interest, prepayment penalties, redemption or repurchase premiums, defeasance costs, 

fees, expenses and other amounts owing with respect thereto, plus reasonable financing fees 

and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith; 

(for the avoidance of doubt, the Bond Refinancing Debt may be part of a larger Incurrence of Debt 

provided that there is compliance with the provisions of Condition 3(b)(A)(Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio));
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“Business Day” means, in relation to any place, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange 

markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and 

foreign currency deposits) in that place;

“Capital Stock” of any Person means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents of or 

interests (including partnership interests) in (however designated) equity of such Person, including any 

Preferred Stock, and all rights to purchase, warrants, options or other equivalents with respect to any of the 

foregoing, but excluding any debt securities convertible into or exchangeable for such equity;

“Change of Control” means:

(i) any Person or any Persons acting in concert (as defined in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers), 

other than a holding company (as defined in Section 736 of the Companies Act 1985 as amended) 

whose shareholders are or are to be substantially similar to the pre-existing shareholders of the 

Guarantor or any holding company of the Guarantor, shall become interested (within the meaning of 

Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006 as amended) in (a) more than 50 per cent. of the issued or 

allotted ordinary share capital of the Guarantor or (b) shares in the capital of the Guarantor carrying 

more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the 

Guarantor); or

(ii) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of 

merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the 

properties or assets of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any Person;

“Change of Control Period” means the period:

(i) commencing on the date that is one Business Day in London before the date of the relevant Change 

of Control; and

(ii) ending 90 days after the date of the Change of Control or such longer period for which the Bonds 

are under consideration by a Rating Agency for rating or rating review (such consideration having 

been announced publicly within the period ending 90 days after the date of the Change of Control 

and such period not to exceed 60 days after the public announcement of such consideration);

“Consolidated EBITDA” means the consolidated profit before taxation of the relevant Person for a period, 

adjusted by:

(i) adding back Consolidated Interest Expense and depreciation and amortisation for such period;

(ii) excluding any exceptional items, and any amount attributable to minority interests for such period; 

and

(iii) adding back any non-cash charges by virtue of IAS 19 (Employee benefits);

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to a Person for any period, the sum, without 

duplication, of:

(i) the consolidated finance cost of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period, whether paid or 

accrued, including, without limitation, amortisation of original issue discount, non-cash interest 

payments, the interest component of any deferred payment obligations, the interest component of all 

payments associated with Finance Leases, commissions, discounts and other fees and charges in 

respect of letters of credit or bankers’ acceptance financings, and net of the effect of all payments 

made or received pursuant to Hedging Obligations in accordance with GAAP but excluding any gain 

or loss that would be reflected in consolidated interest expense as a result of purchases of Debt by 

way of tender or open market purchases; plus
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(ii) the consolidated finance cost of such Person and its Subsidiaries that was capitalised during such 

period; plus

(iii) any finance cost (in respect of the Relevant Secured Debt Amount in the case of (B)) on Debt of 

another Person that is (A) Guaranteed by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or (B) secured by 

Security on assets of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries,

in each case whether or not such Guarantee or Security is called upon, plus:

(iv) any dividend payments, whether in cash or otherwise, on any Preferred Stock of such Person or any 

of its Subsidiaries other than:

(A) dividend payments paid solely in Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock or options, 

warrants or rights to acquire Disqualified Stock); or

(B) to such Person or any of its Subsidiaries; but deducting

(v) any finance cost attributable to minority interests for such period;

“Credit Facilities” means one or more debt facilities or other financing arrangements (including, without 

limitation, commercial paper facilities or indentures) (in each case, whether drawn or otherwise) providing 

for revolving credit loans, term loans, notes or letters of credit together with any related documents thereto 

(including, without limitation, any guarantee agreements and security documents), in each case as such 

agreement may be amended (including any amendment and restatement thereof), supplemented or 

otherwise modified from time to time, including any agreements extending the maturity of, refinancing, 

replacing (whether or not contemporaneously) or otherwise restructuring (including increasing the amount 

of available borrowings thereunder (provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, such increase in borrowings 

is permitted by the covenant described under Condition 3(b)(A)(Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio) or adding 

Additional Guarantors or any Financing Subsidiary as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder) all or 

any portion of the Debt under such agreement or any successor or replacement agreements and whether by 

the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders or investors and whether such refinancing or 

replacement is under one or more debt facilities or commercial paper facilities, indentures or other 

agreements or deeds, in each case with banks or other institutional lenders or trustees or investors providing 

for revolving credit loans, term loans, notes or letters of credit;

“Currency Exchange Protection Agreement” means, in respect of any Person, any foreign exchange 

contract, currency swap agreement, currency option or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to 

protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

“Debt” means, with respect to any Person on any date of determination (without duplication):

(i) the principal of and premium (if any such premium is then due and owing) in respect of:

(A) Debt of such Person for money borrowed; and

(B) Debt evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other similar instruments for the 

payment of which such Person is responsible or liable;

(ii) all Finance Leases of such Person;

(iii) all the principal of all moneys owing in connection with the sale or discounting of receivables 

(otherwise than on a non-recourse basis);

(iv) the principal of any Debt arising from any deferred payment agreements arranged primarily as a 

method of raising finance or financing the acquisition of an asset and where the deferred and unpaid 

purchase price of such asset is due more than six months after acquisition thereof;
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(v) all obligations of such Person in respect of bid, performance, advanced payment, completion, surety 

or appeal bonds or Guarantees or counter-indemnities of any of the foregoing, VAT Guarantees or 

similar instruments and all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any 

letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction (including Guarantees or 

indemnities related thereto);

(vi) the amount of all obligations of such Person with respect to the redemption, repayment or other 

repurchase of any Disqualified Stock of such Person (but excluding, in each case, any accrued 

dividends);

(vii) all obligations of the type referred to in subparagraphs (i) through (vi) of other Persons and all 

dividends of other Persons for, the payment of which, in either case, such Person is responsible or 

liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including by means of any 

Guarantee;

(viii) all obligations of the type referred to in subparagraphs (i) through (vi) of other Persons secured by 

any Security on any property or asset of such Person (whether or not such obligation is assumed by 

such Person), the amount of such obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the value of such 

property or assets or the amount of the obligation so secured (the “Relevant Secured Debt 

Amount”); and

(ix) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, Hedging Obligations of such Person;

“Designated Debt” has the meaning given in the definition of Bond Refinancing Debt;

“Disqualified Stock”, with respect to any Person, means any Capital Stock which by its terms (or by the 

terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable at the option of the holder) 

or upon the happening of any event:

(i) matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise prior to the 

stated maturity of the Bonds;

(ii) is convertible or exchangeable at the option of the holder for Debt or Disqualified Stock; or

(iii) is mandatorily redeemable or must be purchased, upon the occurrence of certain events or otherwise, 

in whole or in part, in each case on or prior to the first anniversary of the stated maturity of the 

Bonds,

and any Preferred Stock of a Subsidiary of the Guarantor, provided, however, that any Capital Stock that 

would not constitute Disqualified Stock but for provisions thereof giving holders thereof the right to require 

the Guarantor or a Subsidiary of it to purchase or redeem such Capital Stock upon the occurrence of an 

“asset sale” or “change of control” occurring prior to the stated maturity of the Bonds shall not constitute 

Disqualified Stock if:

(i) the “change of control” provisions applicable to such Capital Stock are not more favourable to the 

holders of such Capital Stock than the terms applicable to the Bonds and described under Condition 

5(d); and

(ii) any such requirement only becomes operative after compliance with such terms applicable to the 

Bonds, including the redemption or purchase of any Bonds tendered pursuant thereto.

If Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of directors, officers or employees of the Guarantor or 

any of its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such directors, officers or employees, such Capital Stock shall 

not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Guarantor or 

any Subsidiary of it in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations;
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“EBITDA” means the profit before taxation of the relevant Person for a period, adjusted by:

(i) adding back Interest Expense and depreciation and amortisation for such period;

(ii) excluding any exceptional items, and any amount attributable to minority interests for such period; 

and

(iii) adding back any non-cash charges by virtue of IAS 19 (Employee benefits);

“Eurobond” means any Debt Incurred by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Financing Subsidiary and 

evidenced by bonds (including the Bonds), notes, debentures, loan stock or other similar transferable 

securities;

“FATCA” means sections 1471 to 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code or any regulations or official 

interpretations issued, agreements (including, without limitation, intergovernmental agreements) entered 

into or non-U.S. laws enacted with respect thereto;

“Finance Lease” means an obligation that is required to be classified and accounted for as a capital or 

finance lease for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP and the amount of Debt 

represented by such obligation shall be the capitalised amount of such obligation determined in accordance 

with GAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other 

amount due under such lease;

“Financing Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor established for the purpose of 

and engaged exclusively in the business of Incurring Debt and ancillary activities (including, for the 

avoidance of doubt, the issuing of debt securities convertible into equity of the Guarantor) Guaranteed by 

the Guarantor and loaning the proceeds thereof to the Guarantor or another Subsidiary of the Guarantor and 

whose only material liabilities are the Debt so Incurred by it from time to time and any hedging or other 

liabilities ancillary to that Debt and whose only material assets are such loans made by it from time to time;

“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” as of any date of determination (the “Transaction Date”) means the ratio 

of (x) the aggregate amount of Consolidated EBITDA of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for the most 

recent Measurement Period to (y) Consolidated Interest Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for 

such Measurement Period; provided that:

(i) if the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it has Incurred any Debt (other than revolving credit 

borrowings) since the beginning of such period that remains outstanding on such Transaction Date

or if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is an 

Incurrence of Debt, or both, Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense of the 

Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma

basis to (i) such Debt as if such Debt had been Incurred on the first day of such period and (ii) the 

discharge of any other Debt repaid, repurchased, defeased or otherwise discharged with the proceeds 

of such new Debt as if such discharge had occurred on the first day of such period;

(ii) if the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it has repaid, repurchased, defeased or otherwise discharged 

any Debt since the beginning of such period or if any Debt is to be repaid, repurchased, defeased or 

otherwise discharged (in each case other than Debt Incurred under any revolving credit facility 

unless such Debt has been permanently repaid and has not been replaced) on the Transaction Date, 

Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for 

such period shall be calculated on a pro forma basis as if such discharge had occurred on the first 

day of such period and as if the Guarantor or such Subsidiary had not earned the interest income 

actually earned during such period in respect of cash or cash equivalents used to repay, repurchase, 

defease or otherwise discharge such Debt;

(iii) if, since the beginning of such period, the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it shall have made any 

asset disposition, the Consolidated EBITDA of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period 
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shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if positive) of the Guarantor and 

its Subsidiaries directly attributable to the assets which are the subject of such asset disposition for 

such period or increased by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if negative) of the 

Guarantor and its Subsidiaries directly attributable thereto for such period and Consolidated Interest 

Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period shall be reduced by an amount equal 

to the Consolidated Interest Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries directly attributable to any 

Debt of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary repaid, repurchased, defeased or otherwise discharged with 

respect to the Guarantor and its continuing Subsidiaries in connection with such asset disposition for 

such period (or, if the Capital Stock of any Subsidiary of it is sold, the Consolidated Interest 

Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period directly attributable to the Debt of 

such Subsidiary to the extent the Guarantor and its continuing Subsidiaries are no longer liable for 

such Debt after such sale);

(iv) if since the beginning of such period the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it shall have made an 

investment in any Subsidiary of it (or any Person who becomes a Subsidiary of the Guarantor) or an 

acquisition of assets, including cash equivalents and any acquisition of assets occurring in 

connection with a transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, 

Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for 

such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto (including the Incurrence of any 

Debt in accordance with subparagraph (i) above and the increase to the Consolidated EBITDA (if 

positive) of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries directly attributable to such investment or acquisition 

or a reduction of the Consolidated EBITDA (if negative) of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries 

directly attributable to such investment or acquisition) as if such investment or acquisition occurred 

on the first day of such period; and

(v) if since the beginning of such period any person that subsequently became a Subsidiary of the 

Guarantor or was merged with or into the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of it since the beginning of 

such period shall have made any asset disposition, investment or acquisition of assets that would 

require an adjustment pursuant to subparagraph (iii) or (iv) above if made by the Guarantor or a 

Subsidiary of it during such period, Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense of the 

Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect 

thereto (including the Incurrence of any Debt in accordance with subparagraph (i) above) as if such 

investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to an investment or an acquisition 

or disposition of assets, the amount of income or earnings relating thereto and the amount of Consolidated 

Interest Expense associated with any Debt Incurred or repaid, repurchased, defeased or otherwise 

discharged in connection therewith, the pro forma calculations shall be determined in good faith by a 

responsible financial or accounting officer of the Guarantor. If any Debt bears a floating rate of interest and 

is being given pro forma effect, the interest expense on such Debt shall be calculated as if the rate in effect 

on the date of determination had been the applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any 

Hedging Obligation applicable to such Debt if such Hedging Obligation has a remaining term as at the 

Transaction Date in excess of 12 months);

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the U.K. including IFRS;

“Group” means the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries;

“Guarantee” means any obligation of any Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Debt or other 

obligation of any other Person and any obligation, direct or indirect, of such Person:

(i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other 

obligation of such other Person (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, or by 
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agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay or to 

maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise); or

(ii) entered into for purposes of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Debtor other obligation 

of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part).

The term “Guarantee” used as a verb has a corresponding meaning;

“Hedging Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to any Interest Rate 

Protection Agreement or Currency Exchange Protection Agreement or other similar agreement or 

arrangement involving interest rates, currencies, commodities or otherwise;

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards issued and/or adopted by the International 

Accounting Standards Board from time to time to the extent applicable to the relevant financial statements;

“Incur” means, with respect to any Debt or other obligation, to incur (including by conversion, exchange 

or otherwise), create, issue, assume, Guarantee or otherwise become liable for or with respect to, or become 

responsible for, the payment of, contingently or otherwise, such Debt, including, for the avoidance of 

doubt, by acquisition of Subsidiaries or by the acquisition of any asset securing any Debt (and 

“Incurrence”, “Incurred” and “Incurring” shall have meanings correlative to the foregoing);

“Interest Expense” means, with respect to a Person for any period, the sum without duplication, of:

(i) the finance cost of such Person for such period, whether paid or accrued, including, without 

limitation, amortisation of original issue discount, non-cash interest payments, the interest 

component of any deferred payment obligations, the interest component of all payments associated 

with Finance Leases, commissions, discounts and other fees and charges in respect of letters of 

credit or bankers’ acceptance financings, and net of the effect of all payments made or received 

pursuant to Hedging Obligations in accordance with GAAP but excluding any gain or loss that 

would be reflected in interest expense as a result of purchases of Debt by way of tender or open 

market purchases; plus

(ii) the finance cost of such Person that was capitalised during such period; plus

(iii) any finance cost (in respect of the Relevant Secured Debt Amount in the case of (B)) on Debt of 

another Person that is (A) Guaranteed by such Person or (B) secured by Security on assets of such 

Person,

in each case whether or not such Guarantee or Security is called upon, plus:

(iv) any dividend payments, whether in cash or otherwise, on any Preferred Stock of such Person other 

than:

(A) dividend payments paid solely in Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock or options, 

warrants or rights to acquire Disqualified Stock); or

(B) to such Person or any of its Subsidiaries; but deducting

(v) any finance cost attributable to minority interests for such period;

“Interest Rate Protection Agreement” means, in respect of any Person, any interest rate swap agreement, 

interest rate option agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, interest rate floor 

agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect such Person against fluctuations 

in interest rates;

“Investment Grade” means, with respect to a rating given by a Rating Agency, an investment grade credit 

rating (Baa3 or BBB-, as the case may be, or equivalent, or better) from such Rating Agency;
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“Listing Rules” means the Listing Rules of the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority, as amended from time 

to time;

“Material Subsidiary” means:

(i) a Subsidiary of the Guarantor:

(A) whose EBITDA (Consolidated EBITDA in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has 

Subsidiaries) represents 10 per cent. or more of the Consolidated EBITDA of the Guarantor 

and its Subsidiaries calculated by reference to the latest audited (consolidated or 

unconsolidated, as the case may be) accounts of such Subsidiary and the latest audited 

consolidated accounts of the Guarantor, provided that in the case of any Subsidiary which 

itself has Subsidiaries, no consolidated accounts are prepared and audited, its Consolidated 

EBITDA shall be determined on the basis of pro forma consolidated accounts of the relevant 

Subsidiary and its Subsidiaries; or

(B) to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole of the undertaking and assets of a 

Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer is a Material Subsidiary, provided that 

the transferor Subsidiary shall upon such transfer forthwith cease to be a Material Subsidiary 

and the transferee Subsidiary shall cease to be a Material Subsidiary pursuant to this 

subparagraph (ii) on the date on which the consolidated accounts of the Guarantor for the 

financial period current at the date of such transfer have been prepared and audited as 

aforesaid but so that such transferor Subsidiary or such transferee Subsidiary may be a 

Material Subsidiary on or at anytime after the date on which such consolidated accounts have 

been prepared and audited as aforesaid by virtue of the provisions of subparagraph (i) above 

or, prior to or after such date, by virtue of any other applicable provision of this definition; 

and

(ii) each Financing Subsidiary and each Additional Guarantor.

A certificate signed by two directors of the Guarantor that in their opinion a Subsidiary is or is not or was or 

was not at any particular time or during any particular period a Material Subsidiary shall, in the absence of 

manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties;

“Measurement Period” means the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which consolidated 

financial statements or management accounts of the Guarantor are available;

“Outstanding Bond Refinancing Debt” means, at any time:

(i) an amount equal to the sum of the aggregate principal amount of each outstanding Bond 

Refinancing Debt; less

(ii) an amount equal to the sum of the aggregate principal amount of each Designated Debt specified in 

the relevant notice to the Trustee relating to the relevant outstanding Bond Refinancing Debt which 

has been refinanced (as defined in the definition of Refinancing Debt) since the date of that notice;

“Overdraft Amount” has the meaning given to it in Condition 3(b)(A)(xii);

“Permitted Security” means:

(i) any Security existing at the Issue Date;

(ii) any Security on assets acquired by a member of the Group after the Issue Date provided that (a) any 

such Security is in existence prior to, and has not been created at the instigation of the Issuer and/or 

the Guarantor, as the case may be, in contemplation of, such acquisition and (b) the amount secured 

by such Security does not exceed, at any time, the amount secured thereby as at the date of 

acquisition (the “Maximum Amount”);
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(iii) any Security on assets of a company which becomes a member of the Group after the Issue Date 

provided that (a) any such Security is in existence prior to, and has not been created at the 

instigation of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, in contemplation of, such 

company becoming a member of the Group and (b) the amount secured by such Security does not 

exceed, at anytime, the amount secured thereby as at the date such company becomes a member of 

the Group (the “Maximum Amount”);

(iv) any Security created after the Issue Date as additional security for the amount secured by any 

Security falling within (i), (ii) or (iii) above the agreement for which contains an obligation to create 

such additional security;

(v) any Security created for the purpose of securing a counter-indemnity or any other obligations 

provided by any member of the Group in connection with the issuance of any performance bonds, 

advance payment bonds or documentary letters of credit arising in the ordinary course of its 

business;

(vi) any Security created as security for any Debt Incurred solely for the purpose of any extension of 

maturity, renewal or refinancing of any indebtedness secured by Security permitted by (i) to (v) 

above; and

(vii) any Security permitted under (ii) and (iii) above to the extent that the Debt secured thereby exceeds 

the relevant Maximum Amount and any other Security created over any asset of any member of the 

Group (other than any Security permitted under (i) to (vi) above) provided that the maximum 

aggregate principal amount of the Debt secured by such Security (being, in the case of those 

permitted under (ii) and (iii) above, the excess over the relevant Maximum Amount) does not, on the 

date of creation of the latest such Security or, as the case may be, the assumption of any such 

additional Debt, exceed £75,000,000 (or the foreign currency equivalent thereof);

“Person” means, any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, 

association, joint-stock company trust, unincorporated organisation, government or any agency or political 

subdivision thereof or any other entity;

“Preferred Stock”, as applied to the Capital Stock of any corporation, means Capital Stock of any series 

(however designated) which is preferred as to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution of assets 

upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such corporation, over shares of Capital 

Stock of any other series of such corporation;

“Put Event” is as defined in Condition 5(d);

“Rating Agency” means (i) Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., (ii) Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a 

division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., or (iii) Fitch Ratings Ltd. or their respective successors or 

any internationally recognised securities rating agency or agencies substituted for any of them by the Issuer 

from time to time with the prior written approval of the Trustee (which approval may be given by the 

Trustee if to do so would not, in the opinion of the Trustee, be materially prejudicial to the interests of the 

Bondholders) (and the Trustee may (and shall if so required by the Issuer, subject to its being indemnified 

and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction) consult promptly and may rely absolutely on advice 

from a reputable financial adviser in this regard and shall not be liable to the Bondholders, Couponholders 

or any other person for such reliance) and, in each case, their successors but excluding any rating agency 

providing a rating of the Bonds on an unsolicited basis;

“Refinancing Debt” means Debt that refunds, refinances, replaces, renews, repays or extends (including 

pursuant to any defeasance or discharge mechanism) (collectively, “refinances” and “refinance” and 

“refinanced” shall each have a correlative meaning) already existing Debt; provided that, except in the case 

of Debt that refinances all of the outstanding Bonds (including upon redemption or purchase pursuant to 

Condition 5(d)):
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(i) the Refinancing Debt has a Stated Maturity no earlier than any Stated Maturity of the Debt being 

refinanced;

(ii) the Refinancing Debt has an Average Life at the time such Refinancing Debt is Incurred that is equal 

to or greater than the Average Life of the Debt being refinanced; and

(iii) such Refinancing Debt is Incurred in an aggregate principal amount (or if issued with original issue 

discount, an aggregate issue price) that is equal to or less than the sum of:

(A) the aggregate principal amount (or, if issued with original issue discount, the aggregate 

accreted value) of the Debt being refinanced (including, with respect to both the Refinancing 

Debt and the Debt being refinanced, amounts then outstanding and amounts available 

thereunder); plus

(B) unpaid interest, prepayment penalties, redemption or repurchase premiums, defeasance costs, 

fees, expenses and other amounts owing with respect thereto, plus reasonable financing fees 

and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith;

“Relevant Date” means the date on which the payment first becomes due but, if the full amount of the 

money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee on or before the due 

date, it means the date on which, the full amount of the money having been so received, notice to that effect 

has been duly given to the Bondholders by the Issuer;

“Relevant Secured Debt Amount” has the meaning given to that term in the definition of “Debt”;

“Security” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance other than an encumbrance 

arising solely by operation of law; and, for the avoidance of doubt, any contractual rights of set-off of 

accounts or combination of accounts shall not be or be deemed to be Security;

“Stated Maturity” means, with respect to any security, the date specified in such security as the fixed date 

on which the payment of principal of such security is due and payable, including pursuant to any mandatory 

redemption provision (but excluding any provision providing for the redemption or repurchase of such 

security upon the happening of any contingency);

“Subsidiary” means a subsidiary as defined in Section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 as amended;

“Trade Payables” means, with respect to any Person, any accounts payable or any indebtedness or 

monetary obligation to trade creditors created, assumed or Guaranteed by such Person arising in the 

ordinary course of business in connection with the acquisition of goods or services; and

“VAT Guarantee” means a Guarantee in respect of value-added tax.
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SECTION 17 – SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL 

FORM

The Global Bond contains provisions which apply to the Bonds while they are held in global form by the 

clearing systems, some of which include minor and/or technical modifications to the terms and conditions 

of the Bonds set out in this Prospectus. The following is a summary of certain parts of those provisions.

1 Exchange of Global Bonds for Definitive Bonds in limited circumstances

The Global Bond is exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for the Definitive 

Bonds described below if the Global Bond is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg 

(each a “Clearing System”) and such Clearing System is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 

days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to 

cease business or does in fact do so or any of the circumstances in Condition 8 (Events of Default) occurs. 

Thereupon, the holder of the Global Bond may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of its intention to 

exchange the Global Bond for Definitive Bonds on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) specified 

in the notice.

On or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) the holder of the Global Bond may surrender the Global 

Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. In exchange for the Global Bond, the Issuer shall 

deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated 

Definitive Bonds (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been 

paid on the Global Bond), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange 

requirements and in or substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 to the Trust Deed. On exchange of the 

Global Bond, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder 

together with any relevant Definitive Bonds.

“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 60 days after that on which the notice requiring 

exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the 

Principal Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is located.

2 Payments of principal and interest

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bonds represented by the Global Bond will be made against 

presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds, surrender 

of the Global Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall 

have been notified to the Bondholders for such purpose. A record of each payment so made will be 

endorsed in the appropriate schedule to the Global Bond, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence 

that such payment has been made in respect of the Bonds. Condition 6(e)(iv) and Conditions 7(d) and 7(e) 

will apply to the Definitive Bonds only. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of the Global 

Bond, Condition 6(d) shall not apply, and all such payments shall be made on a day on which commercial 

banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London.

3 Notices to Bondholders

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond and the Global Bond is held on behalf of a 

Clearing System, notices to Bondholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice by electronic 

message to that Clearing System for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for 

publication as required by Condition 15. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to 

Bondholders on the second day after the day on which such notice is delivered to the relevant Clearing 

System.
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4 Prescription periods for claims against the Issuer and/or Guarantor

Claims in respect of principal and interest on the Bonds while the Bonds are represented by the Global 

Bond will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of 

principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in 

Condition 18).

5 Meetings of Bondholders

The holder of the Global Bond shall be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any quorum 

requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each 

£100 in nominal amount of Bonds at any meeting of the Bondholders.

6 Purchase and cancellation of the Bonds

Cancellation of any Bond at the option of the Issuer following its purchase will be effected by reduction in 

the nominal amount of the Global Bond by endorsement on the relevant part of the Schedule thereto.

7 Trustee’s powers

In considering the interests of Bondholders while the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing system, 

the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to 

the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the Global Bond 

and may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holder of the Global Bond.

8 Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

References in the Global Bond and this summary to a Clearing System shall be deemed to include 

references to any other clearing system approved by the Trustee.
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SECTION 18 – GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following definitions apply throughout this Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise:

“beneficial owner” is a legal term indicating that specific property rights belong to a 

person even though legal title of the property belongs to another 

person. A common example is where a beneficial owner is the real 

owner of funds or securities held by a nominee fund manager or by 

their stock broker;

“Board” or “Directors” means the board of directors of the Guarantor or any duly authorised 

committee thereof;

“CDIs” means CREST Depository Interest; 

“Clearstream, 

Luxembourg”

means Clearstream Banking, société anonyme;

“CREST” means Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CREST 

Co Limited);

“Disclosure and 

Transparency Rules”

means the disclosure rules and the transparency rules made by the 

FCA;

“Euroclear” means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;

“EU” means the European Union;

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the United States Internal 

Revenue Code or any regulations or official interpretations issued, 

agreements (including, without limitation, intergovernmental 

agreements) entered into or non-U.S. laws enacted with respect 

thereto; 

“FCA” means the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority;

“FSMA” means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

“IFRS” international financial reporting standards, as adopted by the EU;

“Issue Date” means 16 June 2014; 

“Listing Rules” means the listing rules made by the FCA under Part VI of FSMA, as 

amended from time to time;

“Offer Period” means the period from 27 May 2014 to 12 noon (London time) 10

June 2014;

“Prospectus Directive” means the Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended;

“Prospectus Rules” means the rules and regulations made by the FCA under Part VI of the 

FSMA, as amended from time to time;

“RNS” means the Regulatory News Service of London Stock Exchange plc;

“Savings Directive” means the EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of 

savings income (as amended from time to time);

“Sizing Announcement” means the announcement that is to be published by the Issuer via RNS

at the end of the Offer Period, and which will confirm the final issue 

size;

“UK” or “United means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;
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Kingdom”

“United Kingdom

Corporate Governance 

Code”

means the UK Code of Corporate Governance published by the 

Financial Reporting Council; and

“U.S.” or “United States” means the United States of America.

All references in this document to “sterling” and “£” refer to the currency of the United Kingdom, and all 

references to “US$” and “U.S. Dollars” refer to the currency of the United States of America. References 

to the singular in this document shall include the plural and vice versa, where the context requires. 
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